
MAYOR 
Joe Purcell 

POLICE CHIEF 
Paul M. George Jr. 

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 
Michael Hurff Jr.  

FINANCE OFFICER/CITY CLERK 
Andrew Lehr 

 
The City of 

Montana 
 

       City of Hardin     406 N Cheyenne Hardin MT 59034     Phone (406) 665-9260  Fax (406) 665-2719 
 
 
 

The City of Hardin is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. 
 
 
 

Council Meeting 
of Tuesday, January 21, 2025 

 
 

Held by virtual meeting and the Public is invited to attend in person. 
 

Topic:  City of Hardin Council Meeting –  6:30 p.m. 
 

Start Time:  6:30 p.m. Mountain Time 
       

The meeting will open at 6:15 p.m. 
 

If you will be logging into the Council meeting by: 
 

    Computer: Please identify yourself by submitting your first and last name by using the “Chat” function. 
 

 Phone:  Please identify yourself by stating your First and Last Name. 
 

City of Hardin is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9897104479 

 

Meeting ID: 989 710 4479 
One tap mobile 

+17193594580,,9897104479# US 
+12532050468,,9897104479# US 

 

Dial by your location 
+1 719 359 4580 US 
+1 253 205 0468 US 

+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 

+1 669 444 9171 US 
+1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose) 

+1 309 205 3325 US 
+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 

+1 360 209 5623 US 
+1 386 347 5053 US 
+1 507 473 4847 US 
+1 564 217 2000 US 

+1 646 558 8656 US (New York) 
+1 646 931 3860 US 
+1 689 278 1000 US 

+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
+1 305 224 1968 US 

Meeting ID: 989 710 4479 
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdYSyhPxWF 

Meetings are Audio Recorded ONLY   
Montana Legislature House Bill 890 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9897104479
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdYSyhPxWF


                                  The City of Hardin 
AGENDA 406 N. Cheyenne Avenue 
 Hardin, MT  59034 

January 21, 2025 
 

 
Page 1 of 1 

AUDIO RECORDING BEGINS 
 

 
 

MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 6:30 P.M.   
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 

ROLL CALL: Mayor: __________  
Alderpersons: Steven Hopes      __________         Clayton Greer __________         Chris Sharpe            __________ 
   Rock Massine      __________         Jeremy Krebs  __________         Antonio Espinoza   __________ 
 
CONSENT AGENDA:  
Council Meeting        1/07/2025                                Special Council Meeting        12/30/2024  
Claims                                    
 

PUBLIC COMMENT:    
  
 

MAYOR:       
 
 

COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
• Personnel Committee/City Policy: Mayor 
• Sewer & Water:  Massine                               
• Law Enforcement: Hopes         
• Streets & Alleys:  Espinoza             
• Parks & Playgrounds: Krebs            
• Finance/Landfill: Greer                 
• Resolutions and Ordinances:  Sharpe 
            

 

SPECIAL COMMITTEES: 
 
 

PETITIONS & COMMUNICATIONS:    
o Hardin Rest Area Restoration Project Update 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  
 
 

NEW BUSINESS: 
o Stahly Engineering  

 Technical Assistance 
 

 Presentation - Wastewater Treatment Plant Project, Paser Study 
 

o Jackson Group Peterbilt – Peterbilt Repair Quote $9,448.06 
 

o Little Horn State Bank – Three CD’s Renewing 
 
o Becker Hotel Request for Proposals 

 
 

STAFF REPORTS  
• Public Works:   

 

• Finance:         
 

• Police:  
 

• Legal:      
 

• Economic Development:  
 

RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS: . 
Business Licenses and Pet Licenses are due by February 1, 2025 
 
 

City of Hardin Job Openings:  Full-time positions: Police Officer, Police Service Aide (PSA) and Terminal Agency 
Coordinator (TAC) /Administrative Assistant I-IV. Part-time positions: Building Inspector/Code Enforcement 
Apprentice and . Janitor/Facilities Maintenance. Positions are open until filled.   
 
 

 

  Meeting adjourned at ____________P.M. 
AUDIO RECORDING ENDS 

 
 

Additions to the Agenda can be voted on by Council to add to the Agenda for the next Council meeting. 
Agenda items will need to be submitted by Wednesday noon before a Tuesday Council meeting. 



January 7, 2025 - Minutes 

 1 of 3 
 

THE COMMON COUNCIL 
CITY of HARDIN, MONTANA  
 
 
COUNCIL MEETING: The Regular Council Meeting for January 7, 2025 was called to order 
at 6:30 p.m. with Mayor Joe Purcell presiding by reciting the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
The following Aldermen were present:  Clayton Greer, Chris Sharpe, Rock Massine, Antonio 
Espinoza, and Jeremy Krebs.  Steven Hopes was excused. 
 
Also present:  Finance Officer/City Clerk Andrew Lehr, Public Works Director Michael Hurff, Jr., 
Deputy City Clerk Angela Zimmer, City Attorney Jordan Knudsen, and Economic Development 
Director Tina Toyne. 
 
Also present physically: Members of the Public 
There was not anyone present by Virtual Meeting. 
 
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS & CLAIMS:  Sharpe made the motion to approve 
the Council minutes as written for December 17, 2024.  Motion seconded by Greer.  On a voice 
vote the motion was unanimously approved. 
 
Greer made a motion to approve the claims for January 7, 2025.   

     
                                                         CLAIM No.                                          Monthly Total 
   
       December, 2024          31814-31821, 31823-31839,  
                                                        31863-31891                                      $           77,999.14 
 

       January, 2025                         31840-31862                                        $          10,789.19 
             

       TOTAL Submitted                                                                            $          88,788.33 
      

Sharpe seconded. On a voice vote, the motion was unanimously approved.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Jose Funke, resident, listed reasons why he would like more patrols through his residential 

area and voiced his recommendations for snow removal.  Mayor Purcell asked if he has reported 
this to the police department.  Funke reported he will be sending more information to the Chief. 

 
MAYOR:    
 Mayor Purcell voiced “Happy New Year” and noted the City has a list of projects and grants 
coming up ahead.  
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
Personnel Policy/City Policy:   

Mayor Purcell reported the City will be holding interviews this week and the next week for 
open positions.  The City currently has open positions for a full-time Police Officer, Terminal 
Agency Coordination/Administrative Assistant (TAC) and the Police Service Aide. Part-time 
positions are open for Building Inspector/Code Enforcement Apprentice and Janitor/Facilities 
Maintenance.  All positions are open until filled. 

 
Sewer & Water:  
 Massine reported the bid opening for the Waste Water Treatment Plant Upgrade is scheduled  
for January 9, 2025. (It was noted later in the meeting the bid opening has been rescheduled for 
January 16, 2025.) 

 
Law Enforcement: 
 
Streets & Alleys: 
 Espinoza voiced the City is doing a good job plowing roads. 

 
Parks & Playgrounds:  
 
 
 



January 7, 2025 - Minutes 

 2 of 3 
 

Finance/Landfill:  
Greer reported the City is waiting for information from Barry Damschen about the 

Landfill Canister Site. 
 

Resolutions & Ordinances:   
 
SPECIAL COMMITTEES: 
 

PETITIONS & COMMUNICATIONS: 
 The City received the Winter Newsletter from the Montana Department of 
Transportation. 

 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  N/A 

 
NEW BUSINESS:  

Mayor Purcell reported The Hardin Chamber of Commerce submitted a letter 
requesting rent forgiveness and also asked to have the option to pay rent on a monthly 
basis, instead of by an annual lump sum.  He noted there is no problem with changing 
the rent to be paid monthly; the rent forgiveness is being brought before Council.  Mayor 
Purcell reported the request for rent forgiveness is for the years 2022, 2023, 2024; in the 
amount of just over $5,400.  Massine asked what they are paying now for the year; it was 
noted $2,248 a year.  Mayor Purcell noted that amount is to lease the building and the 
Chamber pays utilities, insurance, etc. He voiced  during covid they didn’t have many 
events and there is a new board in place.  Krebs voiced the Chamber does a lot for the 
community and motioned to approve the request.  Greer seconded.  Mayor Purcell noted 
it has been moved and seconded to grant the request to the Chamber to forgive the unpaid 
rent for the years 2022, 2023, and through December 2024 and they will move forward 
with monthly installments for the upcoming leases.  Kim Caprata, a 3-year member of 
the Chamber Board, and Alexandria Edwards, new member, both extended a “Thank 
You” to Council.  On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved.   

 
STAFF REPORTS: 
Public Works:  

 
Finance: 

Lehr reported the application for the Pilot Grant was submitted on December 31st; 
the City will know something in March. Other grants include the Coal Board Grant for 
the Garbage Truck and the Land Water Conservation Fund grant for the South Park 
Project.  The bid opening for the Wastewater Treatment Plant has been rescheduled for 
January 16th.  Lehr reported Stahly has been holding back HDR invoices to the City for 
the Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade until it goes out to bid; once the bid is awarded 
the invoices will be paid with the State Revolving Fund (SRF) and Rural Development 
Loans.  Lehr noted a City police vehicle that was wrecked was submitted to the City 
insurance, Montana Municipal Interlocal Authority (MMIA).  Currently they are looking 
to repair the vehicle; if it cannot be repaired, they will total it.   
 
Police: 

Mayor Purcell reported interviews are scheduled for the end of this week for 
positions open at the Police Department. 

 
Legal: 

 
Economic Development:  

Toyne reported there was a kick off meeting with Ayers Associates for the 
Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy; Mike Scholl, with Ayers, and Gaurav 
Thakur, with Beartooth RC&D, traveled to Hardin to work with her on the strategy and 
the Housing Needs Assessment for Big Horn County; and they attended a bazaar in Crow 
Agency, sponsored by Plenty Doors, to encourage members of the community to fill out 
the surveys for the assessment.   

 

Toyne reported she will be meeting with Lawrence Killsback, Economic 
Development Director for Big Horn County, adding she is looking forward to having 
someone to work with collaboratively; she has been working on current information 
about the Industrial Park Area to provide to companies to look at; she continues to work  



January 7, 2025 - Minutes 

 3 of 3 
 

with Montana Business Attraction; and she, Lehr, and two other firms did a walk through the Hotel 
Becker property.  Toyne provided information about the Pilot Tourism Grant; reported she attended 
the Visit South East Montana meeting; and noted the City received the first proposal for the Infill 
and Redevelopment for Housing. 
 

Lawrence Killsback reported he and Toyne will be meeting to work together on shared goals.  
He reported he was brought on at the County to focus on the housing piece and community 
development. 

 
RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 

 
ANNOUNCEMENTS:   
Mayor Purcell Sealed Bids for the Invitation to Bid for the Wastewater Treatment Plant has been 
rescheduled to January 16, 2025 at 2:00 p.m.; Request for Qualifications for the Preliminary 
Architectural Feasibility Plan for Hotel Becker are due by 3:00 p.m. Wednesday,  January 15, 2025; 
City Offices will be closed Monday, January 20, 2025 for Martin Luther King Day; and Business 
and Pet Licenses are due by February 1, 2025. 
 
The City of Hardin has the following Job Openings: Full-time positions: Police Officer, Police 
Service Aide (PSA), and Terminal Agency Coordinator (TAC) / Administrative Assistant I-IV. 
Part-time position: Building Inspector/Code Enforcement Apprentice and Janitor/Facilities 
Maintenance. Positions are open until filled.  

 
 
 

Greer motioned to adjourn the meeting at 6:51 p.m.  Sharpe seconded.  On a voice vote the motion 
was unanimously approved.   
 
_________________________________ 
Joe Purcell, Mayor     
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Andrew Lehr, Finance Officer/City Clerk 
 
 
 



December 30, 2024 - Minutes 

 1 of 1 
 

  
CITY of HARDIN, MONTANA 

 
 
SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING: The Special Council Meeting for December 30, 2024 was 
called to order at 5:15 p.m. with Mayor Joe Purcell presiding by reciting the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
The following Aldermen were present:  Clayton Greer, Chris Sharpe, Rock Massine, and Jeremy 
Krebs.  Alderman Antonio Espinoza was present virtually and Alderman Steven Hopes was not 
present. 

 
Also present:  Finance Officer/City Clerk Andrew Lehr, Public Works Director Michael Hurff, Jr., 
and City Attorney Jordan Knudsen. 
 
Also present physically:  Members of the Public 
Present virtually: Ishmael Perin Hardin Police Department and Matt Smith Stahly Engineering.  

 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT:    N/A 
 
 

New Business:     
 

 Mayor Purcell reported that an extension had been filed for the House Bill 355 funding, but 
there was no confirmation yet on whether the Department of Commerce granted that extension. 
Greer inquired whether the ladder in the bid could be a solid stainless-steel ladder to have a longer 
useful life. Krebs asked if the ladder was needed at all in the tank. Hurff stated that the divers go in 
to clean and work on the tank from a tripod at the top of the tank. The City employees drain the 
entire tank when they need to inspect the tank. Smith stated that he doesn’t believe there isn’t a 
need with the confined space requirements the divers would be required to follow. Greer asked if 
the lining would be damaged when they installed the ladder. Smith noted that they would install 
after lining the tank and that a ladder could be installed at a later date if needed. Massine motioned 
to approve the bid from Carr Coatings and to remove the ladder from the bid. Sharpe seconded. On 
a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved.  
 
 Mayor Purcell noted that the heaters in the fire hall are going out and need to be replaced. 
Massine motioned to approve the quote from Wagners Heating & Air Conditioning in the amount 
of $12,200. Greer seconded. On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved. Krebs voiced 
that he would like to see multiple quotes when considering similar bids in the future.  

 
 

 Greer motioned to adjourn the meeting at 5:26 p.m. Sharpe seconded. On a voice 
vote the motion was unanimously approved. 

 
 

_________________________________ 
Joe Purcell, Mayor 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 

____________________________________________ 
Andrew Lehr, Finance Officer/City Clerk 

























2223 Montana Avenue, Suite 201, Billings, MT 59457 | phone: 406-601-4055 
www.seaeng.com

Engineers and Land Surveyors

Technical Memorandum
Date: January 16, 2025
Subject: PASER Analysis and Street Management
To: Hardin City Mayor and City Council Members
From: Dax Simek, PE 

The Pavement Surface Evaluation and Rating (PASER) system is a widely adopted method for 
assessing and managing the condition of municipal streets. This memo outlines the key benefits of 
implementing a PASER analysis for the City of Hardin’s street network. It demonstrates how this 
analysis can optimize maintenance efforts, allocate financial resources efficiently and effectively, 
and support long-term infrastructure sustainability.

Objective and Standardized Assessment
PASER provides a simple yet complete method for evaluating pavement conditions, using a 
standardized rating scale from 1 (failed pavement) to 10 (excellent condition). This rating system 
helps ensure a consistent assessment across the entire street network and provides easily 
understood ratings that allow technical and non-technical stakeholders to align. This system also 
provides the ability to make economical, objective decisions when prioritizing maintenance and 
rehabilitation projects.

Cost-Effective Maintenance Planning
Proactive intervention is key to cost-effective pavement management. The PASER system 
identifies streets requiring preventive maintenance versus those needing full reconstruction. It may 
seem contrary to one’s intuition, but prioritizing streets that need minor preventative maintenance 
over streets in extremely poor condition and requiring complete reconstruction, reduces overall 
lifecycle costs by targeting preservation efforts early. This approach helps prevent minor issues 
from escalating into major, costly repairs.

The analysis can be the basis for a comprehensive pavement management plan. It can also assist 
the City in gaining buy-in from stakeholders as the recommendations are based on simple, 
evidence-based reports, and the City has prioritized the projects based on objective need rather 
than personal subjective assessments.

Long-Term Asset Sustainability
By integrating PASER analysis into regular operations, the City can establish a structured and 
repeatable pavement evaluation process and extend the service life of pavement assets through 
timely maintenance. Additionally, the analysis supports sustainable budgeting by improving 
forecasting of future repair needs and associated costs.



Page | 2

Alignment with Funding Requirements
PASER is often recognized and recommended by state and federal agencies as part of broader 
pavement management initiatives. Completing and implementing PASER analysis may help the 
City with future grant or funding pursuits. It may also strengthen applications for infrastructure 
funding by showcasing data-backed strategies and a proactive approach to maintenance.

Conclusion
Incorporating PASER analysis into the City’s street management program offers significant 
benefits, from cost savings and optimized maintenance planning to improved public communication 
and long-term infrastructure sustainability. By leveraging this proven tool, municipalities can ensure 
their street networks remain safe, functional, and efficient for years to come.

The City of Deer Lodge is one of our municipal clients that has implemented a PASER analysis and 
seen the benefits. Attached to this memo is their completed analysis for your review.



Pavement Management Report  

City of Deer Lodge  

Oct • 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared By: 

Stahly Engineering & Associates 

851 Bridger Drive, Suite 1 

Bozeman, MT 59715 

 

 

Prepare For: 

Public Works Department  

300 Main St. 

Deer Lodge, Montana 59722 

 



 

PAVEMENT MANAGEMENT REPORT – Table of Contents  

 

Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................... 2 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

Pavement Condition Index ................................................................................................................ 4 

PASER Ratings ................................................................................................................................. 5-9 

Pavement Life Cycle ........................................................................................................................ 10 

Pavement Preservation ................................................................................................................... 11 

Data Collection Technique ........................................................................................................ 12-16  

Current Maintenance Practices ...................................................................................................... 16 

Implementation of Pavement Preservation (BMP) .................................................................. 16-17  

Asphalt Paving ................................................................................................................................. 18 

Other Factors Used for Project Selection and Programming ......................................................... 18 

Engineering Judgment ..................................................................................................................... 20 

Defer Maintenance ......................................................................................................................... 20 

Project Selection for Next Five Years Programming ....................................................................... 21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 2 | P a g e  
 

Executive Summary 

This report presents a summary of the City of Deer Lodge pavement management system and provides 

condition data for City of Deer Lodge’s roadway system. It provides an explanation of the importance 

of having a pavement management system that guides and supports the City of Deer Lodge in 

determining pavement needs and priorities within the funding budget. It further describes certain 

critical key points as far as understanding pavement life cycle and its ranking approach in 

implementing cost-effective strategies such as the use of pavement preservation through preventive 

maintenance on roads in good condition. 

The City of Deer Lodge’s Transportation Department uses Pavement Surface Evaluation and Rating 

(PASER) that serves as a management tool providing an inventory of all roadways, assessment and 

rating of pavement condition. Records of historical maintenance, budget needs forecasting, and 

impacts of funding on citywide pavement condition over time are kept separately. PASER has been 

used to reflect the decrease of level of service due to the increased traffic volumes and loads over 

the last five years. 

 

Current Road Network Condition 

The City of Deer Lodge maintains 36 centerline miles of paved road as of the end of fiscal year 

2017. The total miles may not reflect all new tract/subdivision roads being approved and entered 

into the city maintained public road system. There is approximately a 3 to 6 month lag time from 

the time a new road is fully constructed to the time it enters into the city maintained roadway system. 

An attached map shows the road network with PASER ratings. These ratings can also be seen as an 

overlay in the GIS system. 

http://stahly.maps.arcgis.com/apps/View/index.html?appid=ea5ee971719c4007b11c652eb0e5b5c2 

The table below shows the breakdown of the road network by block segments and the 

corresponding PASER Rating. The average rating for pavement condition of the Deer Lodge System is 

4.93. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 3 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Introduction 

Pavement Surface Evaluation and Rating (PASER) is a decision-making process or system that assists 

the City in making cost-effective decisions related to the maintenance and rehabilitation of roadway 

pavements. It provides tools for rating pavement condition, establishing a consistent maintenance 

and repair schedule, and evaluating the effectiveness of maintenance treatment strategies. 

Originally PASER was developed in Wisconsin for local governments to initiate roadway 

management. It is now used across the United States by departments of transportation, local 

governments, airports, and tribes to perform roadway management. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 4 | P a g e  
 

Pavement Condition Index 

Rating System 

Surface 

Rating 
Visible Distress 

General 

Condition/Treatment 

Measures 

10                       

Excellent 

None New Construction 

9                       

Excellent 

None Recent overlay. Like New 

8                       

Very Good 

No longitudinal cracks except reflection of paving joints. 

Occasional transverse cracks. Widely spaced (40’ or 

greater). All cracks sealed or tight (open less than ¼”) 

Recent sealcoat or new cold mix. 

Little or no maintenance 

required. 

7                       

Good 

Very slight or no raveling, surface shows some traffic 

wear. Longitudinal cracks (open ¼”) due to reflection or 

paving joints. Transverse cracks (open ¼”) spaced 10’ or 

more apart, little or slight crack raveling. No patching or 

very few patches in excellent condition.  

First signs of aging. Maintain 

with routine crack filling. 

6                       

Good 

Slight raving (loss of fines) and traffic wear. Longitudinal 

cracks (open ¼” – ½”), some spaced less than 10’. First 

sign of block cracking. Slight to moderate flushing or 

polishing. Occasional patching in good condition. 

Shows signs of aging. Sound 

structural condition. Could 

extend life with sealcoat 

5                       

Fair 

Moderate to severe raveling (loss of fine and coarse 

aggregate). Longitudinal and transverse cracks (open ½”) 

show first signs of slight raveling and secondary cracks. 

First signs of longitudinal cracks near pavement edge. 

Block cracking up to 50% of surface. Extensive to severe 

flushing or polishing. Some patching or edge wedging in 

good condition. 

Surface aging. Sound structural 

condition. Needs sealcoat or thin 

non- structural overlay (less than 

2”) 

4                      

Fair 

Sever surface raveling. Multiple longitudinal and 

transverse cracking with slight raveling. Longitudinal 

cracking in wheel path. Block cracking (over 50% of 

surface). Patching in fair condition. Slight rutting or 

distortions (½” deep or less). 

Significant aging and first signs 

of need for strengthening. Would 

benefit from a structural overlay 

(2” or more)  

3                      

Poor 

Closely spaced longitudinal and transverse cracks often 

showing raveling and crack erosion. Sever block 

cracking. Some alligator cracking (less than 25% of 

surface). Patches in fair to poor condition. Moderate 

rutting or distortion (1” or 2” deep). Occasional potholes 

Needs patching and repair prior 

to major overlay. Milling and 

removal of deterioration extends 

the life of overlay. 

2                       

Very Poor 

Alligator cracking (over 25% of surface) Sever distortions 

(over 2” deep) Extensive patching in poor condition 

Potholes 

Severe deterioration. Needs 

reconstruction with extensive 

base repair. Pulverization of old 

pavement is effective. 

1                       

Failed 

Severe distress with extensive loss of surface integrity. Failed. Needs total reconstruction 

 



 

  
 

 5 | P a g e  

 

PASER Rating 10 
 

 

PASER Rating 9 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 6 | P a g e  

 

PASER Rating 8 
 

 

PASER Rating 7 

 



 

  
 

 7 | P a g e  

 

PASER Rating 6 

 

PASER Rating 5 

 



 

  
 

 8 | P a g e  

 

PASER Rating 4 
 

 

PASER Rating 3 
 

 



 

  
 

 9 | P a g e  

 

PASER Rating 2 
 

 

PASER Rating 1 
 

 



 

  
 

 10 | P a g e  
 

Pavement Life Cycle 

A critical concept in overall pavement life is the timing of maintenance and rehabilitation 

(resurfacing or reconstruction) actions being undertaken before the pavement falls beyond the 

optimum rehabilitation point. Figure 2 demonstrates this concept. Notice that for the first 75 

percent of pavement life, the pavement condition drops by about 40 percent. However, if left 

untreated, it only takes another 12 percent of pavement life for the pavement condition to drop 

another 40 percent. Additionally, in order to restore pavement condition to a predetermined or 

an acceptable minimum level, it will cost 4 to 5 times as much if the pavement is allowed to 

deteriorate for 2 to 3 years beyond the optimum rehabilitation point. 
 

 



 

  
 

 11 | P a g e  

 

Pavement Preservation 

As defined by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Pavement Preservation Expert Task  

Group, “Pavement Preservation is a program employing a network level, long-term strategy  

that enhances pavement performance by using an integrated, cost-effective set of practices  

that extend pavement life, improve safety, and meet motorist expectations.” Pavement  

preservation represents a proactive approach in maintaining existing roadways to reduce costly, 

time-consuming rehabilitation and reconstruction and the associated traffic disruptions to the  

traveling public. 

 

An effective pavement preservation program will treat pavements while they are still in good  

condition and prior to the need for major reconstruction work. By applying a cost- effective 

treatment at the right time, the pavement is restored almost to its original condition. The figure  

below illustrates the concept of pavement preservation as it relates to enhancing pavement  

performance, extending pavement life, and ensuring taxpayer dollars are utilized wisely while  

providing improved safety and mobility to the public. 
 

As depicted in the chart below, the cumulative effect of systematic, successive preservation  

treatments is the postponement of costly resurfacing and reconstruction. During the life of a  

pavement, the cumulative discount value of the series of pavement preservation  treatments  

is substantially less than the discounted value of the more extensive, higher cost of  

reconstruction and generally more economical than the cost of major resurfacing. 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 12 | P a g e  

 

Data Collection Technique 

Several methods of data collection were used to evaluate the City of Deer Lodge transportation.  

Google Earth and Photos of each individual road was analyzed. Once consistency in rating method  

was obtained, the roads were compared to visual and measurement criteria in the PASER manual. 

 

The roads were then observed to compare evaluation from the photos with field observation. This  

was accomplished by Steven V. Jenkins PE, with years of direct experience rating roads for local  

governments. These ratings were then reviewed by Public Works Direct Trent Freeman, City of 

Deer Lodge. The end goal of the evaluation was to assure that a consistent rating system is used  

and that these indexes can be used to suggest proper maintenance applications. 

 

Sagebrush Drive PASER‐7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 13 | P a g e  

 

Milwaukee Ave at Clagett St  PASER‐7 

 

 

W College Ave at Kentucky St. PASER‐5 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 14 | P a g e  

 

W College Ave at Alabama. PASER‐4 

 

 

Reierson St. PASER‐4 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 15 | P a g e  

 

Maryland Ave. at Clark St. PASER‐4 

 

 

Kohrs St. and Gilbert Ave   PASER‐3  
 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 16 | P a g e  

 

Maryland Ave at Dixon St PASER‐3 

 
 

 

Current Maintenance Practices 

The City of Deer Lodge predominately uses Chip Seals to preserve roadways. A chip seal is a  

surface treatment applied to pavement with minimal surface distress to provide a new  

wearing surface, extend pavement life, and delay major rehabilitation or reconstruction. It  

is a process in which an asphalt emulsion is sprayed on the pavement then immediately covered  

by aggregate. Historically this process has been used in most paving applications for the  

City of Deer Lodge. 

 

The maintenance activities performed through public contracts and in-house City forces are the  

City’s top priority and include routine maintenance, responding to public safety concerns  

(repairing of potholes, patching localized deteriorated pavements, etc.), and pavement  

preservation treatments. 

 

Implementation of Pavement Preservation Using Best Management Practices 

Implementation of pavement preservation is just as important as other services provided to the public  

in terms of restoring and improving roadways for public safety. Preserving roads already in good condition  

rather than allowing them to deteriorate is the City’s objective in spending the taxpayer’s money cost  

effectively. Consistent with this approach, the costs associated in developing road treatments and repairs  

are based on achieving a roadway pavement condition using Best Management Practices (BMPs).  

Implementing this BMP improves the roadway condition to a level where roads need only preventive  

maintenance treatments (i.e., chip seals, slurry seals, cape seals). These treatments have the least  

impact on the public’s mobility and commerce. Furthermore, these types of treatments are more  

environmentally friendly than the next level of construction (thick overlay and reconstruction) that  

would be required. 



 

  
 

 17 | P a g e  

 

 

Crack‐Sealing 

Cracks should be sealed in advance prior to chip sealing when cracks are wide enough (> ¼ inch) that  

the seal coat will not cover cracks. On roads that are in good shape but thermo-cracking has occurred  

a simple crack-sealing may prevent moisture from entering the base. 
 

Seal Coat (Preventive) Treatments 

A Seal Coat is a thin surface treatment used to improve the surface texture and protect an asphalt  

surface. Main types of seal coats are fog seals, sand seals, slurry seals, micro- surfacing, cape seals,  

sandwich seals, scrub seals, and chip seals. Cape seals are not commonly used. Scrub seals are brushed  

after application to work the asphalt into a weather checked or worn surface. The most commonly used  

is a Chip seal hence; sometimes a chip seal is simply called a “Seal Coat”. A seal coat treatment follows  

the concept of preventive maintenance for preserving the pavement while it is still in good condition  

and prolonging its serviceable life. The following seal coat treatments are as described and implemented  

by contractor or by in-house forces and contracts. 

 
 

Chip Seal 

Chip seal is a process in which an asphalt emulsion is sprayed on the pavement then immediately  

covered by aggregate. They can vary in thickness depending on the aggregate and binder used. A 

thick, double application can be used as the sole layer of pavement on low volume roads. 
 

Slurry Seal 

A slurry seal is a maintenance treatment applied to pavement to improve the functional characteristics  

of the pavement surface. It is a mixture of asphalt emulsion, aggregates and mineral fillers, which is mixed  

and placed in a continuous basis using a truck mixer. Prior to application, any surface distresses, such  

as cracks, are filled and sealed. After thoroughly mixing the emulsion, aggregates and mineral fillers  

in the slurry truck’s built-in pug mill, the slurry mixture is poured into a spreader box. As the truck moves  

forward, the slurry is extruded from the back side of the spreader box. The box is capable of spreading  

the slurry over the width of a traffic lane in a single pass resulting in a uniform application. The slurry  

cures as the water evaporates and turns the freshly placed brown slurry into black slurry. Traffic can be  

returned once the slurry has cured, which is usually four to six hours. The City of Deer Lodge uses a  

Cold Mix method with Tight Blade rather than Slurry Seal. 
 

Cape Seal 

Cape seal consist of a bottom course of chip seal covered with a wearing course of slurry seal.  

Both pavement surface treatments are non-structural preventive maintenance applications that  

are classified as pavement preservation techniques. Such techniques can extend pavement life and 

improve safety. In a cape seal application, covering a single layer of chip seal with slurry seal prevents  

the aggregate from the chip seal application from being dislodged especially for roads with curb and gutter. 

At this time, the City of Deer Lodge is not using Cape Seal. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 18 | P a g e  

 

Asphalt Paving 

On roads that show a rating of 5 or less, an asphalt overlay of 2” may be used to strengthen pavement.  

This application typically costs twice as much as a chip seal but ride quality and surface are restored.  

The City of Deer Lodge rarely uses this method due to prohibitive costs. 
 

Milling 

As roads age, rutting, cracking and raveling can occur. Rather than simply adding a layer of asphalt  

covering these defects and allowing defects to reflect up through to the surface, defects can be  

removed by milling and then replacing damaged asphalt. This Mill and Fill process can be used if the majority  

of the asphalt in place is still serviceable. 
 

Full Depth Recycle 

If the asphalt is severely damaged a full depth recycle may be required. The surface is then pulverized,  

mixed with existing base to strengthen it, and then paved over with new asphalt. 

 

Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement 

Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement (RAP) – removed/reprocessed asphalt concrete pavement is a commonly 

 recycled material incorporated in the production of new Hot-Mixed Asphalt (HMA). RAP can be generated  

from a number of different sources including cold milling, full-depth removal, and pulverize-in-place  

operations of existing pavements. The use of RAP in HMA is the most efficient use of this material as it  

provides a reduction in virgin asphalt binder and aggregate demand, thus conserving natural resources.  

These materials may be used for paving very low volume roads or mixed with virgin material at less than 15%. 

Although an effective way of utilizing materials, the City of Deer Lodge currently does not use this  

method. Deer Lodge has used RAP materials as the sole layer of pavement on some lower volume roads. 

Depending on the quality of base, RAP and process this has produced mixed results. 

 

Other Factors Used for Project Selection and Programming 

Projected Volume – Future Growth 

A Traffic counts completed by Montana Department of Transportation in Deer Lodge show traffic volumes  

from 2012 to 2016 have fluctuated on different routes. West Milwaukee has decreased but routes  

around East Milwaukee have increased from 53% to 230%. North Main Street traffic increased from 4% to 24%  

during those same years. It is believed that traffic in Deer Lodge may not increase significantly in the near 

future but areas North and East in will continue to grow and shift. 
 

Funding Available and Projected 

Gas Tax $70,000/year 

 

Gas Tax increase    2018—$60,264 2019------$71,440 2023-------$94,988 

 

Based on projected revenues the city of Deer Lodge should receive an increase immediately and a total of  

$163,902 gas tax by the year 2023. 

Effective use of state and local funds is the key to a viable transportation system. Currently only Gas Tax 

 and local funds are available. Other sources of funding including TSEP, RSID, Bonds, CBGD and the Small  

Urban area funding may be sought.  

 



 

  
 

 19 | P a g e  

 

Public Input 

The public can be the eyes and ears of Deer Lodge Transportation network. Often the public recognizes  

defects that local officials pass over or blend in with other pressing needs. The public works director receives 

 input from the public and in turn meets with the city street department to prioritize street maintenance.  

The most prevalent method received is by phone calls. Because most complaints were focused on street  

issues such as potholes, these are fixed as soon as possible. 
 

Inspection 

The careful scrutiny of an experienced road manager is useful to determine project programming. They  

can judge how the road is responding to increased traffic volumes. 
 

 

Possible Project 

Roads that would benefit from a simple crack seal would be: Tumbleweed, Prairie, and Buckskin. These  

roads could be chip sealed at a cost of $ 48,263 but a crack-sealing for now would be sufficient. 
 

The following Ten roads were listed by the city as arterials, or roads that are heavily used to move from  

one area to another. Collector roads feed these arterials. They are the important roads that should be kept 

 in good shape. They benefit significantly from good pavement management. A chip seal project should be  

done every seven years to keep these good roads good. Current cost of chip seals are .38/ft sq. By sealing  

Oregon and Kentucky one year and sealing Carter and Higgins in another year, and not sealing Milwaukee  

until an overlay is performed, seven remaining projects can be sealed each year for a seven year cycle. The  

total cost of chip sealing these roads minus Milwaukee is $360,442-$49,050 

=$311,392. Over a seven year period, $44,485 could be budgeted and the remainder could be saved or used  

for crack-sealing. 

 

 

  Chip Sealing Program  

  

Street  Length (ft) Width (ft) Area (sq ft) Cost 

          

Oregon 2,875 24 69,000 $26,220.00 

Kentucky 3,005 24 72,120 $27,405.00 

5th St 4,285 28 119,980 $45,592.00 

Dixon 3210 + 555 28 105,420 $40,060.00 

Carter 2220 28 62160 $23,620.00 

Higgins 2280 26 59280 $22,526.00 

Missouri 4155 28 116,340 $44,209.00 

Milwaukee 4610 28 129,080 $49,050.00 

St. Mary's 4035 28 112,980 $12,932.00 

Texas 3930 26 102,180 $38,828.00 

     
        $360,442.00 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

 20 | P a g e  

 

Engineering Judgment 

Milwaukee Street is the main arterial running East and West. The following table is an estimate of the  

cost for a “Mill and Overlay” on that road. Due to the height of asphalt in the crown and the fixed elevation  

of the curb line, a two-inch milling is recommended. This would also solve rutting problems and shoving at 

intersections. Two inches of hot mix overlay would strengthen the surface. 
 

 

Milwaukee Street East 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

With the full Gas Tax in place ($164,000), and $50,000 spent annually on chip seals, it would take 5 years  

to save enough for this project. 

 

Defer Maintenance 

There are a number of roads in Deer Lodge where Asphalt millings were placed and either sealed or left  

lone. These roads may not warrant paving and are in poor maintenance. Roads rated at a level 4 or below 

 may be considered for deferred maintenance. At some point in the future when that segment has reached 

 its terminal service life, it can be full depth recycled if usage increases to an ADT of over 300. If it remains  

a low volume road it can be “unpaved” or reverted to gravel. Gravel roads that are properly maintained  

can provide a higher level of service than a paved road that is not maintained. The following are cost figures  

to revert a road to gravel. 

 
 

Road Name PASER Rating Length (yds) 
Width (yds) 26 

ft width 

Pulverize Cost 

$3.25/yd sq 

Maryland 3, 4, 5 1344 11,650 $37,870.00 

Reierson 4 261 2,262 $7,352.00 

Gilbert 4 225 1,950 $6,337.00 

California 4, 5 780 6760 $21,970.00 

West College 3, 4 377 3267 $10,619.00 

Arizona 3 745 6457 $20,981.00 

Conley 4 532 4610 $14,985.00 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Procedure Unit Cost Length (yds) Width (yds) Area (sq yds) Cost 

2 inch Milling $5.00 1530 15 22,950 $114,750  

2 inch Asphalt $20.00 1530 15 22,950 $459,000  

    
Total Cost $573,750  



 

  
 

 21 | P a g e  

 

Example Project Selection for Next Five Years Programming 
The Following projects could be scheduled and would expend the estimated $70,000/ year budget.  

Approximate Budget: $70,000/year 

 
 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Available $ 70,000 130,000 140,000 164,000 164,000 

Chip Seal 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 

Possible Project 
20000 curb and 

gutter 

20000 crack -

sealing 
0 6,337  

Saved  60,000 90,000 114,000 114,000 

Total Saved  60,000 150,000 264,000 378,000 
 

• If this trend continued, there would be enough revenue to complete the suggested project on  

Milwaukee Avenue by 2023. 

• City of Deer Lodge may want to approach MDT to suggest that the nature of traffic on East  

Milwaukee now passes through the city to State maintained West Milwaukee and should be  

maintained by MDT. 

• Any new development and several existing subdivisions may be considered for RSID revenues  

from residents. 

• A bond may be passed requesting $3,600,000 to increase level of service on Deer Lodge roads  

from a current PASER 5 to a level of PASER 6. 

 









PROVIDED BY:

HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS
2720 MINNESOTA AVENUE
BILLINGS, MT 59101

PROVIDED FOR:

CITY OF HARDIN
406 N CHEYENNE AVE
HARDIN, MT 59034

PRELIMINARY ARCHITECTURAL REPORT PROPOSAL

HOTEL BECKER

JANUARY 2025



PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



(406) 896-0250  |  2720 MINNESOTA AVE  BILLINGS, MT  59101  |  HIGHPLAINSARCHITECTS.COM 

January 13, 2025

Andrew Lehr
c/o: City of Hardin
406 N. Cheyenne Ave
Hardin, MT 59034

RE: Hotel Becker Preliminary Architectural Report

Dear Andrew & the Selection Committee:

High Plains Architects applauds the City of Hardin for identifying critical downtown assets that are currently 
underperforming and for working with property owners to figure out a path to bring them back to life. 
Completing a Preliminary Architectural Report (PAR) is a key initial step to bringing the Hotel Becker back to 
its potential, contributing a vital presence to downtown Hardin.

We are pleased to present our proposal to help you achieve that goal! With our extensive design and 
development experience in rehabilitating historic buildings, we believe we are uniquely qualified to deliver a 
PAR that has the design AND financial information needed to move the project to the next level. 

Our multi-disciplinary team has a history of working together on similar projects and is an ideal fit to work 
with the City of Hardin and the property owner to create the Hotel Becker Preliminary Architectural Report. 
Our team members and their roles are as follows:

• High Plains Architects, Billings, MT – architect
• Stahly Engineering, Billings, MT – structural engineer
• IMEG Corp., Billings, MT – mechanical and electrical engineers

Thank you for this opportunity to be of service, and we look forward to demonstrating our qualifications in the 
proposal that follows. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions or concerns.

Sincerely,
High Plains Architects, P.C.

Ed Gulick, AIA, LEED AP® BD+C

President



4 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

CROWLEY FLATS
LEWISTOWN, MT



5HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

CONTENTS

1. FIRM PROFILE   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7

2. RELEVANT EXPERIENCE .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 11

3. PROJECT TEAM  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  19

4. CONSULTANT TEAM   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 20

5. ACTIVE PROJECTS & AVAILABILITY  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  21

6. PROPOSED SCOPE OF WORK  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  22

7. BUDGET  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  23

8. FEE STRUCTURE .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 24

9. PRELIMINARY PROJECT SCHEDULE   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  25

APPENDICES
A. PROJECT TEAM RESUMES

B. CONSULTANT TEAM RESUMES

C. ATTACHMENT A - PROPOSER INFORMATION

STAPLETON BUILDING
BILLINGS, MT



6 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

TITLE
LOCATION

CROWLEY FLATS
LEWISTOWN, MT



7HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

TITLE
LOCATION

High Plains Architects is a full-service architectural 
and planning firm dedicated to enhancing the 
quality of life for communities, while fostering a 
sustainable and regenerative built environment. 
Founded in Billings, Montana in 1999, our name 
pays homage to the vast, awe-inspiring plains that 
surround us. Our work is driven by a commitment 
to improving communities of all sizes by creating 
thoughtful, people-centered spaces, staying at the 
forefront of industry best practices, and fostering 
economic vitality with a homegrown economic 
development approach. These motivations guide 
every project we undertake:

Community Orientation
At High Plains Architects, we are deeply committed 
to improving the vitality and quality of life within 
Montana’s communities. Whether working in 
small towns or larger cities, our focus remains on 

improving the well-being of all residents by creating 
thoughtful, people-centered spaces.

Homegrown Economic Vitality
Our philosophy of economic development is to 
support the ecosystem of local commercial exchange 
and investment by rebuilding human-scaled places 
with timeless community design patterns and 
high-performance buildings that do not depend on 
importing outside resources.

Environmental Regeneration
Healthy biosystems are the fundamental basis for 
life as we know it. For every project, we set goals for 
improving environmental performance far beyond 
conventional standards. Our work not only meets 
these goals but also enhances the local ecosystems, 
ensuring that the built environment and natural 
world can thrive together.

1. FIRM PROFILE

KLOS BUILDING
BILLINGS, MT



8 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

SKYLINE DEVELOPMENT
BILLINGS, MT

TRACY LOFTS
BILLINGS, MT

COLLINS BLOCK
BILLINGS, MT

Innovation & Excellence
At High Plains Architects, we are committed to 
staying at the forefront of industry best practices. By 
drawing on lessons from past projects, cutting-edge 
research, and performance metrics, we continually 
refine our design processes to meet the evolving 
needs of today and tomorrow while pushing the 
boundaries of sustainable architecture. We strive to 
deliver designs that not only serve the present but 
also contribute to the future vitality and sustainability 
of Montana’s communities and environments.

From these guiding principles, we have developed 
four areas of expertise, our Four Pillars of Practice:

1. Downtown Revitalization
We specialize in breathing new life into downtowns 
and districts in a resourceful manner, transforming 
them into vibrant, attractive destinations. Our work 
includes guidance on zoning ordinances, building 
uses, façade design, and street planning. Our 
experience includes nine completed community, 
downtown, and campus master plans.

2. Historic Rehabilitation
Our expertise in building codes and the Secretary 
of the Interior’s Standards enables us to rehabilitate 
historic buildings, preserving their inherent value 
and securing historic tax credits. With 11 successful 
historic tax credit projects, we have demonstrated 
our ability to blend preservation with modern 
functionality.

3. High-Performance Design
Through an integrative design process, we 
deliver buildings with superior economic and 
environmental lifecycle performance. Our portfolio 
includes a certified Living Building and 13 LEED 
Platinum buildings, reflecting our dedication 
to creating sustainable and high-performance 
structures.

4. Property Development
With experience developing 14 of our own 
projects, we help clients unlock the potential of 
underperforming properties, transforming them 
into profitable and attractive assets. We have 
expertise in financial pro formas, ensuring projects 
are financially viable and identifying the necessary 
capital stack components to bring them to life.



9HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

Directly or indirectly, these four pillars are all 
applicable in creating a new chapter in the life of 
the Hotel Becker. Though we are not the only team 
with experience creating preliminary architectural 
reports, we believe we are uniquely qualified to 
forge a path that leads to the Hotel Becker being 
redeveloped.

What Distinguishes Our Team
1. A Deep Connection to Montana Communities
Our work in smaller Montana communities like 
Hardin goes beyond professional obligations—it’s 
a heartfelt passion. Montana’s natural beauty is 
well known, but we also celebrate the cultural and 
working landscapes as invaluable assets. Historic 
downtown buildings embody the economic and 
cultural history of a community, and we are experts 
in restoring these structures to play prominent 
roles in the lives of Montana’s smaller communities.

2. Expertise in Historic Building Rehabilitation
Our team has extensive experience working 

alongside property owners as architects—and 
sometimes as developers—to breathe new life 
into historic structures. We have expertise in the 
2021 International Existing Building Code, which 
allows rehabilitation in the most cost-effective 
manner. We are also experts with the Secretary 
of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation; we 
know how to rehabilitate a historic building in a 
manner that secures historic tax credits worth 
approximately 25 percent of qualified project costs. 
Thus, we deliver not only design solutions but also 
financial strategies that have resulted in successful 
rehabilitation projects across Montana.

5. Expertise in Redevelopment
Our team has extensive experience transforming 
the insights provided in a PAR into successful 
historic property redevelopments across several 
Montana communities. Randy Hafer, a key team 
member, has served as a general partner in the 
redevelopment of eight historic buildings and 
is currently a general partner in three more. 



10 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

KLOS BUILDING
BILLINGS, MT

Additionally, he has acted as a redevelopment 
consultant on several other projects, allowing his 
expertise to benefit a wider range of developments.

Our Vision for Hotel Becker & Hardin’s Downtown
Like the community, we view the Hotel Becker as 
an anchor building in downtown Hardin. Given that 
housing is often the greatest need for Montana 
communities of all sizes, we are likely to recommend 
converting the upper floors of the Hotel Becker 
into apartments. Downtown housing is a proven 
strategy for revitalizing urban cores, as it increases 
foot traffic and fosters a mix of uses within walking 
distance. This boost in activity benefits downtown 
businesses and supports public safety through 
“natural surveillance,” a core principle of CPTED 
(Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design). 
 
We’ve observed this positive cycle in other Montana 
communities with new downtown housing in mixed-
use buildings. For example, after the Borden Hotel 
in Whitehall was redeveloped, its nine apartments 

and commercial spaces quickly attracted tenants, 
including new businesses and a restaurant. Nearby 
property owners were inspired to invest in their 
own buildings, further enhancing the area. We 
envision a PAR for the Hotel Becker as the first step 
in a transformative process to revitalize downtown 
Hardin, boosting tax revenues without the expense 
of new infrastructure.

Legal Information:
High Plains Architects, P.C.
2720 Minnesota Avenue
Billings, MT  59101
PH: (406) 896-0250
FEIN: 81-0530127



BROADWAY APARTMENTS
LEWISTOWN, MT  - IN PROGRESS

11HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

2. RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Since its establishment in 1999, High Plains Architects has completed over 30 Preliminary Architectural 
Reports (PARs) and feasibility studies. These reports equip building owners and prospective buyers with critical 
information to make informed decisions without committing to a full-scale design process. They provide 
a practical way for prospective buyers to “look before they leap” into a property purchase, while enabling 
current owners to assess the financial viability of significant building renovations.

Leveraging our real estate development expertise, many of our recent feasibility studies have included detailed 
financial pro formas, offering clear insights into pathways for achieving financial sustainability. Below are four 
examples of recently completed feasibility studies focusing on the redevelopment of historic buildings, which 
are particularly relevant to the PAR for the Hotel Becker.

KLOS BUILDING
BILLINGS, MT

OBHB REMODEL
BILLINGS, MT - IN PROGRESS

MILLIGAN BUILDING
MILES CITY, MT - IN PROGRESS



BEARGRASS / RESTAURANT
(2000 SF)

UTILITY / MAINT.

COMMON SPACE /
CIRCULATION

(ELECTRICAL /
STORAGE)

NEW RAMP + 
LANDING

JMACS / RETAIL
(1840 SF)

(FIRE ROOM)

(MECHANICAL / 
STORAGE)

GENERAL MERCANTILE 
(1975 SF)

FIRST FLOOR CONCEPT PLAN

Page 18 of 28 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
IR

O
N

 F
R

O
N

T 
 | 

  F
E

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

FE
B

R
U

A
R

Y 
20

24
 

RENOVATION CONCEPT PLANS

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
IR

O
N

 F
R

O
N

T 
 | 

  F
E

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

FE
B

R
U

A
R

Y 
20

24

Page 18 of 28 

COMMON SPACE /
CIRCULATION

APARTMENTS

UTILITY / MAINT.

UNIT 1
(2 BD.)

UNIT 2
(1 BD.)

UNIT 3
(2 BD.)

UNIT 4
(2 BD.)

UNIT 5
(1 BD.)

UNIT 6
(1 BD.)

UNIT 7
(1 BD.)

UNIT 8
(2 BD.)TENANT 

STORAGE

THRID FLOOR CONCEPT PLAN

Page 20 of 28 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
IR

O
N

 F
R

O
N

T 
 | 

  F
E

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

FE
B

R
U

A
R

Y 
20

24
 

UTILITY / MAINT.

COMMON SPACE /
CIRCULATION

CATERING KITCHEN

BALLROOM

BANQUET ROOM

FOURTH FLOOR CONCEPT PLAN

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
IR

O
N

 F
R

O
N

T 
 | 

  F
E

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

FE
B

R
U

A
R

Y 
20

24

Page 21 of 28 

SECOND FLOOR CONCEPT PLAN 

COMMON SPACE /
CIRCULATION

APARTMENTS

UTILITY / MAINT.
UNIT 1
(2 BD.)

UNIT 2
(1 BD.)

UNIT 3
(1 BD.)

UNIT 4
(2 BD.)

UNIT 5
(1 BD.)

UNIT 6
(1 BD.)

UNIT 7
(1 BD.)

UNIT 8
(2 BD.)

TENANT 
STORAGE

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
IR

O
N

 F
R

O
N

T 
 | 

  F
E

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

FE
B

R
U

A
R

Y 
20

24

Page 19 of 28 

IRON FRONT BUILDING FEASIBILITY
HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  - 2720 MINNESOTA AVE., BILLINGS, MT 59101

13 MARCH 2024

C. PROJECTED INCOME WORKSHEET

411-417 NORTH LAST CHANCE GULCH, HELENA, MT  59601

TTHHIIRRDD  FFLLOOOORR  --  RREESSIIDDEENNTTIIAALL  AAPPAARRTTMMEENNTTSS

Space Name

BDRM  Rentable Area (SF) Rent/SF /mo. Rent/SF/yr Rent Income/mo. Rent Income/yr.
% AMI

APT. 301

2

631

$3.49
$41.84

$2,200
$26,400

94%

APT. 302

1

444

$4.05
$48.65

$1,800
$21,600

92%

APT. 303

2

673

$3.27
$39.23

$2,200
$26,400

94%

APT. 304

2

722

$3.19
$38.23

$2,300
$27,600

98%

APT. 305

1

678

$2.80
$33.63

$1,900
$22,800

97%

APT. 306

1

424

$4.25
$50.94

$1,800
$21,600

92%

APT. 307

1

572

$3.15
$37.76

$1,800
$21,600

92%

APT. 308

2

700

$3.14
$37.71

$2,200
$26,400

94%

Residential Storage

230

$1.00
$12.00

$230

$2,760

RReessiiddeennttiiaall  SSuubbttoottaall

44884444
$3.34

$$1166,,220000
$$119977,,116600

CIRCULATION

2,181

             

*

Laundry

88

                  

Janitor

58

                  

Mechanical/Maint.

143

                

*

CCoommmmoonn  SSuubbttoottaall

2,470

             

$$00

$$00

LLeevveell  SSuubbttoottaall

77,,331144

                        

$$1166,,220000
$$119977,,116600

FFOOUURRTTHH  FFLLOOOORR  --  EEVVEENNTT  SSPPAACCEE
Space Name

 Rentable Area (SF) Rent/SF /mo. Rent/SF/yr Rent Income/mo. Rent Income/yr.

Ballroom

2997
$1.50

 $      18.00 
$4,496

$53,946

Hall (north of Ballroom)

1240
$1.50

 $      18.00 
$1,860

$22,320

Kitchen

495

$1.50
 $      18.00 

$743

$8,910

Dining Rooms (3 front)

1198
$1.50

 $      18.00 
$1,797

$21,564

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  SSuubbttoottaall

55993300
$1.50

$$88,,889955
$$110066,,774400

CIRCULATION

824

                

RESTROOMS

397

                

STORAGE

192

                

*

CCoommmmoonn  SSuubbttoottaall

11,,441133

                        

$$00

$$00

LLeevveell  SSuubbttoottaall

77,,334433

                        

$$88,,889955
$$110066,,774400

PPOOTTEENNTTIIAALL  AANNNNUUAALL  IINNCCOOMMEE

2288,,668899

                  
SSFF

$$5500,,000088
$$663322,,002200

POTENTIAL ANNUAL INCOME - COMMERCIAL

11,910

          
SF

$238,300

Less Vacancy Rate Of
15%

-$35,745

CCOOMMMMEERRCCIIAALL  SSUUBBTTOOTTAALL
$202,555

POTENTIAL ANNUAL INCOME - RESIDENTIAL

9,518

             
SF

$393,720

Less Vacancy Rate Of
5%

-$19,686

RREESSIIDDEENNTTIIAALL  SSUUBBTTOOTTAALL
$374,034

GGRROOSSSS  AANNNNUUAALL  IINNCCOOMMEE

Less Vacancy

$$557766,,558899

22002233,,  LLeewwiiss  &&  CCllaarrkk  CCoo,,  MMTT  

eeffffiicciieennccyy
11--bbddrr

22--bbddrr

6600%%  AAMMII

1,094

$          

1,172
$         

1,406
$       

8800%%  AAMMII

1,459

$          

1,563
$         

1,875
$       

110000%%  AAMMII

1,823

$          

1,953
$         

2,343
$       C.P.I.W.

D5(A). 2-YEAR CASH FLOW ANALYSIS - BEGINNING OF CONSTRUCTION THROUGH LEASE UP

IINNCCOOMMEE
MONTH

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

YYeeaarr  11

Beargrass

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

3,663

$        
   

3,663

$        
   

3,663

$        
   

3,663

$        
   

1144,,665522

$$              
              

  

The Merc
2,000

$        
   

2,000

$        
   

2,000

$        
   

2,000

$        
   

2,000

$        
   

2,000

$        
     

2,000

$        
   

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

1166,,000000

$$              
              

  

J Mac's

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

3,634

$        
   

3,634

$        
   

77,,226677

$$              
              

      

APT. 201

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

2,200

$        
   

22,,220000

$$              
              

      

APT. 202

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

1,800

$        
   

11,,880000

$$              
              

      

APT. 203

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

2,200

$        
   

22,,220000

$$              
              

      

APT. 204

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

2,300

$        
   

22,,330000

$$              
              

      

APT. 205

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 206

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 207

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 208

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 301

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 302

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 303

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 304

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 305

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 306

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 307

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

APT. 308

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

Residential Storage

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

40

$        
        

 

4400

$$              
              

              
  

Ballroom

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

Hall (north of Ballroom)

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

Kitchen

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

Dining Rooms (3 front)

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

Laundry

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

50

$        
        

 

5500

$$              
              

              
  

GGRROOSSSS  IINNCCOOMMEE
22,,000000

$$              
    

22,,000000

$$              
    

22,,000000

$$              
    

22,,000000

$$              
    

22,,000000

$$              
    

22,,000000

$$              
        

22,,000000

$$              
    

33,,666633

$$              
    

33,,666633

$$              
    

77,,229977

$$              
    

1155,,888877

$$              

4466,,550099

$$              
              

  

EEXXPPEENNSSEESS
MONTH

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

YYeeaarr  11

Construction
184,230

$      

307,050

$      

429,870

$      

552,690

$      

675,510

$      

921,150

$        

675,510

$      

552,690

$      

429,870

$      

307,050

$      

184,230

$      

66,,114411,,000000

$$              
      

Construction Interest

-
$        

        

10,000

$        
 

13,000

$        
 

16,000

$        
 

19,000

$        
 

22,000

$        
  

28,000

$        
 

31,000

$        
 

34,000

$        
 

37,000

$        
 

43,000

$        
 

227788,,000000

$$              
            

Insurance (Bldr's Risk and 

Liabiltiy)
1,791

$        
   

1,791

$        
   

1,791

$        
   

1,791

$        
   

1,791

$        
   

1,791

$        
     

1,791

$        
   

1,791

$        
   

1,791

$        
   

1,791

$        
   

1,791

$        
   

2211,,449944

$$              
              

  

Permit
25,000

$        
 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

2255,,000000

$$              
              

  

Appraisal

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

7,500

$        
   

-
$        

        

77,,550000

$$              
              

      

Construction Loan Closing 

Costs

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

70,565

$        
 

7700,,556655

$$              
              

  

TToottaall  CCoonnssttrruuccttiioonn  EExxppeennsseess::
211,021

$      

318,841

$      

444,661

$      

570,481

$      

696,301

$      

944,941

$        

705,301

$      

585,481

$      

465,661

$      

353,341

$      

299,586

$      

66,,554433,,555599

$$              
      

Building Insurance

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

1,263

$        
   

11,,226633

$$              
              

      

Property Taxes

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

3,071

$        
   

33,,007711

$$              
              

      

Maintenance

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

1,667

$        
   

11,,666677

$$              
              

      

Common Area Cleaning

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

605

$        
      

660055

$$              
              

            

Common Utilitie
s

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

303

$        
      

330033

$$              
              

            

Supplies

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

142

$        
      

114422

$$              
              

            

Accounting

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

167

$        
      

116677

$$              
              

            

Capital Reserve

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

375

$        
      

337755

$$              
              

            

Management Fee

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

3,844

$        
   

33,,884444

$$              
              

      

TToottaall  OOppeerraattiinngg  EExxppeennsseess::

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              
  

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

1111,,443355

$$              

1111,,443355

$$              
              

  

TTOOTTAALL  EEXXPPEENNSSEESS  --  YYEEAARR  11::
66,,555544,,999944

$$              
      

MMoorrttggaaggee  ((PP  ++  II))

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

--

$$              
              

              

NNEETT  IINNCCOOMMEE  ((CCaasshh  FFllooww))

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              
  

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

--
$$              

              

CCUUMMUULLAATTIIVVEE  NNEETT  IINNCCOOMMEE

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-

$        
        

 

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

-
$        

        

OP
ER

AT
IN

G

HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  - 2720 MINNESOTA AVE., BILLINGS, MT 59101

411-417 NORTH LAST CHANCE GULCH, HELENA, MT  59601

FINANCIAL PRO FORMA ANALYSIS

CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
ON

IRON FRONT BUILDING FEASIBILITY

13 MARCH 2024

5.A Cash Flow

Egress stairs in historic buildings with sprinklers may remain open  (Crowley Block)

An accessible public restroom 
 

 
 

(Montana Hall, MSU)

Page 24 of 28 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS

IR
O

N
 F

R
O

N
T 

 | 
  F

E
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
FE

B
R

U
A

R
Y 

20
24

 

BUILDING CODE ANALYSIS SUMMARY

The building was analyzed using the current adopted 

building code in Montana, the 2021 International Existing 

Building Code (IEBC) as well as the 2021 International 

Building Code (IBC). The IEBC provides more latitude when 

existing elements do not comply with the current building 

code, especially in historic buildings. Any new construction 

or new systems in the building will need to comply with the 

current building code.

The code-required upgrades to the building are 

determined by the types of uses that will occur in the 

building. Some occupancy types, such as a B occupancy 

(professional offices) and M occupancy (mercantile/retail) 

are a relatively low risk for life safety because they have 

smaller concentrations of occupants who are ambulatory, 

conscious, and capable of self-preservation. Other 

occupancy types have greater risks to occupants and thus 

require lower hazard construction and greater life-safety 

systems to compensate. For example, an A occupancy 

(assembly) can have large concentrations of people who 

require more time to egress in a safe manner; an R-2 

occupancy (multifamily residential) will have unconscious/

sleeping occupants who may be slower to detect a threat 

like smoke.

The following are alterations required for the building to 

comply with the 2021 IEBC when more than 50% of the 

building area is altered:

Egress

•	 A new egress stair will need to be provided serving all four 

levels of the building. The new stair must be located on 

the east end of the building (Jackson Street side) and be 

accessible to all first-floor commercial tenants from the east 

end of the building to provide adequate emergency egress 

from the relatively long and narrow commercial spaces on 

the first floor.

•	 Because the building code requires the new stairway to 

serve all four floor levels, the existing fire escapes on the 

east side of the building may be removed.

This renovation of the fourth floor made the Iron Front a significant 

social destination in downtown Helena, as noted by its designation 

plaque as a contributing member of the Helena Historic District, 

“The fourth story ballroom features an oak floor once billed as the 

best dance floor in the West.” The ballroom and banquet room still 

host events today, with the fourth floor bearing the euphonious 

name, “The Windsor Ballroom,” a nod to the site’s original hotel.

The Iron Front building is listed as a contributing member of the 

Helena Historic District and qualifies for listing independently on 

the National Register of Historic Places based on criteria C: 

C. Buildings that embody the distinctive characteristics of a 

type, period, or method of construction, or that represent 

the work of a master, or that possess high artistic values, 

or that represent a significant and distinguishable en-

tity whose components may lack individual distinction: 

Heinlein and Matthias designed the Iron Front Building to 

replace a masonry hotel that existed on the same site with a 

bigger, more grand, and more profitable commercial struc-

ture. The cast-iron primary façade is a stand-out example 

of an architectural style popularized on the east coast some 

30 years earlier. The iron front itself came from the Stedman 

Foundry, an important business in Helena, that was located 

just two blocks away from the building site. The addition 

of the ballroom to the fourth floor in 1916 was designed by 

noted Montana architecture firm Link & Haire.

The historic qualities of the Iron Front building are an asset to the 

community and qualify it for funding resources to assist with re-

pairs and rehabilitation. These potential funding resources include 

historic tax credits, syndicated so they can become part of the 

project’s capital stack, and various grants, including the Montana 

Historic Preservation Grant. Additionally, a building listed in the Na-

tional Register of Historic Places has more latitude in the existing 

building code, potentially avoiding some required measures and 

corresponding construction costs.

The Iron Front Building, 2023

The Iron Front Building, ca. 1940s

Page 8 of 28 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS

IR
O

N
 F

R
O

N
T 

 | 
  F

E
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
FE

B
R

U
A

R
Y 

20
24

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The historic Iron Front Building is an important part of downtown 

Helena’s commercial and community life. Built in 1888, the 

building has been in continuous use since its completion and has 

hosted a variety of commercial and residential uses. The Iron Front 

has undeniable presence and style. A 1916 renovation to the fourth 

floor saw the addition of a large ballroom that is still a popular 

venue today. A long line of commercial ventures have come and 

gone in the first floor commercial spaces, and some have stayed: 

since 1971, the Iron Front has been home to The General Mercantile.

Increasing maintenance demands and an electrical fire in the 

summer of 2023 raised awareness of the need for infrastructure 

improvements to the Iron Front, to be conducted along with 

restoration after the fire. With three ground-floor commercial 

storefronts, two stories of (now vacant) residential space, and a 

fourth floor that boasts one of the city’s most historic ballrooms, 

the Iron Front Building has a lot to offer. The goal of this study is 

to provide recommendations to restore the Iron Front Building, 

preserving its historic character, restoring the areas left vacant by 

the fire, and preparing the building for the next one hundred and 

thirty years of its service life.

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
IR

O
N

 F
R

O
N

T 
 | 

  F
E

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

FE
B

R
U

A
R

Y 
20

24

Page 5 of 28 

EXISTING CONDITIONS
StructuralThe structural system of the Iron Front Building consists of three 

load-bearing exterior masonry walls and a primary façade framed 

and skinned in cast iron. Two interior load-bearing masonry walls 

run east to west and divide the building into thirds. The north 

interior masonry wall extends to the roof level; the south interior 

masonry wall extends to the fourth-floor level and supports the 

ballroom floor mid-span. The north interior masonry wall has large 

openings in the northwest corner on both the second and third 

floor levels where the historic grand stairways meet the corridor. 

These openings are framed by timber beams and decoratively 

shaped timber columns. 
Masonry

The north and south exterior masonry walls are rubble masonry 

with brick integrated to frame window lintels and jambs. 

Windowsills at the second and third floor levels are stone, while 

windowsills at the fourth-floor level are brick. Both the south and 

east facades feature a tall brick parapet that encloses the fourth-

floor ballroom. On the south façade, this parapet steps down to the 

original west façade height. 

The east exterior masonry wall is red brick; windows on all floor 

levels have stone windowsills. Two brick chimneys project from the 

east façade. The north chimney is demolished down to the third-

floor level; the south chimney extends above the ballroom roof 

height. Two light metal fire escapes provide egress from window 

openings converted into egress doors at both the third and fourth 

floor levels and a variety of surface mounted electrical wires and 

conduit are mounted to the east façade. 

The north façade matches the south façade and features a 

low parapet wall of stone masonry that has been capped by a 

membrane roof and metal flashing.

Windows
Two windows on the east façade were removed and infilled with 

brick during construction of the ballroom. Four windows on the 

east façade were removed and replaced with doors to the fire 

escape. All other original single hung wood windows remain. 

South facade

Iron Front west facade on North Last Chance Gulch

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS

IR
O

N
 F

R
O

N
T 

 | 
  F

E
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
FE

B
R

U
A

R
Y 

20
24

Page 9 of 28 

BUILDING HISTORYThe Iron Front Hotel, also known as the Templeton Hotel, Windsor 

House, and Odd Fellows Hall, was designed and built in Helena, 

Montana in 1888. The building is masonry construction with a 

notable iron façade, a fine example of the westward expansion of 

American design popularized by the Chicago School.

Historically, there were a number of large hotels offering short 

and long-term lodging to people in Helena. This resulted from the 

tremendous growth in population during the decade that followed 

the railroads’ arrival in Helena in 1883. Apartment houses, rental 

properties, and large hotels proliferated during that period, and 

downtown changed accordingly. The Iron Front Hotel replaced 

a smaller masonry hotel, the Windsor House, and bore the same 

name for some time.Architecturally, the Iron Front Hotel is one of few buildings in 

Montana representing the technique of pre-fabricated iron font 

construction. Helena architects Heinlein and Matthias are not 

known to have designed any other buildings of this sort, but they 

embraced the opportunity afforded by this different construction 

method and the nearby Steadman Foundry. This pre-skyscraper 

construction technique exemplified Helena’s progress toward an 

increasingly urban character as the town flourished and expanded.

In 1915 the building was purchased by the Independent Order of 

Odd Fellows, who hired Montana architects Link & Haire to design 

an extensive remodel of the fourth floor, as described in the Helena 

Independent, May 2, 1916: “The back portion of the top floor of the building has been 

built up, and a new roof is being installed. It is on the 

fourth floor that the lodge room proper will be located. The 

dimensions of this room will be 44 by 75 feet, with a 23-

foot ceiling. 
In the front portion of the lodge room will be three rooms, 

including two parlors and a reception room, back of which 

will be the entrance hall, ante rooms, dressing and para-

phernalia rooms. On the opposite side will be the banquet 

room, 60 feet long and 25 feet wide. The lodge room has a 

gallery around three sides. The hall will be finished in hard-

wood and will be beautifully furnished.”

The Windsor House; a three-story hotel that pre-dated the Iron Front

The Iron Front Building, ca. 1915. Courtesy of Tom Mulvaney H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS

IR
O

N
 F

R
O

N
T 

 | 
  F

E
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
FE

B
R

U
A

R
Y 

20
24

Page 7 of 28 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The historic Iron Front Building is an important part of downtown 

Helena’s commercial and community life. Built in 1888, the 
building has been in continuous use since its completion and has 

hosted a variety of commercial and residential uses. The Iron Front 

has undeniable presence and style. A 1916 renovation to the fourth 

floor saw the addition of a large ballroom that is still a popular 
venue today. A long line of commercial ventures have come and 
gone in the first floor commercial spaces, and some have stayed: 

since 1971, the Iron Front has been home to The General Mercantile.
Increasing maintenance demands and an electrical fire in the 
summer of 2023 raised awareness of the need for infrastructure 
improvements to the Iron Front, to be conducted along with 
restoration after the fire. With three ground-floor commercial 
storefronts, two stories of (now vacant) residential space, and a 
fourth floor that boasts one of the city’s most historic ballrooms, 
the Iron Front Building has a lot to offer. The goal of this study is 
to provide recommendations to restore the Iron Front Building, 
preserving its historic character, restoring the areas left vacant by 

the fire, and preparing the building for the next one hundred and 

thirty years of its service life.

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
IR

O
N

 F
R

O
N

T 
 | 

  F
E

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

FE
B

R
U

A
R

Y 
20

24

Page 5 of 28 

IRON FRONT BUILDING

FEASIBILITY STUDY
MARCH 2024

LOCATED AT:
411 - 417 N LAST CHANCE GULCH
HELENA, MT 59601

PREPARED FOR:
GOTLIEB’S 5 LLC 
3205 WHEATLAND DR.
HELENA, MT 59602

PREPARED BY:
HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS
2720 MINNESOTA AVE
BILLINGS, MT 59101

12 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

IRON FRONT BUILDING FEASIBILITY STUDY

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS:  
Following a fire, the majority of a 4-story, 32,000-square-
foot historic building was deemed unusable. High Plains 
Architects developed two renovation floor plan options, 
conducted a comprehensive building code analysis, 
and proposed historic preservation and green design 
strategies. Additionally, we prepared a construction 
cost estimate, identified funding assistance sources, 
and created a financial pro forma demonstrating the 
project’s potential for positive cash flow. The financial 
pro forma was developed iteratively alongside the floor 
plans, enabling the owner to determine the optimal mix 
of uses to achieve financial sustainability.

LOCATION: Helena, MT

COMPLETED: March 2024

REFERENCE:
Beau Stumberg
Blue Pine Property Management
44 North Last Chance Gulch, Suite 19
Helena, MT 59601
(406) 439-2884
Beau@BluePineMontana.com

First Floor Concept Plan

Third Floor Concept Plan Fourth Floor Concept Plan

Second Floor Concept Plan



0’ 5’ 10’ 15’ 25’

Page 46 of 56 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

0
24

 

CONCEPT PLANS - BASEMENT

UP

UP

MECHANICAL
±165 SF

ARCHIVE
±270 SF

LIFT

STORAGE
±515 SF

STORAGE
±340 SF

WORKSHOP
±370 SF

EXHIBITS
±4,000 SF

Open Stair 
to First Floor

Existing Staff Stair 
to First Floor

N

Museum Support Space

Mechanical Space

Exhibit Space

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

0
24

Page 47 of 56 

CONCEPT PLANS - FIRST FLOOR

Exterior Egress Stair

Admissions & 
Sale Counter

Open Stair 
to Basement

Reactivated Egress Door 
Through Exist. Window

Staff Stair to 
Basement

Exterior Egress Stair

TENANT ENTRY & LOBBY
±230 SF

M
ai

l B
ox

es

GIFT SHOP
±470 SF

COMMUNITY ROOM
±2,170 SF

EXHIBITS
±1,320 SF

OFFICE
±200 SFLIFT

STORAGE

Restroom

Restroom

LOBBY

Vestibule

CATERING KITCHEN

SHARED PUBLIC SPACE
±1,000 SF

0’ 5’ 10’ 15’ 25’

Museum Space

N

Shared Public Space

Community Space

Tenant Space

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

0
24

Page 49 of 56 

CONCEPT PLANS -THIRD FLOOR

DN

305
2-BED UNIT

±570 SF

EXTERIOR 
EGRESS STAIR

EXISTING STAIR

303
1-BED UNIT

±525 SF

301
1-BED UNIT

±450 SF

307
1-BED UNIT

±450 SF

306
2-BED UNIT

±695 SF

302
STUDIO
±330 SF

304
2-BED UNIT

±545 SF

N

Studio
Third Floor Program:
(7) Total Units
(1) Studio
(3) 1-Bed Units
(3) 2-Bed Units

1 - Bed Unit

2 - Bed Unit 0’ 5’ 10’ 15’ 25’

Page 48 of 56 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

0
24

 

UP

DN

206
STUDIO
±300 SF

207
1-BED UNIT

±300 SF

ROOF DECK
±370 SF

EXTERIOR 
EGRESS STAIR

EXISTING STAIR

203
1-BED UNIT

±525 SF

201
1-BED UNIT

±370 SF

210
1-BED UNIT

±450 SF

208
1-BED UNIT

±330 SF

209
STUDIO
±300 SF

202
STUDIO
±330 SF

205
STUDIO
±300 SF

204
STUDIO
±250 SF

CONCEPT PLANS - SECOND FLOOR

N

Studio
Second Floor Program:
(10) Total Units
(5) Studios
(5) 1-Bed Units

1 - Bed Unit

2 - Bed Unit 0’ 5’ 10’ 15’ 25’

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The historic Iron Front Building is an important part of downtown 

Helena’s commercial and community life. Built in 1888, the 

building has been in continuous use since its completion and has 

hosted a variety of commercial and residential uses. The Iron Front 

has undeniable presence and style. A 1916 renovation to the fourth 

floor saw the addition of a large ballroom that is still a popular 

venue today. A long line of commercial ventures have come and 

gone in the first floor commercial spaces, and some have stayed: 

since 1971, the Iron Front has been home to The General Mercantile.

Increasing maintenance demands and an electrical fire in the 

summer of 2023 raised awareness of the need for infrastructure 

improvements to the Iron Front, to be conducted along with 

restoration after the fire. With three ground-floor commercial 

storefronts, two stories of (now vacant) residential space, and a 

fourth floor that boasts one of the city’s most historic ballrooms, 

the Iron Front Building has a lot to offer. The goal of this study is 

to provide recommendations to restore the Iron Front Building, 

preserving its historic character, restoring the areas left vacant by 

the fire, and preparing the building for the next one hundred and 

thirty years of its service life.

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TS

IR
O

N
 F

R
O

N
T 

 | 
  F

EA
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

FE
B

R
U

A
R

Y 
20

24

Page 5 of 28 

Page 2 of 12 

Appendix B

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TS

G
R

A
N

IT
E 

C
O

U
N

TY
 M

U
SE

U
M

  |
   

FE
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
M

A
R

C
H

 2
02

4 

Unit
Count

Unit Cost

R.O.M.

Cost per S.F.
% of Sub-

Total

A.DEMOLITION/EXISTING CONDITIONS

Selective Demo. - Doors

Demo/remove and re-use existing doors.

Each
50

147.00

$         
   

7,350.00

$         
         

         
   

0.48

$         
        

Selective Demo. - Lath & Plaster
Demo damaged L&P from select walls, 2nd, 3rd floor

S.F. Wall
2520

7.50

$         
        

18,900.00

$         
         

         
 

1.23

$         
        

Selective Demo. - Lath & Plaster Ceilings Demo existing L&P from ceilings, 50% 2nd and 3rd floor

S.F. Ceiling
2907

8.65

$         
        

25,145.55

$         
         

         
 

1.64

$         
        

Selective Demo. - Foor Assembly
Demo for new stair and lift, b

asement to 1st floor

S.F.
200

30.75

$         
      

6,150.00

$         
         

         
   

0.40

$         
        

Selective Demo. - Carpet

Removal of existing carpet 1st, 2nd, 3rd, select locations

S.F.
5814

5.35

$         
        

31,104.90

$         
         

         
 

2.02

$         
        

Selective Demo. - Flooring

Removal of existing laminate/vinyl/misc. flooring, 2nd and 3rd

S.F. 
1449

8.00

$         
        

11,592.00

$         
         

         
 

0.75

$         
        

Selective Demo. - windows

Removal of existing windows

Each
92

250.00

$         
   

23,000.00

$         
         

         
 

1.50

$         
        

Selective Demo. - main level floor
Demo main floor for new stair and lift

S.F. Floor
200

20.00

$         
      

4,000.00

$         
         

         
   

0.26

$         
        

Selective Demo. - Fire escape

Demo south fire escape

Each

1

2,000.00

$         

2,000.00

$         
         

         
   

0.13

$         
        

Selective Demo - Mechanical

Remove existing abandoned boiler in basement

Each

1

4,000.00

$         

4,000.00

$         
         

         
   

0.26

$         
        

B. SUBSTRUCTURE

1020 Special Foundations

new thickened slab under lift

C.Y.
8

1,545.00

$         

12,360.00

$         
         

         
 

0.80

$         
        

1020 Special Foundations

New spread footings under column point loads for exterior stair

Each

8

300.00

$         
   

2,400.00

$         
         

         
   

0.16

$         
        

1030 Slab on Ground

New 4" reinforced concrete -at new exterior stair (10'x18') and 

walkways

S.F. Slab
430

7.22

$         
        

3,104.60

$         
         

         
   

0.20

$         
        

2010 Basement Excavation

Site preparation for slab and trench foundation wall and footing
S.F. Ground

200

0.38

$         
        

76.00

$         
         

         
         

0.00

$         
        

2020 Basement Walls

N/A

-
$         

         
 

-

$         
         

         
         

    

-
$         

         
 

C. SHELL

B10 Super Structure

1010 Floor Construction Reinforcement
Reinforce existing floor diaphragm

S.F. Floor
200

6.15

$         
        

1,230.00

$         
         

         
   

0.08

$         
        

1020 Roof Construction

N/A

S.F. Roof
0

13.02

$         
      

-

$         
         

         
         

    

-
$         

         
 

B20 Exterior Enclosure

2010 Exterior Walls

Repoint brick as needed

S.F. Wall
300

6.00

$         
        

1,800.00

$         
         

         
   

0.12

$         
        

2020 Exterior Windows

Aluminum clad to closely resemble historic look in brick exterior walls.  

UV protective coating on museum perimeter

Each
92

2,440.00

$         

224,480.00

$         
         

        

14.61

$         
      

2030 Exterior Doors

Steel door, hollow metal with frame

Each

5

4,488.00

$         

22,440.00

$         
         

         
 

1.46

$         
        

Attic Insulation

cellulose insulation, R-49 min

S.F. Roof
6000

6.00

$         
        

36,000.00

$         
         

         
 

1.46

$         
        

exterior wall insulation

2" EPS w/ embedded nail strip

S.F. Wall
10800

3.00

$         
        

32,400.00

$         
         

         
 

2.11

$         
        

B30 Roofing

3010 Roof Coverings

New membrane roof if deemed necessary 

S.F. Roof
5702

10.00

$         
      

57,020.00

$         
         

         
 

3.71

$         
        

3011 Roof Coverings

New roof deck on pedestals.

S.F. Roof
370

50.00

$         
      

18,500.00

$         
         

         
 

1.20

$         
        

3020 Roof Openings

N/A

-

0

-
$         

         
 

-

$         
         

         
         

    

-
$         

         
 

D. INTERIORS

1010 Partitio
ns

Gypsum board on wood studs

S.F. Wall
3150

8.44

$         
        

26,586.00

$         
         

         
 

1.73

$         
        

1020 Interior Doors

Interior, single leaf doors, frames and hardware

Each
30

1,351.00

$         

40,530.00

$         
         

         
 

2.64

$         
        

1030 Fittings

Residential wall and base wood cabinets, laminate counters

S.F. Floor
285

6.00

$         
        

1,710.00

$         
         

         
   

0.11

$         
        

2010 Stair Construction

Wood stairs with wood rails

Flight
3

4,005.00

$         

12,015.00

$         
         

         
 

0.78

$         
        

3010 Wall Finishes

95% paint, 5% ceramic wall tile

S.F. Wall
3800

1.60

$         
        

6,080.00

$         
         

         
   

0.40

$         
        

8.1%

Granite County Museum & Cultural Center

Costs calculated for a 3 story building w/ basement, approx imately 10'-0" story height, 21,046 square feet 

(including basement), using RSMeans 2023 Cost Data.

HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS - 2720 Minnesota Ave, Billings, MT 59101

MARCH 2024

B. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF PROBABLE COSTS

135 S. Sansome St., Philipsburg, MT 59858

1.1%

0.1%

18.4%

4.6%

11.6%

B.Const Costs

Program

Area (SF Estimates) Quantity
Notes

B
as

em
en

t

Exhibit Space

4,000

Archives

270

1

Workshop

370

1

Storage

TBD

2
Museum storage space is dependent on required mechanical space.

Mechanical

TBD

1
Existing mechanical space might need to increase to allow for new 

mechanical.

Existing Stair

N/A

1
Existing staff stair to basement might require modifications per code.

New Stair

TBD

1
New open stair connecting the basement and first floor.

Lift

TBD

1
New lift connecting the basement and first floor.

Fi
rs

t 
Fl

oo
r

Lobby

1
Shared lobby for museum and community room.

Community Room

2,170

1
Event space separate from the museum that can be rented to the 

public.

Catering Kitchen

TBD

1
Located within community room for events.

Office

200

1
Museum administrative office.

Admissions/Sales Counter
TBD

1
Centrally located admissions/sales counter that serves museum patrons 

upon entrance.

Gift Shop

470

1
Gift shop located adjacent to sales counter and entrance.

Exhibit Space

1,320

1

Restroom

TBD

2
Restrooms shared between museum and community room.

(1) Male Restroom with plumbing fixtures per code.

(1) Female Restroom with plumbing fixtures per code.

Tenant Entrance & Lobby

230

1
Private entry for residential tenants utilizing historic entrance.

Existing Stair

N/A

1
Existing historic stair connecting the first floor to the upper levels.

New Stair

TBD

1
New stair connecting the first floor and basement.

Lift

TBD

1
New lift connecting the first floor and basement

Exterior Egress Stairs

TBD

1
New exterior egress stair on the west facade.

Page 44 of 56 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

02
4 

PROJECT PROGRAM
BUILDING HISTORY

The Courtney Hotel, located in Philipsburg, Montana, has served as 

a community staple since its establishment. Constructed in 1918 for 

brothers Maurice and Humphrey Courtney, the building has witnessed 

a diverse range of uses over the years.

Originally hailing from Florence, New York, Maurice and Humphrey 

Courtney relocated to Butte, Montana in the 1890s, where they worked 

as miners. They later moved to Philipsburg, where they found success 

with their manganese mine, the Kentucky Favorite. Using profits 

from their mine during World War I, the Courtney brothers enlisted 

the services of building contractor Clifton, Applegate, and Lawler to 

bring the Courtney Hotel to life. Prior to the hotel’s construction, the 

site housed “two Chinese laundries… located in buildings constructed 

of unfinished lumber.”1 Construction of the new masonry building 

commenced in 1918, and by 1919, the hotel was completed and 

operational. 2

The muti-purpose building housed the Granite County Garage in 

the basement and a car dealership and showroom for Overland 

automobiles on the first floor. The second and third floors had offices 

and hotel rooms, each equipped with a porcelain sink. Some rooms 

featured private bathrooms, while others shared communal facilities 

in the hallways. 

Under the Courtney brothers’ stewardship, the building served the 

community in various capacities, in addition to the mechanics shop, 

car dealership, and hotel; office spaces were leased to professionals 

like physicians, surgeons, optometrists, deputy tax collectors, furriers, 

mattress repairmen, and beauticians. Hotel rooms were regularly 

occupied by permanent residents, miners, schoolteachers, and 

travelers.

Humphrey Courtney managed the hotel from 1919 until his retirement 

in 1957. The property was then acquired by Jack and Gert Lorenz, who 

renovated and reopened it as the Pintlar Hotel in June 1958. The first-

floor car dealership was transformed into a restaurant and bar, with 

two dining rooms, a bar, and a cocktail lounge. The remodel also 

featured a lobby with a hotel desk extending into the hall.3

1   GCHS Problems Class. “Early Philipsburg History Chinatown.” Philipsburg Mail, August 7, 2014.

2   Stafford, Michael. “Upstairs’ Shadows Reveal the Former Life of the Museum.” Philipsburg Mail, September 

2, 2010.

3   Stafford, Michael. “Former Hoteliers Remember the Golden Days of Yesteryear.” Philipsburg Mail, September 

2, 2010. 

Courtney Hotel, 1918

Philipsburg Mail Advertisements, 1930s

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

0
24

Page 7 of 56 

Bros” and the construction year, 1918. A decorative sheet metal cornice 

seamlessly wraps the corner from the east façade to the south façade, 

contributing to the building’s overall architectural charm. Just below 

the cornice, a patterned band of basket weave masonry and a narrow 

belt course, consisting of two rows of bricks laid in a common bond 

pattern, traverse the building’s face. Further down, a single row of 

soldier course brick runs across the façade, serving as the header for 

the third-floor windows, while the first and second-floor windows 

boast jack arch masonry headers. A belt course of rowlock brick, 

wrapping around to both the north and south façade, serves as the sill 

for the second-floor windows. The remaining first floor and third-floor 

windows have individual rowlock brick sills.

Positioned at the center of the east façade is the main entrance to 

the building. This historically significant entrance, originally designed 

for vehicle ingress and egress from the car showroom, now features a 

square recessed entry with double doors flanked by side-lites. Above 

the entrance, a non-original fabric awning provides shelter from the 

elements. Towards the north end of the façade, a framed wall marks 

the location of the historic hotel entrance door, with the original 

triangular door portico anchoring above it.

South Façade:

The south façade of the Courtney Hotel is highly visible and acts as 

a continuation of the east façade. It features raked multicolored face 

bricks arranged in a running bond pattern. The concrete basement 

foundation wall is more prominent as it extends from the sloping 

ground to the first floor window sills. 

Continuing from the east façade, the metal cornice extends across 

the entirety of the south facade. Mirroring the east facade’s design 

elements, a patterned band of basket weave masonry and a narrow 

belt course, composed of two rows of bricks laid in a common bond 

pattern, adorn the building’s face just below the cornice. Consistent 

with the design language, a single row of soldier course brick spans 

the facade, serving as the header for the third-floor windows. The first 

and second floor windows have a steel lintel rather than a masonry 

header. A continuous belt course of rowlock brick acts as the sill for 

the second floor windows, while individual rowlock sills grace the third 

floor windows. Abutting the foundation wall, the first floor windows 

feature concrete sills. Additionally, a metal fire escape facilitates 

egress from the second and third floors, with a second-floor window 

repurposed as a door to ensure convenient access.

West Façade:
The west facade, oriented towards the rear portion of the lot, serves 

as a secondary face of the building. Notably, it offers insight into the 

layout of the structure, with the second and third floors creating a 

recessed void within the façade and overlooking the first-floor roof. 

Diverging from the decorative elements found on the east and south 

North Facade, 2024

West Facade, 2024

Page 10 of 56 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

0
24

 

Page 6 of 12 

Appendix B

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

02
4 Granite County Museum & Cultural CenterHIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS - 2720 Minnesota Ave, Billings, MT 59101

MARCH 2024

C. PROJECTED INCOME WORKSHEET

135 S. Sansome St., Philipsburg, MT 59858

TTHHIIRRDD  FFLLOOOORR  --  RREESSIIDDEENNTTIIAALL  AAPPAARRTTMMEENNTTSS
Space Name

BDRM  Rentable Area (SF) Rent/SF /mo. Rent/SF/yr Rent Income/mo. Rent Income/yr.
%AMI

301

1
450

$2.56

$1,150
$13,800

78%

302

E
330

$2.88

$950
$11,400

74%

303

1
525

$2.10

$1,100
$13,200

75%

304

2
545

$2.20

$1,200
$14,400

73%

305

2
570

$2.19

$1,250
$15,000

76%

306

2
695

$1.87

$1,300
$15,600

79%

307

1
450

$2.44

$1,100
$13,200

75%

RReessiiddeennttiiaall  SSuubbttoottaall

33556655
$2.26

$$88,,005500
$$9966,,660000

CIRCULATION

1,236
             

LAUNDRY/MECH

55
                   

CCoommmmoonn  SSuubbttoottaall

1,291
             

$$00

$$00

LLeevveell  SSuubbttoottaall

44,,885566
                        

$$88,,005500
$$9966,,660000

PPOOTTEENNTTIIAALL  AANNNNUUAALL  IINNCCOOMMEE

1122,,994466
                    

SSFF

$$1199,,660077
$$223355,,228855

POTENTIAL ANNUAL INCOME - COMMERCIAL

2,777
             

SF

$13,885

Less Vacancy Rate Of
0%

$0

CCOOMMMMEERRCCIIAALL  SSUUBBTTOOTTAALL
$13,885

POTENTIAL ANNUAL INCOME - RESIDENTIAL

7,030
             

SF

$221,400

Less Vacancy Rate Of
3%

-$6,642

RREESSIIDDEENNTTIIAALL  SSUUBBTTOOTTAALL
$214,758

GGRROOSSSS  AANNNNUUAALL  IINNCCOOMMEE

Less Vacancy

$$222288,,664433

C.P.I.W.

BUILDING HISTORYThe Courtney Hotel, located in Philipsburg, Montana, has served as 

a community staple since its establishment. Constructed in 1918 for 

brothers Maurice and Humphrey Courtney, the building has witnessed 

a diverse range of uses over the years.
Originally hailing from Florence, New York, Maurice and Humphrey 

Courtney relocated to Butte, Montana in the 1890s, where they worked 

as miners. They later moved to Philipsburg, where they found success 

with their manganese mine, the Kentucky Favorite. Using profits 

from their mine during World War I, the Courtney brothers enlisted 

the services of building contractor Clifton, Applegate, and Lawler to 

bring the Courtney Hotel to life. Prior to the hotel’s construction, the 

site housed “two Chinese laundries… located in buildings constructed 

of unfinished lumber.” 1 Construction of the new masonry building 

commenced in 1918, and by 1919, the hotel was completed and 

operational. 2

The muti-purpose building housed the Granite County Garage in 

the basement and a car dealership and showroom for Overland 

automobiles on the first floor. The second and third floors had offices 

and hotel rooms, each equipped with a porcelain sink. Some rooms 

featured private bathrooms, while others shared communal facilities 

in the hallways. 
Under the Courtney brothers’ stewardship, the building served the 

community in various capacities, in addition to the mechanics shop, 

car dealership, and hotel; office spaces were leased to professionals 

like physicians, surgeons, optometrists, deputy tax collectors, furriers, 

mattress repairmen, and beauticians. Hotel rooms were regularly 

occupied by permanent residents, miners, schoolteachers, and 

travelers.
Humphrey Courtney managed the hotel from 1919 until his retirement 

in 1957. The property was then acquired by Jack and Gert Lorenz, who 

renovated and reopened it as the Pintlar Hotel in June 1958. The first-

floor car dealership was transformed into a restaurant and bar, with 

two dining rooms, a bar, and a cocktail lounge. The remodel also 

featured a lobby with a hotel desk extending into the hall.3

1   GCHS Problems Class. “Early Philipsburg History Chinatown.” Philipsburg Mail, August 7, 2014.

2   Stafford, Michael. “Upstairs’ Shadows Reveal the Former Life of the Museum.” Philipsburg Mail, September 

2, 2010.

3   Stafford, Michael. “Former Hoteliers Remember the Golden Days of Yesteryear.” Philipsburg Mail, September 

2, 2010. 

Courtney Hotel, 1918

Philipsburg Mail Advertisements, 1930s

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

0
24

Page 7 of 56 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
High Plains Architects, P.C. (HPA) has compiled this feasibility study 

for the Granite County Museum and Cultural Center, which owns the 

historic Courtney Hotel building in Philipsburg, Montana.  This report 

provides a brief building history, documentation of existing conditions 

with plans and photos, project program, concept plans, proposed 

renovations, and sustainable strategies.  It examines opportunities 

with the existing historic building to enhance the experience of 

museum visitors and community space users, maintain its historic 

character, and provide critically needed housing in the local area.
The history of the Courtney Hotel dates back more than one hundred 

years.  It has housed a variety of uses serving the changing needs 

of the surrounding area and the era.  HPA explored options for 

converting the second and third level hotel rooms into rentable 

apartments. One concept provides affordable one- and two-bedroom 

apartment options for young working individuals and couples.  By 

revitalizing a building near downtown with 17 rentable units, it reduces 

development sprawl and adds vibrancy to downtown.Rentable income from apartment units and community space could 

provide income to pay museum staff and expand the museum’s hours 

of operation so it is full time and year-round.  In turn, this would expand 

the impact of museum exhibits and archives, with more visitors from 

across the state, nation, and globe, enabling a unique experience and 

snapshot back in time that can only be found at the historic Courtney 

Hotel Building.
Sustainable strategies can overcome some of the energy challenges 

that often come with historic buildings.  Improving the building 

thermal envelope and taking advantage of phase change thermal 

mass materials will help minimize the mechanical equipment 

systems.  Maximizing daylight and good air quality reduces energy 

consumption and improves the user experience, while low flow 

water fixtures reduce water consumption. On-site renewable power 

generation can also reduce the building’s energy footprint.The Appendices at the end of this report include financial analysis, 

zoning & code analysis, and notes from owner meetings.

Band in front of Courtney Hotel, 1920s

Town of Philipsburg, MT, 1920s - 1930s; Courtney Hotel Located on the right

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

0
24

Page 5 of 56 

FEASIBILITY STUDY
MARCH 2024

PREPARED FOR:
GRANITE COUNTY MUSEUM & 
CULTURAL CENTER
135 S SANSOME ST
PHILIPSBURG,MT 59858

PREPARED BY:
HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS
2720 MINNESOTA AVE
BILLINGS, MT 59101

GRANITE COUNTY MUSEUM & CULTURAL CENTER

13HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

Basement Concept Plan First Floor Concept Plan

Third Floor Concept PlanThird Floor Concept Plan

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS:  
The 3-story, 10,000-square-foot historic Courtney Hotel 
has long housed the Granite County Museum on its 
first floor and basement, while the upper floors have 
remained unused for decades. To enhance their space 
and create housing, the Granite County Museum board 
hired High Plains Architects to assess the feasibility of 
renovating the historic building. Our study measured 
the building, assessed existing conditions, established 
project goals, developed floor plan concepts, analyzed 
building codes, estimated construction costs, and 
identified funding opportunities. Our financial pro forma 
showed positive cash flow if renovated in a manner that 
qualified for historic tax credits.

LOCATION: Philipsburg, MT

COMPLETED: March 2024

REFERENCE:
Penny Murray
135 S Sansome St.
Philipsburg, MT 59858
pennymurray@msn.com

GRANITE COUNTY MUSEUM & CULTURAL CENTER FEASIBILITY



D1. REMODEL COSTS

BBUUIILLDDIINNGG  PPUURRCCHHAASSEE

AAmmoouunntt
UUnniitt

$$//UUnniitt

SSuubbttoottaall
NNootteess

Existing Property

1

EA

-

$        
        

    

-

$        
        

        
  

Excludes any lending

-

$        
        

        
  

TToottaall  PPuurrcchhaassee  CCoosstt::

--

$$              
              

              
      

HHAARRDD  CCOOSSTTSS

AAmmoouunntt
UUnniitt

$$//UUnniitt

SSuubbttoottaall
NNootteess

Construction

2,500
        

SF

298.80

$        
     

747,000

$        
        

 

See "B.Const. Costs"; Apt floor 

area, not whole bldg

Liability Insurance

0%

of

747,000

$        
   

-

$        
        

        
  

Assumed included in above

Contractor O+P

0%

of

747,000

$        
   

-

$        
        

        
  

Assumed included in above

Subtotal

747,000

$        
        

Const. Contingency

10%
of

747,000

$        
   

74,700

$        
        

  
% of Subtotal

Escalation (one year)

3.50%
of

747,000

$        
   

26,145

$        
        

  
% of Subtotal

TToottaall  HHaarrdd  CCoossttss::

884477,,884455

$$              
              

  

SSOOFFTT  CCOOSSTTSS

AAmmoouunntt
UUnniitt

$$//UUnniitt

SSuubbttoottaall
NNootteess

Design Fee

11.44%
of 

847,845

$        
   

96,967

$        
        

   

Architectural + Engineering as % 

of Const. Cost Total

Reimbursable Expenses ±

3.0%
of 

96,967

$        
     

2,909

$        
        

     

Supplementary Design Fees

1

EA

16,000

$        
     

16,000

$        
        

   
Civil, Data etc.

Initial Developer Fee (UFDS)

1

EA

10,000

$        
     

10,000

$        
        

   
Allowance, fee for service

Tax Credit Legal Services

1

EA

18,000

$        
     

18,000

$        
        

   

Placeholder, if r
equired to 

syndicate tax credits

Legal/Marketing

1

EA

5,000

$        
       

5,000

$        
        

     
Placeholder

Appraisal

1

EA

5,000

$        
       

5,000

$        
        

     
Placeholder

Construction Loan Closing 

Costs

1.1%
of

875,000

$        
   

9,625

$        
        

     

Title & Recording

1

EA

6,000

$        
       

6,000

$        
        

     
Placeholder

Insurance (Bldr's Risk and 

Liabiltiy)

1

EA

8,000

$        
       

8,000

$        
        

     
Placeholder

Interest During Construction

1

EA

33,000

$        
     

33,000

$        
        

   

Property Taxes during 

Construction

1

EA

7,780

$        
       

7,780

$        
        

     

Verify 2022 year's tax 

assessment

Other Fees (Plan Review & 

Building Permit)

0.80%
of

847,845

$        
   

6,783

$        
        

     

Operating Reserve

1

EA

25,000

$        
     

25,000

$        
        

   

Misc:

0

EA

-

$        
        

    

-

$        
        

        
  

TToottaall  SSoofftt  CCoossttss::

225500,,006644

$$              
              

  

TTOOTTAALL  PPRROOJJEECCTT  CCOOSSTTSS::

11,,009977,,990099

$$              
          

JM DONOVEN BUILDING

106 3RD AVENUE, HAVRE, MONTANA

HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS, P.C.  |  2720 MINNESOTA AVE, BILLINGS, MT  59101

FINANCIAL PRO FORMA ANALYSIS

12 MARCH 2024

1.Costs

BBAASSEEMMEENNTT

Space Name

Count Rentable Area (SF) Rent/SF/Mo. Rent/SF/yr
Rent Income/mo. Rent Income/yr.

HAVRE UNDERGROUND

-
                 

$0.00

$0

$0

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  SSuubbttoottaall

--
                                

$$00

$$00

Tenant Storage

0

0

$0.00

$0

$0

N/ARReessiiddeennttiiaall  SSuubbttoottaall

$$00

$$00

CIRCULATION

*

$0

EXT. WALLS, ETC.N/A

*

$0

CCoommmmoonn  SSuubbttoottaall

--
                                

LLeevveell  SSuubbttoottaall

--
                                

$$00

$$00

FFIIRRSSTT  FFLLOOOORR  --  CCOOMMMMEERRCCIIAALLSpace Name

 Rentable Area (SF) Rent/SF /mo. Rent/SF/yr
Rent Income/mo. Rent Income/yr.

101 - SALON

544

                

$12.13

$550

$6,600

102 - JEWELER

3,592

             

$8.35

$2,500
$30,000

103 - REALTOR

780

                

$10.77

$700

$8,400

104 - HAVRE U.G.

-
                 

$0.00

$0

$0

105 - DR'S OFFICE

864

                

$10.83

$780

$9,360

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  SSuubbttoottaall

55,,778800

                      

$$44,,553300
$$5544,,336600

CIRCULATION

*

RESTROOMS

*

CCoommmmoonn  SSuubbttoottaall
LLeevveell  SSuubbttoottaall

55,,778800

                      
iinncclluuddeess  ssoommee  bbssmmtt  SSFF

$$44,,553300
$$5544,,336600

SSEECCOONNDD  FFLLOOOORR  --  RREESSIIDDEENNTTIIAALL
Space Name

BDRM  Rentable Area (SF) Rent/SF /mo. Rent/SF/yr
Rent Income/mo. Rent Income/yr.

% AMI

201

2

534

$1.97

$1,050
$12,600

60%

202

1

317

$2.97

$940

$11,280
60%

203

1

406

$2.32

$940

$11,280
60%

204

E

265

$3.02

$800

$9,600
59%

RReessiiddeennttiiaall  SSuubbttoottaall

11552222

$$33,,773300
$$4444,,776600

CIRCULATION

395

                

*

MECH./STORAGE

50

                  

LAUNDRY

65

                  

$100

$1,200

ROOF DECK

565

                

*

CCoommmmoonn  SSuubbttoottaall

1,075

             

$1,200

LLeevveell  SSuubbttoottaall

22,,559977

                      

$$33,,773300
$$4455,,996600

PPOOTTEENNTTIIAALL  AANNNNUUAALL  IINNCCOOMMEE

55,,778800

                      
SSFF

$$44,,553300
$$110000,,332200

POTENTIAL ANNUAL INCOME - COMMERCIAL

5,780

             
SF

$54,360

Less Vacancy Rate Of
3%

-$1,631

CCOOMMMMEERRCCIIAALL  SSUUBBTTOOTTAALL
$52,729

POTENTIAL ANNUAL INCOME - RESIDENTIAL

-
                 

SF

$45,960

Less Vacancy Rate Of
5%

-$2,298

RREESSIIDDEENNTTIIAALL  SSUUBBTTOOTTAALL
$43,662

GGRROOSSSS  AANNNNUUAALL  IINNCCOOMMEE

Less Vacancy

$$9966,,339911

22002233,,  HHaavvrree,,  MMTT  

eeffffiicciieennccyy
11--bbddrr

22--bbddrr

6600%%  AAMMII

820

$              

939
$            

1,056

$           

8800%%  AAMMII

1,094

$           

1,252
$         

1,408

$           

110000%%  AAMMII

1,367

$           

1,565
$         

1,760

$           

JM DONOVEN BUILDING
HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS, P.C.  |  2720 MINNESOTA AVE, BILLINGS, MT  59101

12 MARCH 2024

C. PROJECTED INCOME WORKSHEET

106 3RD AVENUE, HAVRE, MONTANA

C.P.I.W.

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS

CONCEPTUAL DESIGN

Page 12 of 30 

JM
 D

O
N

O
V

E
N

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

  |
   

FE
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
M

A
R

C
H

  2
0

24

CONCEPT A 

■ (1) 2-BEDROOM

■ (2) 1 - BEDROOM

■ (1) EFFICIENCY DEPARTMENT

FLOOR PLAN 
1/8” = 1’-0”

■ SPRINKLERS ARE NOT REQUIRED

■ QUALIFIES FOR TAX CREDITS

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS

CONCEPTUAL DESIGN

Page 16 of 30 

JM
 D

O
N

O
V

E
N

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

  |
   

FE
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
M

A
R

C
H

  2
0

24

ROOF  DECK

ROOF DECK PLAN 
1/8” = 1’-0”

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS

CONCEPTUAL DESIGN

Page 14 of 30 

JM
 D

O
N

O
V

E
N

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

  |
   

FE
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
M

A
R

C
H

  2
0

24

CONCEPT D 

FLOOR PLAN 
1/8” = 1’-0”

■ (1) 2-BEDROOM

■ (2) 1-BEDROOM

■ (1) EFFICIENCY APPARTMENT

■ SPRINKLERS ARE NOT REQUIRED

■ DOES NOT QUALIFY FOR TAX
CREDITS

Perspective Sketch Concept Plan Option A

Roof Deck ConceptConcept Plan Option B

Unit
Count

Unit Cost
R.O.M.

Cost per S.F. % of Sub-Total

A. SUBSTRUCTURE1010 Standard Foundations

N/A

-

$                                 

-
$                   

B. SHELLB10 Super Structure1010 Floor Construction, Commercial First
Structural Improvement Allowance

S.F. Floor
2500

5.00
$                 

12,500.00

$                     

1.61
$                 

1010 Floor Construction, Apartments
Structural Improvement Allowance

S.F. Floor
2500

5.00
$                 

12,500.00

$                     

1.61
$                 

1020 Roof Construction

Structural Improvement Allowance

S.F. Roof
2500

5.00
$                 

12,500.00

$                     

1.61
$                 

B20 Exterior Enclosure2010 Exterior Walls

Repair of Historic Brick - parapet, details, openings/arches, etc.

S.F. Wall
600

15.00
$              

9,000.00

$                       

1.16
$                 

3" EPS Nailstrip - includes new 1/2" gypsum board

S.F. Wall
2000

5.00
$                 

10,000.00

$                     

1.29
$                 

2020 Exterior Windows

2nd floor windows - Metal clad wood, double-hung, insulated low-e glazing
Each

14
1,350.00

$         

18,900.00

$                     

2.43
$                 

4'-6" x 10' anodized aluminum flat awnings (x4) 

Each
4

4,250.00
$         

17,000.00

$                     

2.19
$                 

2030 Exterior Doors

Storefront - anodized aluminum

S.F. Opng.
380

65.00
$              

24,700.00

$                     

3.17
$                 

B30 Roofing3010 Roof Coverings

2023 Quote (includes neighboring roof to W. w/ 1/2" insulation)

S.F. Roof
4350

22.11
$              

96,180.00

$                     

12.36
$               

4" Rigid insulation coverboard (40 psi, R10)

S.F.
2165

3.27
$                 

7,079.55

$                       

0.91
$                 

Additional Roof/Attic Insulaiton

S.F. Roof
2200

5.00
$                 

11,000.00

$                     

1.41
$                 

3020 Roof Specialties

Roof Deck

S.F. Roof
565

20.00
$              

11,300.00

$                     

1.45
$                 

Skylights - (4) solar operable (1 per unit) & (2) fixed @ original corridor vaults
Each

6
1,966.00

$         

11,796.00

$                     

1.52
$                 

C. INTERIORS1010 Partitions

5/8" Gypsum board on metal studs FR partition w/ mineral wool insulation
S.F. Wall

1000

7.83
$                 

7,830.00

$                       

1.01
$                 

5/8" Gypsum board on metal studs

S..F. Wall
1400

6.10
$                 

8,540.00

$                       

1.10
$                 

1020 Interior Doors

Interior corridor doors - solid core, 5 panel, w/ transom, 1 hr-rated

Each
9

2,000.00
$         

18,000.00

$                     

2.31
$                 

Interior apartment doors - solid core, 5 panel, fir

Each
8

1,231.00
$         

9,848.00

$                       

1.27
$                 

1030 Fittings

Casework - kitchen & bath cabinets

Per Apt.
4

4,715.00
$         

18,860.00

$                     

2.42
$                 

Countertops - solid surface for kitch., bath, laundry, wdw sills

L.F.
70

151.00
$            

10,570.00

$                     

1.36
$                 

Appliances - refrigerator, range, vent hood

Per Apt.
4

2,400.00
$         

9,600.00

$                       

1.23
$                 

Washer / Dryer - energy star, front load

Pair
1

4,300.00
$         

4,300.00

$                       

0.55
$                 

3010 Wall Finishes

Paint

S.F. Wall
12000

1.50
$                 

18,000.00

$                     

2.31
$                 

Ceramic Tile

S.F. Wall
310

16.00
$              

4,960.00

$                       

0.64
$                 

3020 Floor Finishes

Carpet Tile - apartment living / bedrooms

S.F. Floor
1100

6.75
$                 

7,425.00

$                       

0.95
$                 

Marmoleum - kitchen, bath, laundry, corridors

S.F. Floor
930

7.00
$                 

6,510.00

$                       

0.84
$                 

3030 Ceiling Finishes

5/8" FR Gypsum Board - includes tape/texture

S.F. Floor
2165

3.00
$                 

6,495.00

$                       

0.83
$                 

D. SERVICESD10 ConveyingD20 Plumbing2010 Plumbing Fixtures

Residential Fixtures

Each
19

600.00
$            

11,400.00

$                     

1.47
$                 

2020 Domestic Water Distribution

Domestic supply and Sanitary distribution, includes (2) 80gal elect. HP WH
S.F. Floor

2200
15.00

$              

33,000.00

$                     

4.24
$                 

2030 Rain Water Drainage

N/A

-

$                                 

-
$                   

D30 HVAC
3010 Energy Supply

N/A

-
$                   

-

$                                 

-
$                   

3020 Heat Generating Systems

Electric cove heat - supplemental (2nd floor only)

S.F. Floor
2200

5.00
$                 

11,000.00

$                     

1.41
$                 

3030 Cooling Generating Systems

Mini-split heat pump - (5) 2 ceiling cassette units (2nd floor)

Each
5

4,000.00
$         

20,000.00

$                     

2.57
$                 

3050 Terminal & Package Units

Heat Recovery Ventilation (2nd floor only)

S.F. Floor
2200

27.00
$              

59,400.00

$                     

7.63
$                 

3090 Other HVAC Sys. & Equipment
N/A

-

$                                 

-
$                   

D40 Fire Protection4010 Fire Supression

N/A

S.F. Floor
0

-
$                   

-

$                                 

-
$                   

Fire Extinguishers

In steel wall cabinet

Each
2

292.00
$            

584.00

$                          

0.08
$                 

Smoke Detectors

Each
11

300.00
$            

3,300.00

$                       

0.42
$                 

D50 Electrical5010 Facility Power Generation

Solar Photovoltaic roof array

Watt
14000

3.50
$                 

49,000.00

$                     

6.30
$                 

5020 Electrical Service/Distribution

300 Ampere service, panel boards and feeders, 

S.F. Floor
2200

3.41
$                 

7,502.00

$                       

0.96
$                 

5030 General Purpose Electrical Power & Lighting Branch wiring, Fixtures, receptacles,  and misc. power

S.F.
2200

24.00
$              

52,800.00

$                     

6.79
$                 

5030 Communications & Security

(see below)

S.F. Floor
2200

-

$                                 

-
$                   

D60 Communications6010 Data/Cable/Internet

Each
1

5,000.00
$         

5,000.00

$                       

0.64
$                 

1.3%

D70 Electronic Security and Safety

7010 Access Control and Intrusion Detection

Each
1

4,000.00
$         

4,000.00

$                       

0.51
$                 

7030 Electronic Surveillance

Each
1

2,500.00
$         

2,500.00

$                       

0.32
$                 

7050 Detection & Alarm

Fire Alarm

S.F. Floor
2300

1.50
$                 

3,450.00

$                       

0.44
$                 

E. EQUIPMENT & FURNISHINGS
1010 Commerical Equipment

N/A

-
0

-
$                   

-

$                                 

-
$                   

1090 Furnishings

N/A

-

$                                 

-
$                   

F. SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION N/A

-

-
$                   

-

$                                 

N/A

-

-
$                   

-

$                                 

G. BUILDING SITEWORK3030 Building Elements Demolition

Remove Exterior Metal Cladding & sub-framing, non-original infill @ grade

S.F.
2200

4.00
$                 

8,800.00

$                       

1.13
$                 

Selective Demolition (Gutting) - interior partitions, paneling, flooring, ceilings, etc. S.F. Floor
2000

8.00
$                 

16,000.00

$                     

2.06
$                 

Remove exist. cedar shake continuous awning

S.F.
880

1.60
$                 

1,408.00

$                       

0.18
$                 

Remove exist 2nd floor windows, windows @ grade

Each
17

31.50
$              

535.50

$                          

0.07
$                 

Remove exist. 2nd floor doors

Each
19

43.50
$              

826.50

$                          

0.11
$                 

Remove Exist Roof - demo included in item 'B30' roof quote

-

$                                 

0

Sub-Total:
675,899.55

$              

86.88
$            

100%

CONTRACTOR FEESGeneral Requirements 10%, Overhead 5%, Profit 10%

25%
168,974.89

$                  

21.72
$               

Havre modifier against national average:

88.4%
(98,005.43)

$                   
Total Building Cost: 

746,869.00

$              

298.75
$          /SF APT Area

0.0%

5.5%

11.8%

19.4%

6.6%

JM DONOVEN BUILDING

Costs calculated using RSMeans 2023 Cost Data
HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS, P.C.  |  2720 MINNESOTA AVE, BILLINGS, MT  59101

12 MARCH 2024

B. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF PROBABLE COSTS

106 3RD AVENUE, HAVRE, MONTANA

16.2%

0.0%

20.3%

1.2%

1.5%

13.4%

0.6%

B.Const Costs

Page 7 of 30 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS

JM
 D

O
N

O
V

E
N

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 | 
  F

E
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
M

A
R

C
H

  2
02

4

ROOF OF BANK BUILDING LOOKING NORTH

ROOF OF JM DONOVEN BUILDING
LOOKING NORTH

STAIR 
LOOKING WEST 

OFFICES ON WEST WALL  LOOKING SOUTH END OF CORRIDORRLOOKING NORTH CENTRAL OFFICE WITH FURNACE 
LOOKING WEST

PRIMARY CORRIDOOR LOOKING NORTH SECONDARY CORRIDOORLOOKING WEST RESTROOM 
LOOKING SOUTH WEST

Page 3 of 30 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
JM

 D
O

N
O

V
E

N
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 | 

  F
E

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
  2

0
24

BUILDING HISTORY

The JM Donoven building was constructed in 
1904 after the Havre Fire that burned down 
much of the downtown area.  After the fire 
many businesses moved underground to continue doing business while the downtown 
was being rebuilt. The North-east corner of 
the JM Donoven building is an entrance to the 
“Havre Beneath the Streets” historical tour.  
Many of the buildings reconstructed after the 
fire share similar characteristics. For many years, the building was initially occupied as a drugstore on the first floor with physician offices on the second floor. Its 

architectural style is described as a commercial 
vernacular with possible Renaissance Revival 
characteristics, featuring arched wood double-
hung windows, brick pilasters on the facade, 
an entablature with dentils, and a tower with 
a square dome on the corner, a detail that was 
reflected on the building on the North Side of 
1st street. 
Throughout its history, the JM Donoven building underwent various transformations. 
It was operated as a bank at some point, leading to the removal of the storefront and 
the installation of a stone facade. At some point 
in the building’s history, windows were cut into 
the first floor on the east façade.The 1960s saw a major renovation that combined the JM Donoven Block with an 

adjacent neo-classical style bank building. 
This renovation included a modernist exterior 
facade and the removal of the second floor 
from the neighboring bank building to the 
west. 
The second floor of the JM Donoven Block was 
renovated around the late 70’s.Provided the original brickwork is present 
beneath the 70's era corrugated metal siding, 
the building would be a potential candidate for 
historic tax credits. Listing the building on the 
National Register of historic places also aligns 
with Master Plan goals to establish a downtown 
historic district. 

 

Page 21 of 30 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TS

JM
 D

O
N

O
V

EN
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 | 

  F
EA

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
M

A
R

C
H

  2
02

4

ZONING AND CODE ANALYSIS

See Appendix B Preliminary Zoning and Code Analysis. 

The JM Donoven Building is an existing, non-sprinklered two story, Type IIIB, non-separated 

occupancy with M occupancy on the first floor and is proposing to undergo a change of occupancy 

from B to R-2 on the second floor. The basement is used for storage for the business above and a 

portion of the basement is a museum for the Havre Underground Tour (A-3). 

Based on preliminary research, the building would qualify as a stand-alone historic building upon 

the completion the rehabilitation. Having the building listed on the National register of historic 

places provides some building code benefits. It is highly recommended to get a determination soon 

as possible whether the building is eligible to be listed. The Intent of this code analysis is to assess 

the feasibility and code implications of converting the second floor from an office occupancy to a 

residential occupancy. 

The building was constructed as two separate buildings a drug store on the corner and an bank to 

the west. A renovation in the 1960’s combined the two buildings and removed the second floor of 

what was formerly the bank building (West Building). The two sections of the building are located on 

a single lot and according to Montana Cadastral listed as a single property. For the purposes of this 

code analysis, it will be considered one building. 

The key code issue that this project faces is that the second floor has a single exit, and the building 

is not sprinkled. The addition of a sprinkler system may be cost prohibitive and, while the addition 

of a second stair may be comparable in cost to a sprinkler system, it would be difficult to fit into the 

building without severely impacting the commercial spaces on the first floor and limiting the design 

options of the second floor. The building is allowed to be un-sprinklered and have a single exit from 

the second floor because the building meets the requirements of the Annotated Rules of Montana 

(ARM) 24.301.146 (17). 

The stair serving the second floor is located along the south wall and is not an enclosed fire stair. 

The distance from the most remote corner of the second floor to the stair exceeds the maximum 

allowable travel distance permitted by the building code. The travel distance will be addressed by 

reducing the distance by making the stairs and, the second-floor corridor a fire rated assembly.

There is not a parapet on the roof between the building and the neighboring building to the south. 

The building code may require the construction of a parapet to provide a fire separation that limits 

the spread of fire across roofs. The construction of a parapet may  impact the rainwater drainage 

systems of both roofs. 

The zoning and code analysis for this Feasibility Study is limited in scope to the code implications of 

the remodel of the second floor undergoing a change in occupancy. The A-3 museum occupancy 

in the basement may have some unforeseen life safety and egress challenges. Without measured 

drawings of existing conditions of the entire building it is not possible to fully understand all the 

code implications that that change of occupancy on the second floor may have on the rest of 

the building. While the International Existing Building Code does provide some relief from the 

requirements of the International Building Code, especially since the work area is less than 50% of 

the building, the change of occupancy from a lower hazard category (B) to a higher hazard category 

(R-2) limits the application of certain exceptions and may necessitate additional safety measures 

such as a second exit from the basement.  

Page 5 of 30 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS

JM
 D

O
N

O
V

E
N

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 | 
  F

E
A

SI
B

IL
IT

Y 
ST

U
D

Y 
  |

   
M

A
R

C
H

  2
02

4

CURRENT CONDITIONS OF THE BUILDING

The JM Donoven Building is a two-story (with 

basement), corner lot building of approximately 

10,000 square feet (including the portion that 

was formerly the neighboring bank building). 

It is a zero-lot line building with neighboring 

buildings to the west and south. The building 

to the South is the Norman’s Block and was 

constructed at the same time as the JM Donoven 

Building. There is not a parapet on the roof 

between the JM Donoven Block and Norman’s 

Block – this paired with historical photographs 

may suggest that the Norman’s block was 

originally constructed as the JM Donoven Block 

and divided during the 1960’s renovation. 

The first floor of the building houses multiple 

commercial spaces including a salon, jeweler, 

and real-estate office. The basement is 

predominatly used e and entrance for the Havre 

Beneath The Streets Historical Tour. 

The second floor is unoccupied and accessed by  

a stair located on the south end of the building. 

The stair also goes to the roof of the neighboring 

bank building. The second floor has a corridor 

that runs north/south along the west wall with 

a jog in the center of the building. The primary 

corridor terminates at the doors of two rooms in 

a V configuration. The primary corridor is  walled 

off where it jogs. There is a secondary corridor 

that is perpendicular to the main corridor and 

splits off near the stair. There is one restroom 

and a mechanical space, accessed from the 

secondary corridor. The secondary corridor 

terminates at the doors of two rooms in V 

configuration. 

EXTERIOR OF JM DONOVEN BUILDING

LOOKING SOUTH WEST

SOUTH EAST CORNER OFFICE

LOOKING SOUTH

NORTH WEST CORNER OFFICE

LOOKING NORTH

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
JM

 D
O

N
O

V
E

N
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
  2

0
24

Page 4 of 30 

LOCATED AT:

106 3RD AVE 

HAVRE, MONTANA 59501

PREPARED BY:

HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS, P.C.

2720 MINNESOTA AVENUE

BILLINGS, MONTANA 59101

PREPARED FOR:

JANINE M. DONOVEN 

JM DONOVEN BLDG 

FEASIBILITY STUDY
MARCH 2024

The funding for the Feasibility Study was funded in part by an award by the Montana Department 
of Commerce, Montana Main Street Program

14 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

JM DONOVEN FEASIBILITY STUDY

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS:  
While the first floor of the 2-story, 10,000-square-
foot building remained in use, the second floor was 
uninhabitable, and the historic exterior was covered 
by a variety of undesirable mid-century finishes. High 
Plains Architects conducted a feasibility study that 
included building measurements, an assessment of 
existing conditions, the development of project goals 
and program, four second-floor renovation plan options, 
a comprehensive building code analysis, a construction 
cost estimate, and identification of funding assistance 
opportunities.

LOCATION: Havre MT

COMPLETED: March 2024

REFERENCE:
Janine M. Donoven
106 3rd Avenue
Havre, MT 59501
(406) 265-1516
jmdonoven@havremt.net



Page 20 of 24 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
FI

R
E

ST
O

N
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 S
TA

TI
O

N
  |

   
C

O
N

C
E

P
T 

D
E

SI
G

N
   

|  
 J

U
LY

 2
0

24
 

RENOVATION PLANS - BASEMENT

RESTAURANT SUPPORT
±1,595 SF

SPEAKEASY
±2,525 SF

FIRE ENTRY 
& EQUIP.
±140 SF

JAN. & 
STORAGE

±90 SF

RESTROOMS
±290 SF

MECHANICAL 
±575 SF

LIFT

• Back-stock
• Storage
• Manager Office
• Staff Lockers
• Keg Cooler
• Grease Interceptor
• Plumbing & Mech. 

Support
• Electrical

Bar Zone

Lounge Area 
& Stage

Private Grotto 
Seating

Stairs up to 
first floor.

Stairs up to 
first floor.

To First 
Floor

New Mech. Door

Speakeasy 
Entrance

Speakeasy 
Entrance

Walking gallery 
throughout 
circulation zone.

ADA RR

ADA RR

Exterior basement stair to 
be infilled.

Infill existing door.
Existing Structure Above

E
xi

st
in

g
 S

tr
u

ct
u

re
 A

b
ov

e

N

Commercial Space

Residential Tenant Travel Path
Public User Travel Path

Basement & First Floor Legend

Commercial Space

Art Studio

Support Spaces

Circulation Zone

3/32" = 1'-0"

3018 1st Ave LOWER LEVEL PLAN
0 8' 16' 24'

U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

SECOND FLOOR PLAN            THIRD FLOOR & ROOF PLAN           

3/32" = 1'-0"

3018 1st Ave LOWER LEVEL PLAN
0 8' 16' 24'

U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

3/32" = 1'-0"

3018 1st Ave LOWER LEVEL PLAN
0 8' 16' 24'

U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

N N

Page 22 of 24 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
FI

R
E

ST
O

N
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 S
TA

TI
O

N
  |

   
C

O
N

C
E

P
T 

D
E

SI
G

N
   

|  
 J

U
LY

 2
0

24
 

RENOVATION PLANS - SECOND & THIRD FLOOR

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

Existing Unit

Existing egress 
stairs to grade.

Existing stairs to 
third floor unit.

Existing Unit: Under 
renovation by Client to 
be short-term rental.

Existing Unit: Under 
renovation by Client to 
be short-term rental.

Existing Unit

Existing UnitExisting UnitExisting Unit

Historic corridor walls & doors to remain 
in place if pursuing historic tax credits.

Stor.

Existing Exterior 
Egress Stair

DN

U
P

Existing Unit

Existing 
Mechanical & 
Maintenance 

Penthouse

Existing Skylights

Existing Skylights

Existing 
Skylights

Maintenance 
roof access only.

Additional structural reinforcement & 
safety guards may be required by code 
if the rooftop is occupied by tenant. 

Exist. Unit Under Renovation

Residential Travel Path
Second & Third Floor Legend

Existing Unit

Circulation Zone

Support Spaces

Scullery & Prep Zone

Existing 
Skylight

Existing 
Skylight

Existing Structure Above

Existing Structure Above

E
xi

st
in

g
 S

tr
u

ct
u

re
 A

b
ov

e

Operable Garage 
Door

Fixed Garage 

DoorOperable Garage 
Door

Recreate historic 
garage storefront.

Vegetative Parking 
Buffer

Site Sign

Gated restaurant 
patio w/ 

vegetation 
buffer.

Existing 
Sidewalk

Existing 
Sidewalk

Exist. Food Truck 
Entry Driveway

Exist. Leased 
Parking 

Driveway

Leased Parking 
Space #4

Leased Parking 
Space #3

Leased Parking 
Space #2

Leased Parking 
Space #1

FOOD TRUCK PARK &  PLAZA

O
p

er
ab

le
 G

ar
ag

e 
D

oo
r

O
p

er
ab

le
 G

ar
ag

e 
D

oo
r

Reverse existing door swings for egressing.

Reverse existing door 
swing for egressing.

Basement 
Stairs

Basement 
Only

Basement 
Stairs

Private stair 
entrance for tenants.

N
ew

 e
xt

er
io

r 
ex

it
 in

 
ex

is
ti

n
g

 w
in

d
ow

 
lo

ca
ti

on
 p

er
 c

od
e.

New street trees per 
code. (1) Tree per 25 ft. 
of frontage.

Recreate historic recessed 
entry & storefront.

Open historic window & 
door for daylighting.

Interior storefront wall 
visually replicating 
historic garage door.

Overhead 
Door

Ramps required due to 
multiple existing floor levels. 

R
am

p
R

am
p

Ramp

Interior storefront 
walls along hallway.

Interior storefront 
walls along hallway.

Exterior basement stair to 
be infilled for egress route.

COMMERCIAL SPACE
(Retail, Coffee Shop, etc.)

±2,460 SF

ART STUDIO
±1,040 SF

RESTROOMS
±265 SF

JAN.
±135 SF

RESTAURANT
±2,830 SF

LIFTCommercial 
Kitchen Zone

Kitchenette 

Studio RR

Drinking fountain 
per code.

Bar Zone

UP

DN

Studio 
Jan.

ADA RR

ADA RR

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
FI

R
E

ST
O

N
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 S
TA

TI
O

N
  |

   
C

O
N

C
E

P
T 

D
E

SI
G

N
   

|  
 J

U
LY

 2
0

24

Page 21 of 24 

RENOVATION PLANS - FIRST FLOOR

N

0 8' 16' 24'

Page 1 of 2 

Appendix C

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TS

FI
R

ES
TO

N
E 

SE
R

V
IC

E 
ST

A
TI

O
N

  |
   

C
O

N
C

EP
T 

D
ES

IG
N

   
|  

 J
U

LY
 2

02
4 

APPENDIX C

FIRESTONE SERVICE STATION
AMATO PROPERTIES, LLC  - 2017 WENTWORTH DR, BILLINGS, MT 59105

11 JULY 2024

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF PROBABLE COSTS

3018 FIRST AVENUE NORTH, BILLINGS, MT  59101

Page 1 of 10 

Appendix B

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TS

FI
R

ES
TO

N
E 

SE
R

V
IC

E 
ST

A
TI

O
N

  |
   

C
O

N
C

EP
T 

D
ES

IG
N

   
|  

 J
U

LY
 2

02
4 

APPENDIX B

PRELIMINARY ZONING & CODE ANALYSIS

Header 

Zoning Code Analysis - City of Billings 

1. ZONING DISTRICT: Central Business District (CBD) 

2. CURRENT & PROPOSED USE (27-1000):  

Level 

Current 
Allowed 

Proposed 

Basement 
Vacant 

Retail, Business, 

Restaurant, Variety 

of Commercial 

Services 

Retail, Bar, Art 

Gallery, Arcade, 

Gym, Workshare 

Space, and/or 

Studio Space 

1st  Floor 
Vacant 

Retail, Business, 

Restaurant, Variety 

of Commercial 

Services 

Retail, Restaurant, 

Bar, Art Gallery, 

Event Space, and/or 

Art Studio 

2nd  Floor  
Apartments Apartments, Offices Apartments 

3rd  Floor 
Apartment 

Apartments 

Apartments 

 

3. SETBACKS:   
 

Required 
Proposed 

Front 

N/A 

0 ft. 

Side 

N/A 

0 ft. 

Side (facing 

street) 

N/A 

0 ft. 

Rear 

N/A 

5 ft. 

 

4. HEIGHT:  N/A (Existing Building)  

5. LOT COVERAGE: 100% Coverage Allowed, Existing Building 

6. PROPORTIONATE COMPLIANCE (Article 27-110) 

6A. MEASURING REQUIRED COMPLIANCE INTERIOR CHANGES (27-

1102.B.1): In
terior changes. In the CBD, DX, CMU1, CMU2, NO, NMU, and 

EBURD districts, section 27-1203, Street fro
ntage landscaping 

requirements shall be applicable on a proportionate basis when a 

building is remodeled by ten (10) percent or more. This shall be 

calculated based on the value of the remodel permit as a percentage of 

the building's most recent assessed valuation. For example, a property 

owner with a building assessed at one million five hundred thousand 

dollars ($1,500,000.00) who submits an application for a remodel permit 

valued at three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000.00) shall be 

responsible for tw
enty (20) percent compliance with the applicable 

street fro
ntage landscaping requirements. 

7. STREET FRONTAGE LANDSCAPING (Sec. 27-1203) 

7A. The required total number of tre
es is one tree per tw

enty-five (25) feet 

of fro
ntage. In the CBD trees shall be spaced an average of twenty-five 

(25) feet and may not be grouped. Tree spacing may be varied by up to 

five (5) feet to avoid planting a tree directly in front of a building 

entrance. Overall spacing shall be designed to avoid placing trees side-

by-side at street corners. 

 

Existing Building Code Analysis – International Existing 

Building Code: 2021  

The first flo
or and basement occupancy has not yet been determined. Group A, 

B, and M occupancies are included in this analysis to ensure that the design 

accommodates all three occupancy types. The second floor and third floor are 

designed to be apartment units, an R-2 occupancy. The owners are pursuing 

historic tax credits and listing on the National Register of Historic Places. 

CHAPTER 3 – PROVISIONS FOR ALL COMPLIANCE METHODS:  

301.3 Alteration, Addition or Change of Occupancy. The alteration, addition or 

change of occupancy of all existing buildings shall comply with one of the 

methods listed in Section 301.3.1, 301.3.2, or 301.3.3 as selected by the 

applicant.  

301.3.2 Word Area Compliance Method. Alterations, additions, and changes of 

occupancy complying with the applicable requirements of Chapters 6 

through 12 of this code shall be considered in compliance with the 

provisions of this code.  

302.3 Existing Materials. Materials already in use in a building in compliance 

with requirements or approvals in effect at the tim
e of their erection or 

installation shall be permitted to remain in use unless determined by the 

code official to be unsafe.  

 

306.5 Change of Occupancy. Existing buildings that undergo a change of 

group or occupancy shall comply with Section 306.7. Exception: Type B 

dwelling or sleeping units required by Section 1108 of the IBC are not 

required to be provided in existing buildings and facilitie
s undergoing a 

change of occupancy in conjunction with alterations where the work area 

is 50 percent or less of the aggregate area of the building. Provided: the 

work area is less than 50 percent of the building area, however, per IEBC 

Section 306.7.16.7 (see below) Type B units are not required in historic 

buildings (Design Case #2). 

306.7 Alterations. A facility that is altered shall comply with the applicable 

provisions in Chapter 11 o
f the International Building Code, ICC A117.1 and 

the provisions of Sections 306.7.1 th
rough 306.7.16, unless technically 

infeasible. Where compliance with this section is technically infeasible, the 

alteration shall provide access to the maximum extent technically feasible.   

303.6.7.1 Alterations Affecting and Area Containing a Primary Function. 

Where an alteration affects the accessibility to, or contains an area of 

primary function, the route to the primary function area shall be accessible. 

The accessible route to the primary function area shall include toilet 

facilitie
s and drinking fountains servicing the area of primary function. 

Exception 5: This provision does not apply to altered areas limited to Type B 

dwelling and sleeping units. 

306.7.2 Accessible Means of Egress. Accessible means of egress required by 

Chapter 10 of the International Building Code are not required to be added 

in existing facilitie
s.   

306.7.4 Type B Units. Type B dwelling or sleeping units required by Section 1107 

of the International Building Code are not required to be provided in 

existing buildings and facilitie
s undergoing alterations where the work 

area is 50 percent or less of the aggregate area of the building. Provided: 

Design Case #1. The work area is less than 50 percent of the aggregate 

area.  

306.7.5 Entrances. Where an alteration includes alterations to an entrance that 

is not accessible, and the facility has an accessible entrance, the altered 

entrance is not required to be accessible unless required by Section 306.7.1. 

Signs complying with Section 1112
 of the International Building Code shall 

be provided.  

306.7.8 Platform Lifts. Platform lifts
 installed in accordance with ASME A18.1 

shall be permitted as a component of an accessible route. 

306.7.16 Historic Structures. Where compliance with the requirements for 

accessible routes, entrances, or toilet rooms would threaten or destroy the 

historic significance of the historic structure, as determined by the 

authority having jurisdiction, the alternative requirements of Sections 

306.7.16.1 th
rough 306.7.16.5 for that element shall be permitted. Exceptions:  

1. 
Accessible means of egress required by Chapter 10 of the International 

Building Code are not required to be provided in historic structures.   

2. The altered element or space is not required to be on an accessible 

route, unless required by Sections 306.7.16.1 or 306.7.16.2. 

306.7.16.1 Site Arrival Points. SITE ARRIVAL POINTS (306.7.16.1): N
ot fewer than 

one exterior accessible route, including curb ramps from a site arrival point 

to an accessible entrance, shall be provided and shall not be less than 36 

inches minimum in width.  

306.7.16.7 Type B Units. Type B dwelling or sleeping units required by Section 

1108 of the IBC are not required to be provided in historic buildings.  

CHAPTER 6 – CLASSIFICATION OF WORK 

601.2 Work Area.  The work area, as defined in Chapter 2, shall be identifie
d on 

the construction documents.  

Level 

Gross 

Area (SF) 

Work Area (SF) 

Basement 
~7,050 

0 (ancillary work 

only) 

1st  Floor 

8,035 

4,860 

2nd  Floor 

6,045 

5,266 

3rd  Floor 

833 

833 

TOTAL 

21,963 
11,281 (49.9%) 

 

602.1 Alteration—Level 1, S
cope. Level 1 alterations include the removal and 

replacement or the covering of existing materials, elements, equipment or 

fixtures using new materials, elements, equipment or fixtures that serve 

the same purpose. 

603.1 Alteration—Level 2, Scope. Level 2 alterations include the addition or 

elimination of any door or window, the reconfiguration or extension of any 

system, or the installation of any additional equipment, and shall apply 

where the work area is equal to or less than 50 percent of the building area. 

Exception: The movement or addition of nonfixed and movable fixtures, 

cases, racks, counters and partitio
ns not over 5 feet 9 inches (1753 mm) in 

height shall not be considered a Level 2 alteration. 

Provided: Design Case #1: Develop a first remodel phase that 

encompasses less than 50% of the building area.  

604.1 Alteration—Level 3, Scope. Level 3 alterations apply where the work area 

exceeds 50 percent of the building area. Provided: In Design Case #2, the 

entire building would undergo modification and Level 3 Alterations would 

apply.  

604.1 Change of Occupancy, Scope. Change of occupancy provisions apply 

where the activity is classified as a change of occupancy as defined in 

Chapter 2. Provided: In any design case, changes of occupancy only occur 

on the first and basement levels; the second and third levels will re
main 

residential occupancy or supporting the residential occupancy, thus no 

change of occupancy and this section does not apply.  

607.1 Historic Buildings, Scope. Historic building provisions shall apply to 

buildings classified as historic as defined in Chapter 2. Provided: Design 

Case #2 assumes classification of the building as historic, pursuing Historic 

Tax Credit and listing on the National Register of Historic Places, and thus 

a more extensive, whole building remodel.  

 

Program

Area

(SF Estimates)
Quantity

Notes

B
as

em
en

t

Rental Space (Speakeasy)

2,525
1

Rental space to be fit out by future tenant.

Rental Space (Restaurant Support)
1,595

1
Rental space to be fit out by future tenant.

Restrooms

290

3
(2) Public ADA accessible restrooms per code. 

(2) Standard public restrooms per code.

Janitor & Storage

90

1
(1) Shared janitorial closet. 

Fire Entry & Equipment

140

1
For fire suppression system.

Mechanical

575

1
Upgrade equipment in existing space.

North Stair

-

1
Egress stair in existing stair location connecting the basement and first 

floor.

South Stair

TBD

1
New egress stair in existing stair location connecting the basement 

and first floor.

Lift

TBD

1
New accessible lift connecting the basement and first floor per ADA.

Fi
rs

t 
Fl

oo
r

Rental Space (Commercial Space)
2,460

1
Rental space to be fit out by future tenant.

Garage Rental Space (Restaurant) 
2,830

1
Rental space to be fit out by future tenant.

Art Studio

1,040
1

Private art studio for owner with garage door access. Private 

kitchenette, restroom, and janitorial closet adjacent to the art studio.

Restrooms

Varies
5

(2) Public ADA accessible restrooms per code.

(2) Standard public restrooms per code.

(1) Private restroom adjacent to the art studio.

Janitor Closet

Varies
2

(1) Shared janitorial closet.

(1) Private janitorial closet adjacent to art studio.

North Public Stair

-

1
Egress stair in existing stair location connecting the basement and first 

floor.

North Residential Stair

-

1
Existing private residential entrance and stair connecting the first floor 

and second floor.

South Stair

TBD

1
New egress stair in existing stair location connecting the basement 

and first floor.

Lift

TBD

1
New accessible lift connecting the basement and first floor per ADA.

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
FI

R
E

ST
O

N
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 S
TA

TI
O

N
  |

   
C

O
N

C
E

P
T 

D
E

SI
G

N
   

|  
 J

U
LY

 2
02

4

Page 15 of 24 

PROJECT PROGRAM

Below are the project goals as developed with the client:

Rehabilitation of Historic Architecture: Repurpose, respect, and 

preserve the historic Firestone Service Station while maintaining 

the historic integrity of the building and participating in the Federal 

Historic Preservation Tax Incentives Program.

Integration of Commercial and Residential Spaces: Integrate 

commercial spaces on the lower levels while maintaining residential 

rentals on the second floor, ensuring functional efficiency and 

harmony between the different uses.

Enhanced Public Realm: Enhance the surrounding public realm 

by activating street-level commercial spaces, creating a vibrant 

pedestrian-friendly environment that contributes positively to the 

urban fabric.

Accessible Design: Prioritize universal design principles to ensure that 

the renovated building is accessible to people of all ages and abilities, 

including those with disabilities.

Sustainability: Integrate sustainable design strategies and green 

building practices to minimize environmental impact, reduce energy 

consumption, promote occupant health and well-being, and reduce 

long-term operating costs.

Flexibility and Modularity: Design flexible and adaptable interior 

spaces that can accommodate a variety of commercial tenants and 

hospitality rental configurations, allowing for future adaptations as 

market demands change.

Guest Experience: Prioritize the guest experience in the design 

of hospitality rental units, offering thoughtful design details that 

enhance comfort and enjoyment during short-term stays.

Space Utilization: Optimize the use of space to ensure efficient layouts 

for both the commercial and residential areas, maximizing rentable 

square footage while maintaining comfort and functionality.

Economic Viability: Create a financially sustainable development 

model that balances the preservation of historic features with the 

economic feasibility of commercial and residential operations, 

ensuring long-term viability and success.

North Facade; Photo Credit of Realtor.com

Page 14 of 24 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
FI

R
E

ST
O

N
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 S
TA

TI
O

N
  |

   
C

O
N

C
E

P
T 

D
E

SI
G

N
   

|  
 J

U
LY

 2
0

24
 

PROJECT GOALS
Building History:

The Firestone Service Station, originally known as the Robert Leavens 

Building, stands as a testament to the vibrant history of downtown 

Billings, Montana, its story intertwining with the evolution of 

transportation and urban living in the early 20th century. Construction 

of the building commenced in 1917, a time when the automobile was 

beginning to revolutionize daily life. Commissioned by Robert Leavens, 

the building was originally constructed to serve as an automobile 

showroom with residential apartments above.

Originally built as a showcase for the automotive industry, the first 

floor of the building was designed to serve as a showroom for the 

Rich Motor Company. With its full concrete basement, sturdy enough 

to support two additional stories, the structure boasted not only 

modernity but also resiliency.

Known as the Clair Apartments, the second floor’s ten apartment 

units, represented a new era in urban living. Advertised as offering “a 

maximum of comfort in a minimum space,” these apartments were 

of contemporary design. Each unit was designed as a studio that 

featured a living space, bath, kitchenette, and closet, arranged in a 

manner previously unseen in the city. The kitchenettes were equipped 

with gas ranges, sinks, cabinets, and iceboxes, while the step-up baths 

featured white tiling and tinted walls. Features such as milk service 

openings, letter drops, and sliding wall beds adorned these spaces, 

promising convenience and luxury to their occupants.

The building’s attention to detail extended beyond its living spaces. 

A rear stairway led to a rooftop laundry, where clothes could dry in 

the sunlight, and a janitor’s closet and clothes chute streamlined 

household chores. Paneled halls and corridors ensured privacy, while 

soundproof walls and steam heating provided comfort.

The Clair Apartments became a cherished residence for many, 

including the Leavens family, who owned and managed the property. 

In 1930, Robert Leavens’s daughter, Dorothy, and her husband became 

tenants, followed by Robert and Ella Leavens themselves in 1931.

The building’s narrative took a new turn in 1931 with the arrival of 

Firestone Service Stores, Inc. Seeking to capitalize on the growing 

demand for automotive services, Firestone established a state-of-the-

art service station within the Leavens Building complex. The station, 

occupying both the original building and a new adjacent garage 

structure, offered a comprehensive range of services, from tire and 

Firestone Service Station, 1931

Billings Gazette Advertisement, 1931

Page 2 of 24 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
FI

R
E

ST
O

N
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 S
TA

TI
O

N
  |

   
C

O
N

C
E

P
T 

D
E

SI
G

N
   

|  
 J

U
LY

 2
0

24
 

HISTORIC NARRATIVE

FIRESTONE SERVICE 
STATION

N

1st AVE N

N
 31st STN

 32n
d

 ST

N
 32n

d
 ST

N
 30

th
 ST

N
 29th

 ST

S 29th
 ST

N
 31st ST

N
 30

th
 ST

N
 29th

 ST

N
 B

R
O

A
D

W
A

Y

MONTANA AVE

Railroad

MINNESOTA AVE

2nd AVE N

3rd AVE N

Western Heritage Center

Angry Hank’s Microbrewery

Sunrise Studio & Art Gallery

Wise Wonders Science & 

Discovery Museum

The Monte Bar & Casino

Northern Hotel

Page 10 of 24 

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
FI

R
E

ST
O

N
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 S
TA

TI
O

N
  |

   
C

O
N

C
E

P
T 

D
E

SI
G

N
   

|  
 J

U
LY

 2
02

4 

VICINITY MAPEXISTING CONDITION NARRATIVE
Site:
The historic Firestone Service Station occupies a 0.32-acre corner lot 

nestled in downtown Billings, Montana. The building is located on the 

corner of 1st Avenue North and North 31st Street. Both streets are paved 

and complete with sidewalks, curbs, and parallel parking spaces. An 

alley runs along the eastern property line and separates the Firestone 

Service Station from its neighbors. To the south, a gated pedestrian 

alley provides exclusive access between the original masonry building 

and the adjacent building, while the garage abuts the neighboring 

building. At the northwest corner of the property is a parking lot with 

sixteen stalls. The site has no landscaping or street trees.

Exterior:The north facade is the building’s primary face, featuring a mix of original 

elements and later additions. At the ground level, a contemporary 

white square tile veneer overlays the original masonry, framing a 

modified storefront and recessed entry. Located in the west corner 

of the façade, a recessed entry with a full lite wood door and transom 

above, offers private access to upstairs tenants. The buff-colored face 

brick on the second story, in a running bond pattern, is accentuated 

by darker brick lintels and decorative features. Brick masonry pilasters 

frame the edges of the facade, with stepped battering and a soldier 

lintel course between them highlighting the second-floor windows. 

A continuous soldier course sill runs below the second-floor windows 

between the pilasters. Above, a corbeled masonry dentil row cornice 

extends across the upper portion of the facade, wrapping the east 

and west corners. The parapet wall extends above the second floor 

and is capped with dark-colored rowlock brick. A non-original third-

story penthouse, constructed of masonry and stucco, occupies the 

upper west corner. To accommodate its north-facing windows, the 

brick masonry parapet wall has been notched out, integrating the 

penthouse windows into the façade’s composition.

The west façade, adjacent to the parking lot, is a highly visible façade 

that once hosted painted signs. The façade is constructed of brick 

masonry laid in a common bond pattern, and although painted, the 

bricks remain in fair condition. Firestone Service Stores emblems 

adorn the façade, matching those on the attached garage. The non-

original stucco penthouse is visible on this façade and features a 

window with a metal awning. Towards the south end of the building, 

the original laundry penthouse is visible. Windows feature segmental 

arch headers on the second floor and steel lintels with no masonry 

headers on the first floor. All windows have rowlock brick sills. The 

original wood windows on the second floor have been replaced with 
North Facade, 2024

Partial Site Ariel View; Photo Credit of Realtor.com

N

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
FI

R
E

ST
O

N
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 S
TA

TI
O

N
  |

   
C

O
N

C
E

P
T 

D
E

SI
G

N
   

|  
 J

U
LY

 2
0

24

Page 5 of 24 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
High Plains Architects, P.C. (HPA) has compiled this feasibility study 

for the Granite County Museum and Cultural Center, which owns the 

historic Courtney Hotel building in Philipsburg, Montana.  This report 

provides a brief building history, documentation of existing conditions 

with plans and photos, project program, concept plans, proposed 

renovations, and sustainable strategies.  It examines opportunities 

with the existing historic building to enhance the experience of 

museum visitors and community space users, maintain its historic 

character, and provide critically needed housing in the local area.
The history of the Courtney Hotel dates back more than one hundred 

years.  It has housed a variety of uses serving the changing needs 

of the surrounding area and the era.  HPA explored options for 

converting the second and third level hotel rooms into rentable 

apartments. One concept provides affordable one- and two-bedroom 

apartment options for young working individuals and couples.  By 

revitalizing a building near downtown with 17 rentable units, it reduces 

development sprawl and adds vibrancy to downtown.Rentable income from apartment units and community space could 

provide income to pay museum staff and expand the museum’s hours 

of operation so it is full time and year-round.  In turn, this would expand 

the impact of museum exhibits and archives, with more visitors from 

across the state, nation, and globe, enabling a unique experience and 

snapshot back in time that can only be found at the historic Courtney 

Hotel Building.
Sustainable strategies can overcome some of the energy challenges 

that often come with historic buildings.  Improving the building 

thermal envelope and taking advantage of phase change thermal 

mass materials will help minimize the mechanical equipment 

systems.  Maximizing daylight and good air quality reduces energy 

consumption and improves the user experience, while low flow 

water fixtures reduce water consumption. On-site renewable power 

generation can also reduce the building’s energy footprint.The Appendices at the end of this report include financial analysis, 

zoning & code analysis, and notes from owner meetings.

Band in front of Courtney Hotel, 1920s

Town of Philipsburg, MT, 1920s - 1930s; Courtney Hotel Located on the right

H
IG

H
 P

LA
IN

S 
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

TS
G

R
A

N
IT

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 M
U

SE
U

M
  |

   
FE

A
SI

B
IL

IT
Y 

ST
U

D
Y 

  |
   

M
A

R
C

H
 2

0
24

Page 5 of 56 

CONCEPT DESIGN
JULY 2024

PREPARED FOR:
DAVID & ERIN AMATO
3018 1ST AVE. N.
BILLINGS, MT 59101

PREPARED BY:
HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS
2720 MINNESOTA AVE
BILLINGS, MT 59101

FIRESTONE SERVICE STATION

Upper Level Concept Plans

Basement Concept Plan

First Floor & Site Concept Plan

15HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS:  
The conceptual design package includes the history of 
the 2-story, 21,300-square-foot building, which currently 
has its first floor and basement used for commercial 
purposes, while the second floor houses ten occupied 
historic apartments. The package also includes an 
assessment of existing space and system conditions, a 
proposed mixed-use program, an evaluation of the pros 
and cons of pursuing historic tax credits, renovation 
floor plans, a comprehensive building code analysis, 
mechanical and electrical scope narratives, and a 
construction cost estimate.

LOCATION: Billings, MT

COMPLETED: July 2024

REFERENCE:
David and Erin Amato
406-850-1707
ebamato@hotmail.com

FIRESTONE SERVICE STATION CONCEPT DESIGN



16 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

STAPLETON BUILDING
BILLINGS, MT

Completing a preliminary architectural report or 
feasibility study that includes a financial solution 
as well as a design solution is not a guarantee 
that redevelopment will occur; a project needs an 
entrepreneur who seizes the opportunity and moves 
forward with it. But the financial pro forma reduces 
the risk of proceeding and markedly increases the 
chances that redevelopment will occur. The following 
are examples of some projects that advanced to 
redevelopment after a PAR or feasibility study was 
completed:

“Randy Hafer and Co at High Plains added life to 
a wonderful building in my childhood hometown 
which had fallen into a state near abandonment 
with little to no use for decades. Now, when I return 
to where I grew up, I get to see The Borden’s Hotel, 
alive with residents and guests. Now that the 
building has been restored, it shows the beauty of 
the original construction. This work matters and 
is so valuable for rural communities!”

-Matt Miller, RPA

Projects Successfully Advanced to Redevelopment

SOPO LOFTS
BILLINGS, MT

OLD MAVERICK FIRE HOUSE
BILLINGS, MT

ARVON BLOCK
GREAT FALLS, MT



17HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

LOCATION: Billings, MT

COMPLETED: 2012

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS: 21 second floor hotel 
rooms converted into 9 apartments; offices, shops, 
and restaurant on the first floor.

LOCATION: Whitehall, MT

CLIENT: Jefferson Local Development Corporation

COMPLETED: 2015

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS: 13,700 SF historic mixed 
use hotel building; 21 second floor hotel rooms 
converted into 9 apartments; offices, shops, and 
restaurant on the first floor

TRACY LOFTSBORDEN HOTEL

AFTERAFTER

BEFOREBEFORE



18 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

LOCATION: Billings, MT

COMPLETED: 2005

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS: This project involved the 
extensive restoration of the 7,500 SF historic L&L 
Building, including structural reinforcement and 
compliance with the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards, to preserve its architectural integrity 
for commercial use.

L&L BUILDING

LOCATION: Billings, MT

COMPLETED: 2006

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS: 8,100 SF derelict grocery 
store remodeled into a LEED Platinum, high-
performance building with offices for two non-
profit organizations.

HOME ON THE RANGE

AFTER AFTER

BEFORE BEFORE



19HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

The project team at High Plains Architects brings extensive expertise in historic preservation, adaptive reuse, 
and community revitalization, ensuring the Hotel Becker Preliminary Architecture Report will provide a 
clear and actionable path forward. Our experience in analyzing historic buildings and creating sustainable 
redevelopment strategies positions us to deliver a thorough assessment tailored to the needs of the building 
and community. Through our collaborative approach, we will craft recommendations that honor the Hotel 
Becker’s historic character while enhancing its functionality and supporting the broader revitalization of the 
downtown core. High Plains’ key personnel assigned to the project include:

Emarie Skelton | eskelton@highplainsarchitects.com | (406) 384-0144

Project Designer | Project Manager

• Experience managing four PARs or feasibility studies
• Managed downtown building rehabilitation projects
• Major time commitment coordinating project components, documenting 

existing conditions, meeting with stakeholders, developing rehabilitation 
strategies and design concepts, conducting zoning and building code 
analysis, estimating construction costs, and assembling final report

John Sanford | jsanford@highplainsarchitects.com | (406) 896-0250

Project Designer | Project Support

• Experience managing six PARs or feasibility studies
• Contributed to downtown building rehabilitation projects
• Modest time commitment developing rehabilitation strategies and design 

concepts and assembling final report

Randy Hafer | rhafer@highplainsarchitects.com | (406) 896-0250

Architect | Development Consultant

• Regional leader and expert in adaptive reuse of historic buildings
• General Partner in developing 12 current and past projects totaling $80 

million
• Significant contributor to dozens of feasibility studies
• Minor time commitment reviewing financial pro forma and financial 

opportunities and providing feedback and quality control

Ed Gulick | egulick@highplainsarchitects.com | (406) 896-0250

Architect | Principal-In-Charge

• Experience managing more than 10 PARs or feasibility studies
• Completed financial pro forma analysis on more than five projects
• Managed and overseen complex downtown building rehabilitation projects
• Moderate time commitment documenting existing conditions, meeting 

with stakeholders, completing financial analysis, and providing feedback 
and quality control for all PAR contents

3. PROJECT TEAM



20 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

Kevin Pope | kevin.g.pope@imegcorp.com | (406) 545-6426

Mechanical Engineer  |  Mechanical Systems Consultant
IMEG Corp. | 175 N 27th Street | Suite 1312 | Billings, MT 59101

• Experience working with architect on numerous feasibility studies, PARs, 
and construction drawing sets for historic buildings 

• Modest time commitment reviewing proposed uses for building, identifying 
appropriate mechanical system options, and providing cost estimates to 
architect based on recent square foot costs in similar projects

Clint Laferrier | clint.e.laferriere@imegcorp.com | (406) 256-1141

Electrical Engineer  |  Electrical Systems Consultant
IMEG Corp. | 175 N 27th Street | Suite 1312 | Billings, MT 59101

• Experience working with architect on numerous feasibility studies, PARs, 
and construction drawing sets for historic buildings 

• Modest time commitment reviewing proposed uses for building, identifying 
appropriate electrical system options, and providing cost estimates to 
architect based on recent square foot costs in similar projects

Rick Snidarich | rsnidarich@seaeng.com | (406) 602-4393

Structural Engineer  |  Structural Systems Consultant
Stahly Engineering & Associates | 2223 Montana Ave | Suite 201 | Billings, MT 59101

• Experience with the International Existing Building Code as well as 
International Building Code

• Modest time commitment investigating existing building and the condition 
of existing structural members, conducting calculations on capacities of 
existing structural system, and advising architect on implications of proposed 
changes to building

High Plains Architects is proud to partner with Stahly Engineering & Associates and IMEG Corp. to deliver a 
thorough and actionable Preliminary Architecture Report (PAR) for the Hotel Becker. 
 
Stahly Engineering & Associates will serve as the structural engineer, providing expertise in structural 
systems design and consulting. Their hands-on, client-focused approach and extensive experience in 
structural engineering make them a vital contributor to this project. 
 
IMEG Corp. will provide mechanical and electrical engineering services, leveraging their century-long 
history of innovative, sustainable design solutions tailored to local communities. Their expertise will ensure 
efficient and effective building systems for the Hotel Becker. 
 
Together, this team brings the specialized skills and collaborative approach needed to create a PAR that 
supports the Hotel Becker’s role as a cornerstone of downtown Hardin’s revitalization. Detailed resumes of 
Stahly Engineering & Associates’ and IMEG Corp.’s team members are included in the appendix.

4. CONSULTANT TEAM



21HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

THE MONTE
BILLINGS, MT

High Plains Architects has reviewed our projected 
workload for the period of February 10 to June 30, 
2025, and we confirm that we are available and have 
sufficient capacity to successfully complete the Hotel 
Becker Preliminary Architectural Report within the 
proposed timeline.

We are currently engaged in the following projects, 
which vary in the level of effort required during this 
period:
• Milligan Building Rehabilitation – Miles City, MT
• Central School Redevelopment – Roundup, MT
• Broadway Apartments Rehabilitation - Lewistown, 

MT
• Old Billings Hardware Building Redevelopment - 

Billings, MT
• LB Lofts - Billings, MT
• Residence - Roscoe, MT
• Residence - Red Lodge, MT

• Northern Cheyenne Food Pantry - Lame Deer, MT
• Forsyth Downtown Master Plan - Forsyth, MT

Many of these projects will transition into less 
resource-intensive phases, such as construction, 
during the first quarter of 2025. This ensures that 
our team will have the focus and resources required 
to dedicate to the Hotel Becker Preliminary 
Architectural Report. 
 
We are confident in our ability to manage our 
commitments effectively and to provide exceptional 
service to the community of Hardin.

5. ACTIVE PROJECTS & AVAILABILITY



22 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

HOTEL BECKER PRELIMINARY ARCHITECTURAL REPORT 
TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
3. INTRODUCTION / APPROACH
4. VICINITY MAP
5. BUILDING HISTORY
6. EXISTING CONDITIONS

a. Structural System
b. Masonry
c. Windows
d. Roof
e. Interior Finishes
f. Mechanical Systems
g. Plumbing Systems
h. Electrical Systems

7. POTENTIAL USES
a. Local Market Demand
b. Input from Local Stakeholders
c. Proposed Project Goals and Program

8. PROPOSED REHABILITATION STRATEGIES
a. Historic Rehabilitation Strategies consistent with Secretary of Interior Standards for Rehabilitation
b. High Performance Green Strategies

9. REHABILITATION CONCEPT DRAWINGS
a. Basement Floor Plan
b. Ground Floor and Immediate Site Plan
c. Second Floor Plan
d. Third Floor Plan
e. Exterior Perspective 

10. ZONING & BUILDING CODE ANALYSIS SUMMARY
11. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF PROBABLE COSTS

a. Construction Cost Estimate
b. Total Project Costs Estimate

12. FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
a. Projected Income Worksheet
b. Project Hard and Soft Costs
c. Tax Credits and Grants
d. Sources of Cash
e. Income and Expenses
f. 10-year Cash Flow after Stabilization

13. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE OPPORTUNITIES
14. APPENDICES

a. Complete Zoning & Building Code Analysis
b. Structural Engineer’s Assessment
c. Mechanical, Plumbing, and Electrical Engineering Narratives
d. Meeting Minutes

The proposed scope of work is captured in the following Table of Contents, which also includes a list of 
associated deliverables. The report will include photos of existing conditions and of relevant examples from 
other projects to illustrate the proposed approach throughout. 

6. PROPOSED SCOPE OF WORK



23HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

The table below outlines the projected project budget, detailing the level of effort for each team member. 
The consultant column specifies the fees for external consultants, providing a comprehensive view of the 
project’s anticipated financial requirements. The expense category captures estimated additional costs 
such as travel and printing.

Key:

E
d

 G
u

lic
k

E
m

ar
ie

 S
ke

lt
on

Jo
h

n
 S

an
fo

rd

R
an

d
y 

H
af

er

C
on

su
lt

an
ts

E
xp

en
se

s

1. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS - ◇ - -
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ◇ ◇ - -
3. INTRODUCTION / APPROACH ◇ ◇ ◇ -
4. VICINITY MAP - - ◇ -
5. BUILDING HISTORY ◇ ◇ ◇ -
6. EXISTING CONDITIONS ◆ ◆ ◇ - $1,200

7. POTENTIAL USES ◇ ◆ - - $60

8. PROPOSED REHABILITATION STRATEGIES ◇ ◆ ◇ -
9. REHABILITATION CONCEPT DRAWINGS ◇ ◆ ◆ -
10. ZONING & BUILDING CODE ANALYSIS SUMMARY ◇ ◇ - -
11. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF PROBABLE COSTS ◇ ◆ - - $4,000

12. FINANCIAL ANALYSIS ◆ ◇ - ◇
13. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE OPPORTUNITIES ◇ ◇ - ◇
14. APPENDICES

a. Zoning & Building Code Analysis ◇ ◆ - -
b. Structural Engineer’s Assessment ◇ ◇ - - $5,000

c. Mechanical, Plumbing, and Electrical Engineering 

Narratives
◇ ◇ - - $4,000

Final Printed Report: (3) Copies - ◇ - - ±$120 

Not Involved -
Low Effort (1-10 hours) ◇
High Effort (11-30 hours)W ◆

7. BUDGET



24 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

8. FEE STRUCTURE

ONE HEALTH, BIGHORN
HARDIN, MT

High Plains Architects’ will require a $45,000 fee, inclusive of all expenses, to complete the proposed scope of 
work for the Hotel Becker PAR. With our current projected workload, this scope of work can be substantially 
completed during the months of March, April, and May 2025, as shown in the Preliminary Project Schedule. 
We propose to invoice based on completion of the following deliverables:

Invoice # Date Amount Deliverables

Invoice #1 4/01/2025 $15,000 Existing building floor plans and 
summary of existing conditions

Invoice #2 5/01/2025 $15,000 Remodel floor plan options and 
Meeting #3 Minutes 

Invoice #3 6/01/2025 $15,000 Final Draft of PAR



25HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

9. PRELIMINARY PROJECT SCHEDULE
PROJECT NAME: Hotel Becker Preliminary Architectural Report DATE: 1/10/2025
PROJECT NO.: INQ24_005

START END
SET UP PROJECT 2/10/2025 3/3/2025

Client-Architect Contract
Architect-Consultant Agreements
Meeting #1: Stakeholder Kick-Off on or around

Schedule Site Visits

DOCUMENT EXISTING CONDITIONS 3/4/2025 3/17/2025
Research history of building 3/4/2025 3/15/2025
Site Visit to document existing conditions on or around

3D scanning of building
Methodical evaluation of bldg assemblies
Structural assessment
Document electrical service and MEP systems

Create model of building in Revit 3/17/2025 3/21/2025

PROPOSED REMODEL DESIGN 3/18/2025 4/28/2025
Research local market demand 3/18/2025 3/23/2025
Meeting #2: Stakeholders re: Potential Uses on or around
Create Project Goals & Program
Develop Hist. Rehab. Strategies
Develop High Performance Green Strategies
Develop 2-3 Remodel Floor Plan Options 3/31/2025 4/4/2025
Meeting #3 (Virtual): Stakeholders to select Floor Plan Option
Finalize Design Concept 4/9/2025 4/28/2025

Site and First Floor Plan 4/9/2025 4/10/2025
Basement, Second, and Third Floor Plans 4/10/2025 4/11/2025
Exterior Perspective 4/14/2025 4/28/2025

Meet w/ MEP Engineers to determine system options
Meet w/ Structural Engineer to determine remodel impacts

ANALYSIS OF DESIGN 3/31/2025 4/30/2025
Zoning & Building Code Analysis 3/31/2025 4/2/2025
Construction Cost Estimate 4/22/2025 4/29/2025
Financial Pro Forma 4/29/2025 5/13/2025
Financial Opportunities 4/29/2025 5/13/2025
Adjust design concept  to make pro forma work 4/30/2025 5/14/2025

COMPILATION 5/19/2025 6/2/2025
Compile Report 5/19/2025 5/23/2025
Write Executive Summary 5/21/2025 5/22/2025
Virtual Meeting w/ Stakeholders to present PAR 5/28/2025

3/25/2025

3/27/2025
3/28/2025

4/8/2025

3/26/2025

4/16/2025
4/15/2025

PRELIMINARY PROJECT SCHEDULE

2/24/2025
3/3/2025

3/11/2025
3/11/2025
3/11/2025
3/11/2025
3/11/2025



26 HIGH PLAINS ARCHITECTS  |  JANUARY 2025

SWIFT BUILDING LOFTS
BILLINGS, MT



PROFESSIONAL PROFILE

WORK EXPERIENCE

EDUCATION

LICENSES & REGISTRATIONS

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC 
AFFILIATIONS

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Ed Gulick is President at High Plains Architects, where he has 
played an instrumental role in the fi rm’s regional leadership in 
high-performance green building. Ed brings extensive  design 
experience managing gut renovations of historic buildings as 
well as renovations of occupied buildings and high performance 
new construction projects for post-secondary education, offi ce,  
multifamily residential, and clinical uses. 

With his enthusiasm for systems thinking, historic 
craftsmanship, and environmental stewardship, Ed has 
provided leadership in delivering more than a dozen historic tax 
credit projects and LEED Platinum-certifi ed projects, all within 
conventional building budgets. In addition to his dedication 
to environmental sustainability, Ed is passionate about civic 
engagement, placemaking, and wealth creation, using 
walkable development patterns to provide enduring prosperity 
in Montana Communities.

President | Principal Architect
• Business Development
• Offi ce Management Team

Contact Information:
highplainsarchitects.com
(406) 896-0250
egulick@highplainsarchitects.com
2720 Minnesota Ave  Billings, MT  59101

2016 - Present

High Plains Architects P.C.
Billings, MT

2004 - 2016

High Plains Architects P.C.
Billings, MT

2002 - 2004

Green Resource Center
Berkeley, CA

1996 - 1998

Yale Urban Design Workshop
Across Connecticut

Architect | Project Manager

Yale University, 1998
New Haven, Connecticut
Master of Architecture

Pomona College, 1994
Claremont, California
Bachelor of Arts, Studio Art

• Licensed Architect: Montana, Idaho
• NCARB Certifi ed
• LEED Accredited Professional

• American Institute of Architects - 
Montana Chapter

• Billings Architectural Association, 
President (2019-2020)

• U. S. Green Building Council, Montana
• City Councilman, City of Billings 
(2022-Present)

• Northern Plains Resource Council, 
Clean Energy Task Force Chair (2012-
2024)

Program Manager
• Technical assistance
• Public education

Project Manager | Designer

Studies and Master Plans
• Iron Front Building Feasibility Study, Helena, MT (2024)
• Chief Dull Knife College Preliminary Architectural Report, 
Lame Deer, MT (2020)

• One Health Hardin Master Plan, Hardin, MT (2018)
• Kampgrounds of America Corporate Headquarters Feasibility 
Study, Billings, MT (2017)

• Thermopolis Main St. Historic Survey, Thermopolis, WY (2017)

Commercial/Mixed Use
• One Health Center, Miles City, MT (under construction - 2025)
• One Health Center, Lewistown, MT (2022)
• One Health Bighorn, Hardin, MT (2020)
• SxS Building, Bozeman, MT (2017)
• Valley Federal Credit Union - 4 branches, Billings, MT & 
Bozeman, MT (2015 - 2018)

• Borden Hotel Redevelopment, Whitehall, MT (2015)
• National Outdoor Leadership School Wyss Wilderness 
Medicine Campus, Lander, WY (2012)

• Home on the Range, Billings, MT (2006)

Residential/Multi-family
• Crowley Flats, Lewistown, MT (2023)
• Tracy Lofts, Billings, MT (2012)
• Swift Building Lofts, Billings, MT (2009)

ED GULICK
AIA, LEED AP® BD+C

PRESIDENT | PRINCIPAL

Appendix A



RANDY HAFER
FAIA, LEED AP® BD+C

CO-FOUNDER

PROFESSIONAL PROFILE

WORK EXPERIENCE

EDUCATION

LICENSES & REGISTRATIONS

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC 
AFFILIATIONS

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Randy Hafer, co-founder of High Plains Architects, is an 
architect, developer, business and thought leader committed 
to environmental sustainability, urban revitalization, and historic 
preservation.  Randy’s career has been recognized locally, statewide 
(as the 2014 Montana SBA’s Small Business Person of the Year along 
with his wife, Janna), and nationally (AIA College of Fellows).

Randy has an extremely diverse background in architecture, ranging 
from the Armed Forces Reserve Center in Billings to affordable 
housing, high rises in Chicago to historic building redevelopments 
in numerous communities, large and small, throughout Montana.  
Randy also provides sustainability consulting for individuals, 
agencies, larger-scale projects and institutions and lives in one of 
four Certifi ed Living Buildings in the world that are categorized as 
residences. 

Co-Founder
• Business Development Team

Contact Information:
highplainsarchitects.com
(406) 896-0250
rhafer@highplainsarchitects.com
2720 Minnesota Ave  Billings, MT  59101

1999 - Present

High Plains Architects P.C.
Billings, MT

1992 - 1999

A&E Architects
Billings, MT

1986 - 1992

Booth/Hansen & Associates
Chicago, IL

1981 - 1986

Weese Hickey Weese Architects
Chicago, IL

1979 - 1980

William Petchler, Architect
New Haven, CT

Senior Project Architect

Yale University, 1981
New Haven, Connecticut
Master of Architecture

Stanford University, 1976
Stanford, California
Bachelor of Arts, Architecture and Art 
History

• Licensed Architect: Montana, 
Wyoming, North Dakota, & Illinois

• LEED Accredited Professional

• Fellow, American Institute of Architects 
• Billings Architectural Association
• U. S. Green Building Council, Montana
• Downtown Business Improvement 
District Board of Directors - Billings, MT

• Downtown Billings Partnership - 
Billings, MT

• Energy & Conservation Commission - 
Billings, MT

• City of Billings Parking Board
• Montana Heritage Commission

Vice President

Architect

Project Designer

Studies and Master Plans
• Granite County Museum Feasibility Study, Philipsburg, MT (2024)
• JM Donoven Building Feasibility Study, Havre, MT (2024)
• Ekalaka Downtown Master Plan, Ekalaka, MT (2024)
• Yellowstone Paper Company Feasibility Study, Billings, MT (2023)
• Carter County Museum Feasibility Study, Ekalaka, MT (2023)
• Havre Downtown Master Plan, Havre, MT (2022)
• Borden Hotel Feasibility Study, Whitehall, MT (2011)
• Stapleton Building Feasibility Study, Billings, MT (2003)

Commercial/Mixed Use/Education
• Futurity Tower, Billings, MT (Est. 2026)
• Old Billings Hardware Building, Billings, MT (Est. 2025)
• Petroleum County Courthouse Remodel, Winnett, MT (Est. 2025)
• Borden Hotel Redevelopment, Whitehall, MT (2015)
• Old Maverick Fire House, Billings, MT (2004)

Residential/Multi-family
• Broadway Apartments. Lewistown, MT (Est. 2025)
• Central School Renovation, Roundup, MT (Est. 2025)
• Hotel Arvon, Great Falls, MT (2014)
• Tracy Lofts, Billings, MT (2012)
• Swift Building Lofts, Billings, MT (2009)
• Oliver Building Lofts, Billings, MT (2006)

Appendix A



PROFESSIONAL PROFILE

WORK EXPERIENCE

EDUCATION

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC 
AFFILIATIONS

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Emarie is detail-oriented and excells at team coordination 
and effective communication. Always focused on the building 
occupant’s experience, Emarie works hard during design 
to understand the client’s goals and coordinate spaces, 
systems, and fi nishes accordingly. Emarie believes in team-
oriented problem solving, increasing effi ciency by including all 
stakeholders in the process. She is well-versed in adaptive re-
use and facillitating occupancy changes in existing buildings. 

Emarie’s experience includes design and contract 
administration for multifamily housing, outpatient clinics, single 
family residences, and commercial remodels. She has served as 
project manager for several projects renovated during owner 
occupancy, providing thorough, responsive support and design 
team leadership through construction. 

Project Designer | Project Manager
• Business Development Team

Contact Information:
highplainsarchitects.com
(406) 896-0250
eskelton@highplainsarchitects.com
2720 Minnesota Ave  Billings, MT  59101

2015 - Present

High Plains Architects P.C.
Billings, MT

2012 - 2013

B and B Consultants
South Boston, VA

2011-2012

design/build LAB
Blacksburg, VA

Architecural Intern

Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State 
University, 2014
Blacksburg, Virginia
Bachelor of Architecture

• American Institute of Architects - 
Montana Chapter

• Billings Architectural Association

Design and Construction team
• Masonic Amphitheater, 

Clifton Forge, VA

Studies and Master Plans
• Iron Front Feasibility Study, Helena, MT (2024)
• Plenty Doors CDC Preliminary Architectural Report, Crow 
Agency, MT (2021)

• Sandstone School Feasibility Study, Absorkee, MT (2020)
• Mountain States Building Feasibility Study, Miles City, MT (2017)

Commercial/Mixed Use
• Wier Building, Roundup, MT (est. 2025)
• Crow Innovation Center, Crow Agency, MT (on the boards)
• One Health Center, Miles City, MT (under construction - 2025)
• One Health Center, Lewistown, MT (2022)
• Montana Hall, Bozeman, MT (2020)
• Toucan Gallery, Billings, MT (2019)
• Yellowstone Collision Paint Shop, Billings, MT (2018)
• American Bison Center Remodel, Billings, MT (2018)

Residential/Multi-family
• Jackson Creek Residence, Bozeman, MT (2024)
• Crowley Flats, Lewistown, MT (2023)
• Whitetail Lane Residence, Red Lodge, MT (2022)
• Golf Course Road Residence Remodel, Laurel, MT (2021)
• Highway 212 Residence, Red Lodge, MT (2020)
• Farmhouse Residence, Belgrade, MT (2018)

EMARIE SKELTON
AAIA

PROJECT DESIGNER III

Appendix A



JOHN SANFORD 
LEED AP® BD+C

PROJECT DESIGNER

PROFESSIONAL PROFILE

WORK EXPERIENCE

EDUCATION

LICENSES & REGISTRATIONS

PROFESSIONAL & CIVIC 
AFFILIATIONS

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

John Sanford combines a robust background in hands-
on construction with a passion for sustainable design and 
community development. At High Plains Architects, he applies 
his expertise in graphics and digital design tools to craft 
thoughtful, high-performance designs for a diverse range of 
projects.

John has contributed to impactful studies and master plans, 
including the Ekalaka Downtown Master Plan, the Carter 
County Museum Feasibility Study, and the Yellowstone 
Paper Company Feasibility Study. His project portfolio spans 
residential, commercial, and mixed-use developments, such as 
HomeFront’s 3D Printed Homes and the Old Billings Hardware 
Building.

Project Designer

Contact Information:
highplainsarchitects.com
(406) 896-0250
jsanford@highplainsarchitects.com
2720 Minnesota Ave  Billings, MT  59101

2021 - Present

High Plains Architects P.C.
Billings, MT

Montana State University, 2020
Bozeman, Montana
Master of Architecture
 
Montana State Univeristy, 2019
Bozeman, Montana
Bachelor of Arts, Environmental 
Design

• LEED Accredited Professional

• American Institute of Architects - 
Montana Chapter

• Billings Architectural Association

Studies and Master Plans
• Carter County Museum Fab-Lab Feasibility Study, Ekalaka, MT 
(on the boards) 

• Carter County Museum Energy Design Study, Ekalaka, MT 
(2024)

• JM Donoven Building Feasibility Study, Havre, MT (2024)
• Cottage 5 
• Ekalaka Downtown Master Plan, Ekalaka, MT (2023)
• Carter County Museum Feasibility Study, Ekalaka MT (2023) 
• Yellowstone Paper Co. Redevelopment Feasibility Study, 
Billings, MT (2023)

• Carter County Museum Feasibility Study, Ekalaka, MT (2023)
• Havre Downtown Master Plan, Havre, MT (2022)
• Flathead Lake Camp Master Plan, MT (2022) 
• Prairie Tower Analysis of Options 2022, Billings, MT (2022) 
• Zest Kitchen Store Feasibility Study, Billings, MT (2022)

Commercial/Mixed Use
• Old Billings Hardware Building, Billings, MT (on the boards)
• Boulder Hot Springs, Boulder, MT (2022)

Residential/Multi-family
• Farmhouse Residence, Laurel, MT (on the boards)
• HomeFront’s LB Lofts, Billings, MT (on the boards)
• HomeFront’s 3D Printed Homes, Billings, MT (on the boards)

Appendix A



Appendix B

Team Members 
RICK SNIDARICH, P.E.—STRUCTURAL ENGINEER 
A proven asset to our structural team, Rick has worked on numerous residential, commercial, 
and institutional projects throughout the state. His technical knowledge of engineering 
mechanics and material design, as well as structural analysis software, make him a valuable 
engineer on our team. 
Relevant project experience: 

• Simkin-Hallins Retail Building 
• Bell Hotel 
• Twin Creeks Apartments 
• Atwell Hotel 
• Yellowstone Park Inn Parapet Wall Inspection 

 
EDUCATION 
B.S. Civil Engineering, Montana State University, Bozeman, MT – 2014 
M.S. Civil Engineering, Montana State University, Bozeman, MT – 2016 
 
LICENSES/REGISTRATION 
Professional Engineer: Montana, 2019 62691 
 
Stahly Information: 
 

Stahly Engineering & Associates is a leading provider of civil 
engineering services for clients across Montana. With more than 
50 years of experience and a highly skilled professional team, we 
specialize in delivering customized solutions that meet the unique 
needs of our clients in a range of industries. We employ 
professionals with expertise in site development, survey, 
transportation, bridge, water and wastewater systems, and 
structural engineering. Stahly also provides construction 
administration and grant/funding services for valuable 
infrastructure projects across the state. 
 
We are proud to serve as both the City of Hardin and Big Horn 

County’s term contracted engineer where we have built professional relationships with City and 
County staff and the residents they serve. Our staff takes pride in being involved with projects, 
large or small, that are intended to improve City infrastructure, especially where that 
infrastructure is a vital part of the economic well-being of the area. The Hotel Becker is an 
integral part of the community and Stahly Engineering is honored to be part of the High Plains 
Architects Team to help the community realize their vision for this building. 
 
 



Appendix B

www.seaeng.com

Structural Project Engineer 
RICK SNIDARICH, PE

Rick Snidarich graduated in 2014 from Montana State University with a Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering 
(Structural Option). He then went on to earn his Master of Science in Civil Engineering (Structural Option) 
from Montana State University in 2016, where is his research focused on the development of Ultra High-
Performance Concrete for the Montana Department of Transportation. His technical knowledge of engineering 
mechanics and material design, as well as structural analysis software has proved to be an asset to the 
structural team.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
SIMKINS-HALLIN RETAIL BUILDING
Bozeman, MT | 45 Architecture

Provided structural engineering services for a 30,000 sq. ft. ground-level retail store with 
an 11,000 sq. ft. mezzanine in Bozeman, Montana. The project featured pre-cast concrete 
wall panels, girder truss roof framing, SIP panels, and standard wood framing. The lateral 
force-resisting system incorporated pre-cast concrete wall panels and a SIP wood roof 
diaphragm. Services included preliminary project coordination, shallow foundation and 
basement wall design, gravity and lateral load path analysis, and detailed structural drawings. 
Construction administration support was also provided, including shop drawing reviews and 
RFI coordination to ensure design integrity during construction.

BELL HOTEL – STRUCTURAL
Helena, MT | CWG Architects

Provided structural engineering services for the Bell Hotel project in Helena, Montana, which 
includes a single-story administrative building (1,300 square feet) serving as the hotel lobby 
and a two-story hotel structure with a lower level (2,850 square feet), upper level (2,640 square 
feet), and 1,320 square feet of walkways and stairways. Structural design included shallow 
foundations with concrete stemwalls and piers, gravity load design for snow, dead, and live 
loads using wood framing with selective steel elements, and lateral design for wind and 
earthquake loads with wood shear walls. The design adhered to the 2018 International Building 
Code and was informed by a geotechnical report provided by the owner.

ATWELL HOTEL BELGRADE
Belgrade, MT | Town Pump

Developed structural designs for lateral and gravity force-resisting systems based on prototype 
plans provided by Town Pump. The design adhered to the 2021 International Building Code 
requirements and utilized primarily light-framed construction with supplementary steel 
framing as needed. The primary lateral force-resisting system consisted of wood-sheathed 
shearwalls. Deliverables included a comprehensive set of structural construction drawings and 
a calculation book.

ATWELL HOTEL BOZEMAN
Bozeman, MT | Town Pump

Adapted and revised structural construction documents from the Atwell Hotel – Belgrade 
project for a new hotel in Bozeman, MT. Updated designs to comply with structural load 
requirements as prescribed by the 2021 International Building Code and City of Bozeman 
standards. Deliverables included a complete set of structural construction drawings and a 
calculation book.

CENTRAL MONTANA MEDICAL CENTER - MEDICAL ARTS ADDITION
Great Falls, MT | Nelson Architects

Performed a structural assessment of the existing structure for potential addition of a second 
story. This assessment included 3D modelling of the existing lateral force resisting system to 
determine the necessary retrofits to the existing lateral system to accommodate additional 
seismic loading from the proposed addition.

HRDC HEAD START
Belgrade, MT | Comma Q Architecture

Project engineer for a 5,500sf early education building in Belgrade, MT. Performed complete 
structural analysis and design. The structure was comprised of entirely of wood framing. 
Efficient structural design allowed for ease of construction and reduction of costs for the 
owner.

EDUCATION
B.S. Civil Engineering, Montana 
State University, Bozeman, MT – 
2014
M.S. Civil Engineering, Montana 
State University, Bozeman, MT – 
2016 

LICENSES/REGISTRATION
Professional Engineer: Montana, 
2019 62691

MEMBERSHIPS
American Institute of Steel 
Construction 
Structural Engineering Institute 
American Society of Civil 
Engineers
American Concrete Institute

EMPLOYMENT HISTORY
2017-Present – Structural 
Engineer, Stahly Engineering and 
Associates
2015-2017 – Graduate Research 
Assistant, Montana State 
University
2014-2015 – Structural Engineer 
Intern, Beaudette Consulting 
Engineers
2013 (Summer) – Construction 
Engineering Intern, Civil Science
2012 (Summer) – Materials Testing 
Technician, DOWL HKM



Appendix B

www.seaeng.com

Structural Project Engineer
RICK SNIDARICH, PE

COTTONWOOD CREEK VILLAS STRUCTURAL DESIGN
Deer Lodge, MT | Bjerke Architects

Project engineer on a facility for affordable housing units that were funded by the Low-Income Credits and the HOME Investment 
Partnerships programs. This facility included five different units that varied as one, two, and three family dwellings with a gross 
area of approximately 25,000sf of living space. Attention to detail was required to incorporate the complex systems of draft stops 
and firewalls as requested by the architect.   

RED ALDER APARTMENTS STRUCTURAL DESIGN
Helena, MT | Mosaic Architecture

Project engineer for the structural portion of a new affordable housing community in the City of Helena, MT funded by numerous 
agencies including the Low-Income Housing Tax Credits, Housing Trust Fund, and a tax-exempt bond. This facility included a 
building for hosting community events as well as several one, two, and three-bedroom residences. A total of twenty-one buildings 
comprised the final site with a total project cost of approximately $13,000,000.  

LEWIS AND CLARK LIBRARY STRUCTURAL DESIGN
Helena, MT | Mosaic Architecture

Project Engineer for the seismic retrofit component of the 2019/2020 public library renovation project. The 37,000 ft2, 
unconventional brick building, built in 1975, needed to be brought up to current building code standards for earthquake resistivity in 
order to install large new windows in the exterior walls while ensuring public safety. The complex challenge was solved by designing 
steel eccentrically-braced frames with collectors and braces around the perimeter of the mezzanine and roof diaphragms. Most of 
the connection details were appreciatingly drafted in 3D in order to effectively communicate the design intent to the design team, 
the contractor, and the steel fabricator.

ST. PETER’S HEALTH VERTICAL ADDITION
Helena, MT | Slate Architecture/St. Peter’s Hospital

Performed a structural assessment of the existing structure for potential addition of a second story. This assessment included 
3D modelling of the existing lateral force resisting system to determine the necessary retrofits to the existing lateral system to 
accommodate additional seismic loading from the proposed addition.

HRDC LIVINGSTON LAND TRUST
Livingston, MT | 45 Architecture

Project engineer for a development team working to repurpose 75 premanufactured cottages that had been planned to house 
workers in the Bakken oil field “man-camps.” HRDC purchased these cottages to become affordable housing tiny homes in the 
Livingston area. The structural component of the project involved foundation designs to support the re-purposed cottages.

PRICKLY PEAR ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
East Helena, MT | CWG Architects

Project engineer for a 52,000sf elementary school to be constructed in East Helena, MT. The main structure was comprised of 
wood framing with steel and reinforced concrete elements incorporated into the design. Performed lateral analysis and design, 
as well as steel framing and foundation design. A frost protected shallow foundation was utilized in the design to eliminate excess 
concrete in the foundation and reduce overall excavation and foundation costs for the owner. Dick Anderson Construction served 
as the Construction Manager/General Contractor on this project. This accelerated delivery method required the structural design 
team to coordinate extensively with the architect and other engineering consultants throughout the design process. 

JUDITH BASIN COUNTY LIBRARY
Stanford, MT | Slate Architecture

Project engineer for a 3,400sf addition to the existing library building in Stanford, MT. Performed complete structural analysis and 
design for the addition. The structure was comprised of wood framing and utilized steel columns to support large girder trusses to 
maximize open space in the floor plan. Additionally, post and beam construction was implemented on one side of the addition to 
allow the owner the opportunity for future expansion.

CANYON FERRY ROAD BAPTIST CHURCH
East Helena, MT | Slate Architecture

Project engineer for a three-plus story, 49,000sf educational facility in the Helena Valley. The structure was comprised of large 
spanning mass timber bents that spanned over the gymnasium portion and a combination of conventional framing, heavy steel, and 
raised concrete floor decks. Because of the varying construction materials, coordination with the interfaces of the materials and 
assemblies were essential to ensure the building would perform properly during both gravity and lateral loading events.



Appendix B

About Us
www.imegcorp.com

We are employee-
owned and 
results driven 
with a passion 
for transforming 
environments 
and communities 
through high-
performance design 
and infrastructure.

IMEG is a leading historical preservation engineering design firm that delivers a rare combination 
— the broad expertise of a national leader with the personal relationships and deep collaboration 
of a local firm. Maintaining historical integrity on both the exterior and interior of a building 
requires creative thought and meticulous coordination. Having worked on numerous historical 
buildings, IMEG has learned how to successfully integrate the old with the new. IMEG has varied 
experience with projects in nationally designated historic districts. 

IMEG works with leading architects and owners to evaluate the buildings and its systems to 
determine appropriate methods of repair and replacement that will minimize the impact on the 
building. IMEG’s extensive experience helps to guide the owner in making choices about cost 
effective and efficient upgrades while protecting the historic integrity of the building. But what 
really sets IMEG apart? 

• Our market-sector team structure allows our engineers to specialize and become experts 
– providing data-driven solutions and innovation.

• We value a culture of learning and development – sharing our knowledge to help impact 
industry trends and solve complex design problems.

• Through organic and strategic acquired growth we have an extensive breadth of expertise 
and deep bench of client knowledge – helping transform environments and communities.

• We have been driving design innovation for decades delivering many “firsts” in sustainable 
design – helping clients become energy stewards and reduce impact.

• We bring extensive national, regional, and local knowledge to every client relationship – with 
a commitment to deliver high quality, cost-effective outcomes through a collaborative and 
flexible project approach.

PROJECT TYPES
• Banquet Halls
• Bars/Nightclubs
• Community Centers
• Convention Centers
• Exhibitions
• Historic Preservation
• Hotels
• Indoor Pools/Water Parks
• Libraries
• Meeting Rooms
• Mixed-Use Developments
• Museums
• Parking Structures
• Performance Halls
• Retail
• Restaurants/Kitchens
• Rooftop Decks
• Theaters
• Studios
• Visitor Centers

IMEG | Historical Firm Profile

AT-A-GLANCE
• Top 3 Engineering Firm in U.S. 

(BD+C)
• 100% Employee-Owned
• Full-service Engineering & 
Consulting

• 90+ Locations
• 2,800 Team Members
• 650+ Licensed Engineers
• $427M in Annual Revenue
• #52 / Top 500 Design Firm List (ENR)



Appendix B

IMEG 

Kevin’s responsibilities include engineering design of mechanical systems, and 
project management from schematics through construction. He is familiar with both 
the traditional project delivery method, as well as Construction Management At Risk 
(CMAR). Kevin’s wide range of experience has given him the ability to think outside 
the box leading to unique design solutions that significantly reduce energy and 
maximize system flexibility. As Senior Principal, Kevin communicates with clients to 
ensure a clear understanding of their unique needs, helps define the project scope 
requirements, and acts as a consultant both internally and externally. He maintains a 
strong team concept from project inception through completion.

 
Project Highlights

• Arvon Block Hotel Redesign, Great Falls, MT, Renovation of abandoned building 
to create a boutique hotel in downtown Great Falls

• Bordens Hotel Building Remodel, Whitehall, MT, Remodel of existing hotel 
building into multi-use facility (9 loft-style apartments upstairs, various 
businesses on the main floor, and a large conference room)

• Atlas Tower, Dickinson, ND, MEP design support for 6-story, historical hotel into 
mixed use commercial/residential spaces

• Homebase Partners - Hotel Bozeman - Phase 1, Bozeman, MT, 6-story, 100,000-
sf hotel with amenity spaces to include a kitchen and restaurant on the main 
level, a fitness area on level 2, a restaurant and bar on level 6, and a mechanical 
penthouse on the roof

• Etha Armory Hotel, Bozeman, MT, Addition to the existing armory building to 
construct a high end hotel 

• Stayhex Hotel, Gilbert, AZ, A combination of two hotels into one location. 100 
room Holiday Inn Express and 88 Staybridge Suites with shared amenities 
Yellowstone Building, Billings, MT, MEP systems assessment

• Crowley Building Renovation, Lewistown, MT, Historic renovation of existing 
building to include medical clinic and residential housing

• Milligan Building Renovation, Miles City, MT, Historic renovation of existing to 
include 4 floors of medical clinic, pharmacy, and dental clinic

Experience
32 Total, 32 with IMEG

Education
University of Wyoming, BS Mechanical 
Engineering

Registrations
Professional Engineer
Alaska (AELM10495) 
Idaho (P-9557) 
Montana (13799) 
South Dakota (6897) 
Washington (39609)

Accreditations
LEED Accredited Professional
Commissioning Certification, University of 
Wisconsin

Affiliations
ASHRAE, Big Sky Chapter

Kevin Pope, PE, LEED AP, QCxP
Senior Client Executive 



Appendix B

IMEG 

Clint’s responsibilities include project management, management of electrical staff, 
and engineering and design of lighting, power, and special systems. He has designed 
power distribution, general and specialty lighting, power generation, grounding 
and lightning protection, PA and intercom systems, security systems, fire alarm and 
emergency mass notification systems, and telephone and data systems. Clint has 
extensive experience in designing commercial facilities. Since joining IMEG, Clint has 
managed several commercial projects, which have varied in size from small remodels 
to large additions and new construction. His experience includes residential, 
hospitality, healthcare, education, and commercial buildings.

Project Highlights

• Arvon Block Hotel Redesign, Great Falls, MT, Renovation of abandoned building 
to create a boutique hotel in downtown Great Falls

• Bordens Hotel Building Remodel, Whitehall, MT, Remodel of existing hotel 
building into multi-use facility (9 loft-style apartments upstairs, various 
businesses on the main floor, and a large conference room)

• Atlas Tower, Dickinson, ND, MEP design support for 6-story, historical hotel into 
mixed use commercial/residential spaces

• Shoshone Condo Hotel, Big Sky Resort, Big Sky, MT, Humidity Issues Study 
• Boulder Hot Springs, Boulder, MT, Facility Assessment/Study for existing 

conditions assessment and building and site enhancement recommendations
•  Homebase Partners - Hotel Bozeman - Phase 1, Bozeman, MT, 6-story, 100,000- 

sf hotel Revisions to make the residential building into a hotel building with 
amenity spaces to include a kitchen and restaurant on the main level, a fitness 
area on level 2, a restaurant and bar on level 6, and a mechanical penthouse on 
the roof

• Lone Mountain Land Company - Spanish Peaks Lodge, Big Sky, MT, 
Comprehensive structural, mechanical, electrical, and plumbing review

• CCY Architects - Spanish Peaks Upper Flatirons Mixed-Use Development - Phase 
II, Big Sky, MT, New 67,000-sf New Spanish Peaks Upper Flatirons Mixed-Use 
Development, primarily residential with (3) to (4) for-sale residential units

• Yellowstone Building, Billings, MT, MEP systems assessment
• Crowley Building Renovation, Lewistown, MT, Historic renovation of existing 

building to include medical clinic and residential housing
• Milligan Building Renovation, Miles City, MT, Historic renovation of existing to 

include 4 floors of medical clinic, pharmacy, and dental clinic

Experience
18 Total, 16 with IMEG

Education
Montana State University, BS Electrical 
Engineering

Registrations
Professional Engineer 
Montana (#30608) 
North Dakota (#29692) 
Colorado (#0061068) 
Wyoming (#19183)
Alaska (#EE206013)

Accreditations
LEED Accredited Professional
Lighting Certified Professional

Clint Laferriere, PE, LEED AP, LC
Principal | Project Executive



Appendix C



Appendix C



Appendix C



Appendix C



PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



 (406) 896-0250  | 2720 Minnesota Ave • Billings, MT 59101  |  www.highplainsarchitects.com



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   1

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
PRELIMINARY ARCHITECTURAL REPORT 
HOTEL BECKER



406.404.1588   |   347 SOUTH FERGUSON, SUITE 3   |   BOZEMAN, MONTANA 59718   |   WWW.ARCHITECTSALASKA.COM 406.404.1588   |   347 SOUTH FERGUSON, SUITE 3   |   BOZEMAN, MONTANA 59718   |   WWW.ARCHITECTSALASKA.COM

SERVICE 

TEAMWORK

RESPEC T

INTEGRIT Y

DEVOTION

E XCELLENCE

SERVICE 

TEAMWORK

RESPEC T

INTEGRIT Y

DEVOTION

E XCELLENCE

  

January 15, 2025
Hotel Becker
Attn: Andrew Lehr
c/o: City of Hardin
406 N Cheyenne Ave
Hardin, MT 59034
Subject: REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL (RFP)  For 
Professional Services Preliminary Architectural Report

Dear Andrew Lehr and Tina Toyne,

The City of Hardin’s request for professional 
architectural services to provide a PAR for the 
historic Hotel Becker is an important step towards the 
renovation, reuse and revitalization of your downtown 
district. I know the amount of work that entails and can 
understand the need for a dedicated, knowledgeable 
and capable team to assist your team and ensure 
success of this investigative project. 

On behalf of the entire Architects Alaska design team, I 
would like to express our interest in the opportunity to 
support your mission of evaluating the current site with 
a PAR report and help facilitate the decisions for best 
use of the property. Architects Alaska design team is 
uniquely qualified to be your partner on this journey. As 
the Principal Architect and manager of the Bozeman 
office, I live, work, and play in Montana and care about 
our communities like family. 

We propose an evaluation and design team with a 
history of similar types of projects and a proven track 
record. As the Architect and Project Manager from the 
Bozeman office, I will lead our design team and be your 
main point of contact. I am familiar with evaluating  
for renovations of historically significant buildings. I 
will assist the City of Hardin by creating a PAR for the 
Hotel Becker and ensuring requirements are met for 
the appliable grants you have received and for any 
additional funding opportunities. 

I look forward to working with you to deliver the 
Preliminary Architectural Report for the Hotel Becker in 
a way that meets the City of Hardin’s goals for revitalizing 
this historic structure as a part of the 2021 Downtown 
Revitalization project. I am eager to hear your comments 
and answer any questions you may have.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

Respectfully Submitted,

Melanie Mangione, AIA, ASID, CHID, WELL AP

Principal  |  Architects Alaska

CONTACT INFORMATION 

Melanie Mangione, AIA
Principal Architect
347 South Ferguson, Suite 3
Bozeman, MT 59718
Office: 406.404.1588 
mmangione@architectsalaska.com 

AFFIRMATIVE STATEMENTS

Listed below are all individuals 
authorized by Architects Alaska to 
make commitments on behalf of the 
firm. However, Melanie Mangione will 
be your direct contact for this project.

  David Moore, President 
907.272.3567

  Michael Henricks, Sr. Vice 
President, 907.272.3567

  Melanie Mangione, Vice President, 
406.404.1588

  Stephen Henri, Vice President 
907.272.3567 

  Andy Simasko, Secretary/
Treasurer, 907.373.7503

SUB-CONSULTANT

CONTACT INFORMATION  

ZACH BIRDINGROUND

Zac Birdinground
Estimator/Project Manager
1223 Cortez Avenue
Billings, MT 59105
406.861.5187 
zacbirdinground@gmail.com 

IMEG 

Kevin Pope
Lead Mechanical Engineer/Fire
Protection Engineer
314 North Center Ave
Hardin, MT 59034
406.839.2217
Kevin.G.Pope@imegcorp.com 



TABLE OF CONTENTS

COVER LETTER 

1   |  Past Experience 1 
2  |  Project References 5 
3  |  Team Members & Qualifications  12 
4  |  Capacity to Assume New Business  24
5  |  Proposed Scope of Work 25 

6  |  Deliverables, Budget, & Timeline 28 
 

 

 



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   1

1 | PAST EXPERIENCE

UNDERSTANDING OF NEED 
Architects Alaska is well equipped and has selected a top 
notch team to complete your PAR and preliminary design 
recommendations. We are confident you will see we are an 
excellent team that is more than capable of meeting your 
goals, timeline and budget. Working with clients who rely on 
state and federal grants it is important for the feasibility and 
ultimate success of the project for the design team to follow 
the guidelines and regulations set forth in the “Preliminary 
Architectural Report for New Construction or Rehabilitation 
of Existing Buildings.” We have several projects currently 
in construction and recently completed that utilized grant 
funding or state funding to support their community focused 
projects. The Historic Hotel Becker will need a skilled and 
detail oriented team to evaluate the existing conditions and 
recommend solutions that are sensitive to the history of 
the Hotel, will help the City reach the goal to revitalize Main 
Street, attract tourists and be a cost effective solution for 
property rehabilitation and project completion.

APPROACH
Our overall approach and timeline to meet your goals for 
the project are outlined in our Work Plan.  This easy to read 
timeline shows who will participate in each phase, the 
activities, milestones and deliverables for each phase. In 
brief, we anticipate the PAR portion of the project evaluating 
the site and existing buildings and other structures to take 
up to 20 weeks to complete. Before the PAR is completed, we 
will begin the design evaluation process after meeting and 
coordinating with appropriate stakeholders.  All local, state, 
and national code compliance will be evaluated with the 
design process. Cost estimates will be included with the PAR 
documentation and include any design choices confirmed by 
the stakeholders and City of Hardin.

“I’d recommend 
Architects Alaska 
to any project 
owner interested 
in a first class 
experience.”
James Murrell, Project Manager 
Davis Constructors & Engineers



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   32 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

EXPERIENCE
Architects Alaska has performed many PARS and 
PERS, ranging from multi-disciplinary campus 
wide surveys to more focused assessments.
 
With decades of experience evaluating facilities and 
providing formal assessment reports we are confident in 
our experience and ability to provide this PAR for the City of 
Hardin. Melanie has completed over 2 million square feet of 
facility evaluations from hospitals to storage warehouses, 
medical clinics and community centers. Examples of our 
most recent experience is highlighted below and further in 
this proposal.

NSCH HOSPITAL BACKFILL
A code and condition survey of 11 different facilities owned by 
Norton Sound Health Corporation in Nome, Alaska. Buildings 
included Hospital, Hospital Admin, senior assisted living, 
clinic buildings, power plant, storage facilities, staff housing. 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA CODE ASSESSMENTS

Code and condition surveys have been performed for the 
City of Bethel, Alaska through a term contract with DOWL 
Engineering. Architects Alaska assessed the City Hall roof 

and determined that it had reached the end of its useful life. 
The following year, AAI was hired to design a reroof of the 
facility. Architects Alaska assessed the 1970’s Public Works 
Facility, a 70,000 SF building housing the Water, Sewer, 
Garbage, and Streets equipment fleet. Our assessment 
revealed this facility has reached the point where annual 
maintenance and repairs energy consumption, and 
replacement of failed assemblies are so expensive that full 
building replacement is justifiable. Another recent project 
assessed a City-Owned building leased by the State of Alaska 
for a courthouse. Architects Alaska assessed the building to 
assist the City in renewing it’s lease with the State. 

 ANTHC / VSW WATER TREATMENT PLANT PERS

Architects Alaska is part of the design team assessing built 
infrastructure providing water treatment in rural and remote 
areas of Alaska. These studies assess the suitability of 
existing buildings for continued use. Some of the facilities 
will require modifications for new technologies or the 
addition of piped water serving the rural residents, and the 
architectural portions of the reports assess the building’s 
capacity for housing or expanding to accommodate these 
new technologies.

NEIGHBORWORKS MONTANA, LIVINSTON MONTANA, 
VIEW VISTA APARTMENTS

Preliminary Architectural Report completed on an 
accelerated schedule and on budget for this property under a 
CDBG grant with matching funds from the City of Livingston. 
Meeting the requirements of the CDBG for future funding and 
following up with NeighborWorks for a whole site ‘best use’ 
study was completed for the city and owners. 

Additional Communities we have worked for within the past 
two years providing PAR and design services:

Valdez AK – Medical Facility Assessment report 

Aleutian Priboloff Island Association  AK - Medical Facility 
Assessment report

Nome AK – Medical Facility Assessment report

Tazlina AK - Medical Facility Assessment report

“With quality work 
from Architects 
Alaska we have a 
facility that was  
built on time and 
under budget.”
Jaylene Peterson-Nyren
Former Director  
Kenaitze Indian Tribe



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   54 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

CURRENT MONTANA PROJECTS UTILIZING FEDERAL 
FUNDS OR GRANTS
 
Northern Cheyenne Tribe - Lame Deer, Mt
Childcare Building
 Construction Documents - Anticipate Start
 Construction Early Fall 2024
Education Office Building
 In Construction – Anticipate Completion Summer
 2025
Northern Cheyenne Tribal Health Center 
 Pre Design – Anticipate Design phase to begin Winter
 2024
Crow Nation – Crow Agency, MT
Crow Agency Childcare Building
 Complete – July 2024
State of Montana – Helena, MT
Montana Law Enforcement Academy Scenario Building
 In Construction – Anticipate completion December
 2024
Montana State University – Bozeman, MT
Reid Hall Sprinkler Retrofit
 Complete – August 2024
Gallatin College – Frontage Road Building – Multiple projects
 Complete – January 2024
Bio ReD Lab Renovation
 Construction Documents – Anticipate Construction
 start Fall 2024
Gallatin College – Osterman Drive – Welding Lab renovation
 Complete – August 2024
AJM Johnston Hall Renovation – Grad office relocation
 Complete – August 2024
Blackfeet Tribe – Browning, MT
Blackfeet DOT and office Facility
 In Design – Anticipate Construction Start Spring 2025

2 | PROJECT REFERENCES
You need a full commitment from a design firm to 
provide the required consistency and attention to 
detail. The City of Hardin deserves an experienced 
design team that understands your needs going 
forward.
 
Architects Alaska has performed many PARS and PERS, 
ranging from multi-disciplinary campus wide surveys to 
more focused assessments. The following pages highlight 
our experience in feasibility studies and renovation projects 
that we feel are relevant to the needs of this project.



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   76 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

The following are select surveys completed for ANTHC. Melanie 
Mangione worked as Project Manager on all the following projects.

2016 DEEP LOOK AND FACILITY CONDITION ASSESSMENTS
SOUTHEAST ALASKA REGIONAL HEALTH CONSORTIUM

This Deep Look Survey includes the Southeast Alaska Regional 
Health  Consortium (SEARHC) Mt. Edgecumbe Hospital and twelve 
outbuildings on the hospital campus in Sitka, and three buildings 
at the SEARHC campus in Juneau. For the Mt. Edgecumbe survey, 
we provided two separate survey teams in order to have adequate 
time to devote to each structure’s survey, splitting the workload 
between the hospital itself and the twelve outbuildings.
FACILITY       TOTAL AREA

Mt. Edgecumbe Hospital, Sitka 120,444     SF

Mt. Edgecumbe Campus Outbuildings (12 Buildings), Sitka 63,243       SF

SEARHC Facilities (3 Buildings), Juneau 58,588       SF

2016 DEEP LOOK AND FACILITY CONDITION ASSESSMENTS
TANANA CHIEFS CONFERENCE & COUNCIL OF 
ATHABASCAN TRIBAL GOVERNMENT

This work included M&I eligible spaces at three facilities in 
Fairbanks and the Yukon Flats Health Center at Fort Yukon. 
Scheduling site inspections in rural Alaska communities is a 
challenge for many of the deep looks. We worked with ANTHC 
to schedule trips for this survey to minimize flights between 
Anchorage, Fairbanks and Fort Yukon.
FACILITY       TOTAL AREA

Chief Peter John Tribal Building, Fairbanks 15,500        SF

AL Ketzler Senior Building, Fairbanks 27,814        SF

Graf Rheeneerhaanjii Treatment Center, Fairbanks 13,735        SF

Yukon Flats Health Center, Fort Yukon 15,425        SF

2016 DEEP LOOK AND FACILITY CONDITION ASSESSMENTS 
ALASKA NATIVE TRIBAL HEALTH CONSORTIUM AND 
SELDOVIA VILLAGE HEALTH CLINIC

The survey covered the ANTHC’s Consortium Office Building in 
Anchorage and the Seldovia Village Tribe Clinic in Seldovia. 
FACILITY       TOTAL AREA

Consortium Office Building, Anchorage 63, 539     SF

Seldovia Village Tribe Clinic, Seldovia 6,997         SF

PROJECT REFERENCES

ANTHC DEEP LOOKS
Architects Alaska has been providing Deep Look facility condition 
surveys for Indian Health Services (IHS) and tribally owned 
facilities for over 26 years as part of a term contract for the Alaska 
Native Tribal Health Consortium (ANTHC). 

Deep Looks are evaluations of the physical conditions at IHS and 
tribally owned facilities throughout the State of Alaska. Each year, 
a team of architects and engineers surveys select facilities, and 
their property and presents the survey results in a comprehensive 
report along with recommendations for repairs, code deficiency 
corrections, improvements, and an estimated cost for the 
repairs or improvements. These surveys, together with routine 
observations by facilities personnel, identify deficiencies that are 
added to the Backlog of Essential Maintenance, Alteration and 
Repair (BEMAR) report, which is reported to Congress annually.

These facilities vary in age from pre-World War II structures to 
new, recently completed facilities and include just about all types 
of uses and construction types. The survey team needs to be 
familiar with not only current codes and construction methods, 
but also needs to have a good knowledge of historical building 
codes and construction methods as well. 

LOCATION

Various Alaska Locations

CONTACT
Craig Wood, PE, CEM

Health Facilities 
Mechanical Enginerer IV

Alaska Native Tribal 
Health Consortium

cwood@anthc.org

(907) 729-3588

PROJECT REFERENCES



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   98 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

PROJECT REFERENCES

VIEW VISTA PRELIMINARY ARCHITECTURAL REPORT
The View Vista Property was initially used as a motel with carports at some 
structures until the 1960s when the carports were enclosed, and the property 
was converted to apartments. The property consists of seven apartment 
buildings, a detached maintenance garage, a detached water heater enclosure, 
and a detached community building.

The property contains 33 apartment units and approximately 19,500 rentable SF 
of building area. The site needs several infrastructure improvements and is not 
set up for easy access to all apartment entrances.

Our task for this property was to assess the buildings for architectural, 
structural, electrical, and mechanical upgrades needed to bring the property 
up to code for life safety and energy efficiency. The report highlighted areas 
needing the most significant improvement, areas that would make the building 
more efficient, areas that were not handicap accessible, and life safety code 
deficiencies. 

At the property owner’s request, an additional report was created to evaluate 
the site’s best use. This report allowed the owner to determine the best path 
forward: keep the original structures and renovate or replace the existing ones 
with a brand-new one. 

This project is funded by a CDBG grant.

LOCATION

Livingston, MT

SQUARE FOOTAGE

19,500 SF

CONSTRUCTION COST

N/A

CLIENT REFERENCE

Danielle P. Maiden

Cooperative Housing 
Director,

NeighborWorks Montana,

dmaiden@nwmt.org 

(406) 407-6444

PROJECT REFERENCES

2017 FACILITY CONDITION ASSESSMENT  
YUKON KUSKOKWIM HEALTH CORPORATION
This assessment included the Community Health Services 
Building in Bethel, and seven buildings in five of the villages served 
by YKHC. Structures ranged for the hospital building in Bethel as 
well as sub regional clinics and garage buildings in the villages.  
To meet the challenge of accessing the sub-regional clinics the 
team based themselves in Bethel and we arranged for a mixture of 
scheduled and charter flights from Bethel each day for our team 
as well as the ANTHC team. 
FACILITY                            TOTAL AREA

Community Health Services Building, Bethel 92,181         SF

Subregional Clinics and Garages 61,933        SF

2017 FACILITY CONDITION ASSESSMENT  
BRISTOL BAY AREA HEALTH CORPORATION
This assessment included M&I eligible areas of the Primary 
Hospital Building and mechanical room, and fifteen support 
facilities on the Kanakanak Hospital Campus in Dillingham. 
FACILITY       TOTAL AREA

Kanakanak Hospital, Dillingham 46,010        SF

Hospital Administration Building, Dillingham 24,016        SF

Kanakanak Hospital Support Facilities (15 structures), 
Dillingham

48,881        SF

2018 FACILITY CONDITION ASSESSMENT
SOUTH CENTRAL FOUNDATION FACILITIES AND MANIILAQ 
HEALTH FACILITIES
This assessment included M&I eligible areas of South Central 
Foundation’s Primary Care Center in Anchorage, their Benteh 
Nuutah Valley Primary Care Center in Wasilla, and South Central’s 
support facilities, both on their Anchorage campus and off 
campus in Anchorage and seven buildings for Maniilaq Health 
Center in Kotzebue. This particular assessment is a good example 
of how we work with Alaska’s seasons. The timing of the contract 
required scheduling the on-site inspections for Maniilaq facilities 
ahead of all the others to miss the snowy season in Kotzebue.  
FACILITY       TOTAL AREA

Primary Care Center, Anchorage  173,742      SF

Benteh Nuutah Valley Primary Care Center, Wasilla   85,316        SF

South Central / ANMC Campus (7 Buildings), Anchorage  150,446     SF

South Central Off-Campus (4 Buildings), Anchorage  43,869       SF

Maniilaq Health Center (5 Buildings), Kotzebue  98,271        SF



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   1110 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

PROJECT REFERENCES PROJECT REFERENCES

LOCATION 
Livingston and Bozeman, MT

CLIENT
Good Housing Partnership  

SIZE
A.W. Miles Building          55,381 SF
Sherwood Inn                    37,747 SF
Boulevard Apartments   32,391 SF
Darlinton Manor 74,523 SF

CONSTRUCTION COST
$23 M

CLIENT REFERENCE
Thomas Lee 
HRDC Risk Manager 
tlee@thehrdc.org  
406.451.0001

CODE OFFICIAL
Cal Doerksen, Senior Plans Examiner, 
City of Bozeman, 406.582.2375

COMPLETED
July 2022

BEFORE AFTER

GOOD HOUSING PARTNERSHIP — HRDC
Architects Alaska completed four renovations in Livingston and Bozeman with 
the Good Housing Partnership for the Human Resource Development Council.

Sherwood Inn is located on a 0.6-acre property at 325 South Main Street in 
Livingston. The property contains one five-story building consisting of five 
unique residential unit layouts. Unit layouts have one- and two-bedroom 
residences for a total of forty-nine residences, a lounge on the main level, 
and a laundry room on each floor. Sherwood Inn is on moderately landscaped 
property and is connected to the public way and parking areas with sidewalks. 
Renovations included upgrades to mechanical, plumbing, and electrical 
systems, a refresh of interior finishes, and space modifications to comply with 
accessibility requirements.

A.W. Miles Building is located on a 0.7-acre property on South 2nd Street 
in Livingston. The property contains one three-story building consisting of 
several residential unit layouts. Unit layouts have studio, one- and two-bedroom 
residences. The property has 40 residences, a lounge, and a laundry facility. The 
property is connected to the public way and an alley-accessible parking area.

Boulevard Apartments is a 5-story building with a basement in downtown 
Bozeman at 6 W. Babcock Street. The building houses 41 residences that are 
studios, as well as one- and two-bedroom dwelling units. The building has a 
single 4-stop elevator, three laundry rooms, and mechanical and electrical 
rooms. The building has an EPDM roof that has exceeded its life expectancy 

BEFORE AFTER

and showed several signs of failure. A complete roof replacement of the 
membrane and flashings with penetration flashing, roof drain cleaning, and 
installation and expansion of walk pads were required for this project. The 
historic brick exterior was in fair condition, only requiring minor repairs and 
repainting. The penthouse level was not historic and had composite siding 
needing total replacement. Interior work includes new flooring in hallways, 
stairways, laundry rooms, and common areas. New lighting and mechanical 
upgrades to existing HVAC were also provided. Unit interiors received new 
flooring, paint, cabinetry, plumbing fixtures, appliances, heating, electrical 
wiring, and lighting.

Darlinton Manor is an 80,656 SF property at 606 N. 5th Avenue in Bozeman, 
MT. The property contains one 4-story building consisting of studio and 
one-bedroom residential units. Within the 100 residential units, there are five 
unique layouts comprised of one-bedroom and studio units. The building also 
houses community spaces, small gathering areas on each floor at the elevator 
lobbies, two large community rooms, a laundry room, a rental administration 
office, a maintenance shop, and community restrooms. The building floor is 
split in the middle with a 3 ft floor height change between the north and south 
ends of the building. A centralized two-story high community space with a 
kitchen and large window wall to the west has access to an enclosed patio 
space. An exterior ramp provides access to the west entrance by the rental 
office, and the east entrance is level with the parking lot. The building has two 
elevators, one serving the east wing and one serving the west wing. Storage 
rooms for each tenant are in each wing and on each floor of the building.



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   1312 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

A DEDICATED TEAM 
Our firm is guided by solid design values and believes 
that good design should respect our clients mission and 
showcase cultural diversity, efficiency, safety, sustainability, 
and environmental stewardship. We work closely with 
those involved to develop strong relationships and effective 
communication. The better we know you and your vision, the 
better service we can provide.  

OFFICE LOCATION 
Architects Alaska | Bozeman, will act as the prime consultant 
and serve as the Architect of Record. We will manage the 
team of local engineering sub-consultants to provide the 
full scope of services required for this contract. Our design 
team is committed to maintaining seamless communication 
through in-person meetings, on-site visits, phone, and video 
conferences, ensuring a comprehensive and responsive 
solution for our clients’ projects. 

PROJECT TEAM

Architects Alaska is proposing as the Prime Consultant to 
provide a Preliminary Architectural Report (PAR)  for the City 
of Hardin on the historic Hotel Becker. This role will serve as 
the Architect of Record for all contracted work and we will 
act as the responsible and contractual leader for projects 
that include engineering and specialty sub-consultants to 
deliver the full scope of services required. In that capacity, 
Architects Alaska will act as the project manager, design 
coordinator, and document quality control authority, 
reviewing all deliverables before submission. We are 
confident that our team can provide a complete Preliminary 
Architectural Report (PAR)  and preliminary design as 
necessary for the revitalization of the Hotel Becker.

PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE / PROJECT MANAGER / CONTRACT MANAGER
MELANIE MANGIONE, AIA, ASID, CHID, WELL AP 
The Organization Chart shows the lines of communication for 
this contract. Our team will be led by Melanie Mangione as 
Principal-in-Charge, Project Manager, and Contract Manager. 
Melanie is a firm principal at Architects Alaska. She has served 
in a similar capacity on many previous projects. She will provide 
the City of Hardin with a direct line of accountability and have 
full authority to commit the resources of our firm.

3 | TEAM MEMBERS & QUALIFICATIONS

FIRM BACKGROUND
Architects Alaska has been on the leading edge 
of architectural design for nearly 75 years and 
we’re proud of our history. 

Founded in 1950 by Ed Crittenden, our firm provides 
architectural, interior design, and planning services to people, 
institutions, government agencies, and businesses of all 
shapes and sizes. Providing quality design for nearly 75 years, 
we are proud to be the most established architectural firm in 
Alaska, and we now serve Big Sky Country, Montana.

We take pride in the long-term relationships we have built 
with our clients over the years and our experience designing 
for extreme environments across the state. Designing for 
different communities, cultures, and conditions is a challenge 
that excites us, and we’re ready to get started on your project.

Our depth of experience saves our clients time and money 
while delivering thoughtful, appropriate, and well-considered 
architecture – our experience across Alaska is unmatched. 
Likewise, both Montana and Alaska are places of cultural 
diversity with seasonal climate extremes, necessitating a 
high level of attention, care, and expertise to navigate the 
complexities of building envelope design effectively.

Architects Alaska has grown to become a full-service 
architectural design firm with a staff of 37 professionals and 
multiple offices. Our size and experience allow us to deliver 
small to large-scale and often unique projects successfully. 
These range from our design of the Providence Cancer Center, 
the first of its kind in Alaska, to the new Scenario Building for 
the Montana Law Enforcement Academy in Helena.

At Architects Alaska, we have extensive experience in a 
broad range of housing projects, including low-income, 
senior, special needs, and multifamily housing. Our skill set 
extends from managing complex undertakings to more minor 
renovations. Additionally, we provide comprehensive facility 
assessments and condition surveys, delivering practical, 
cost-effective solutions tailored to your needs and budget.

ORGANIZATION CHART

IMEG 
Civil Engineer 

Michael McFarlane 
Lead Mechanical /  

Fire Protection Engineer 
Kevin Pope 

Lead Electrical Engineer 
Clint Laferriere 

Lead Structural Engineer 
Nathan McBride

ZAC BIRDINGROUND 
CONSTRUCTION 

Principal Cost Estimator 
Zac Birdinground

ARCHITECTS 
ALASKA 

PIC / Contract Manager /  
Project Manager

Melanie Mangione
Production Lead
Chris Berryhill

Interior Design
NancyLynn Maris

CITY OF HARDIN 
Project Manager

Full resumes start on page 21.

Architects Alaska is a fully 
staffed and highly capable 
architectural design firm 
with offices in Anchorage, 
Wasilla, Bozeman, and 
Prescott Arizona. We have 
the following professionals 
currently on staff: 

Registered Architects – 11
Architectural Designers – 14
Technical Designers – 5 
Interior Designers – 5*
Administrative Personnel – 6

Our size gives us the capacity 
to respond to the needs 
of this project as well as 
additional service requests 
and accelerated schedules if 
needed.

*Three team members are identified 
in more than one category.

AAI RESOURCES



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   1514 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

specialized process engineering. As a 100% employee-owned 
firm, IMEG is deeply committed to creating positive outcomes for 
people, communities, and the planet. By integrating sustainability, 
efficiency, and collaboration into every project, IMEG delivers 
transformative results for projects of all sizes and complexities.

ZAC BIRDINGROUND CONSTRUCTION 
Zac Birdinground Construction (ZBC) is a 100% Native American-
owned company based in Billings, Montana. Founded by Zac 
Birdinground of the Apsáalooke Tribe, ZBC is a certified and 
registered contractor with the Montana Department of Labor 
and Industry and a certified business through the Crow Tribal 
Employment Rights Office (T.E.R.O). ZBC specializes in Owner 
Representation, Consulting, Cost Estimating, Construction 
Management, and General Contracting services for residential, 
commercial, and mixed-use projects. The firm has significant 
expertise in low-income housing projects, including recent 
estimates for 23 home renovations on the Crow Reservation and 
work in Billings, Montana.

DESIGN TEAM RESUMES 
Resumes for our proposed project staff. These were prepared 
specifically for the Preliminary Architectural Report for the 
Park County PAR RFQ and highlight the relevant experience and 
qualifications of our design.

COMMUNICATION 
We pride ourselves on client-responsive analysis, design, 
and project delivery, but it all comes down to good 
communication. The majority of communication that 
occurs at the project level should be reflected in the project 
execution plans. All communications must be captured, 
especially any communication that defines or adds scope 
to the project. All emails that provide direction shall be 
archived. Such items may also be added to the project action 
items list to facilitate a higher level of visibility.

We will conduct regular meetings and progress reviews with 
project stakeholders to facilitate timely decision-making. 
The Project Schedule and Scope will be maintained as a 
living document and distributed to all team members to keep 
all parties well informed. 

OUR ENGINEERING TEAM  
We are proposing a flexible design team that is custom fit to 
provide quick action this contract. They bring the lessons 
learned and best practices from dozens of successful past 
projects for community facilities statewide. Our team of 
Montana and regionally based firms works very well together 
and are motivated to provide quality services for the City of 
Hardin. Roles and responsibilities for our proposed teams 
include:

IMEG 
IMEG is a premier engineering firm recognized for delivering 
high-performance buildings and infrastructure through 
innovative, forward-thinking solutions. Ranked as a top 2 US 
engineering firm, IMEG combines the expertise of a national 
leader with the personalized service of a local partner, 
ensuring tailored attention for every project. With over 90 
locations and a team of more than 2,800 professionals, 
including 650+ licensed engineers, IMEG offers full-service 
engineering, planning, and consulting across diverse markets, 
including healthcare, education, government, housing, and 
more. The firm’s market-sector-focused teams bring niche 
expertise to meet the unique challenges of each client, 
whether designing sustainable manufacturing plants and 
laboratories, optimizing building performance, or navigating 
complex regulatory requirements. IMEGs comprehensive 
expertise includes building design and infrastructure planning, 
sustainability and energy solutions, building performance 
optimization, operations management, consulting, and 



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   1716 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

MELANIE MANGIONE, AIA, ASID, CHID, WELL AP                        
PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE / PROJECT MANAGER / CONTRACT MANAGER      ARCHITECTS ALASKA

REGISTRATION

Montana ARC-ARC-LIC-12476

Alaska-AELA14763

Wyoming - C-3842

South Dakota - ARC.00408518

Utah - Interior Design 13583080-0401

NCIDQ-30618

CHID / Certified Healthcare Interior 
Designer

WELL AP 

EDUCATION

B. Env Design 2000, Montana State 
University

M. Arch 2000, Montana State University

Melanie brings many skills to the team with her Architecture and 
Interior Design experience and professional licensure. Her ability 
to adapt to changing situations with thoughtful and collaborative 
solutions is a skill needed for all projects with components of new 
work and renovation of existing space, especially when people 
work in those spaces during construction. The availability to be 
present at meetings, responsiveness to requests, and consistently 
meeting deadlines are as important as the design itself. 
Melanie has a large diversity of work, from high-end custom 
residential to low-income housing renovations, new high-rise 
commercial office buildings to modernization of government staff 
support buildings. 

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

GOOD HOUSING PARTNERSHIP 
Melanie acted as architect, interior designer, and project manager 
for these low-income housing full-building renovations in Butte, 
Bozeman, and Livingston, Montana. A continued partnership 
with GHP allows for consistency of design, ease of construction, 
quick response to questions, and resolution of design challenges 
found in renovation projects. Working within this continued 
team enables quick turnaround of housing units and minimal 
displacement time for the tenants. 

MONTANA STATE UNIVERSITY
Working with MSU Facilities on a number of projects across the 
Bozeman Campus for MSU and Gallatin College has provided 
great experience working with several contractors, MSU Project 
Managers, and Program Departments. From viscom to carpentry 
and athletics to biolabs, Melanie enjoys working with a variety of 
programs and people to renovate and create safer, healthier, and 
desirable places for our community to learn and work. 

ANTHC – FACILITY ASSEMENTS (DEEP LOOKS) 
Complete engineering and architectural review of various 
Alaska communities complete of native-owned health facilities. 
Complete building systems, space, and envelope study to 
evaluate areas and systems in need of immediate repair and 
replacement. Teams for review include mechanical, electrical, 
civil, and structural engineers. Areas reviewed include the 
complete building envelope, including doors, windows, insulation, 
foundation, roofing, and exterior materials. Complete mechanical 
and electrical systems, including all common spaces, mechanical 
and electrical rooms, exam, procedure, and operating rooms, as 
well as offices and storage spaces. Exterior site and parking areas 
were reviewed for drainage, maintenance and accessibility, site 
and building lighting. Interior spaces are reviewed for building 
finishes condition, use of space needs per program, and overall 
accessibility.

CHRIS BERRYHILL, CDT   
PRODUCTION LEAD                                                                                                                  ARCHITECTS ALASKA

STATE OF RESIDENCY 
Montana  

REGISTRATION 
Construction Document Technician 
Autodesk Certified Professional 

EDUCATION 
Associate of Computer Science, 
Concentration in Technical Graphics 

REFERENCES 
Matt Cunningham, Ramshorn 
Management 406.451.2478  

James Lear, Owner, 45 Degrees North, 
406.539.1720 

Geoff Anderson, Good Housing 
Partnership, Principal, 460.414.6500

As Production Lead, Chris plays a critical role in document production, 
leveraging extensive experience in both residential and commercial 
construction. Beginning his career working alongside his father, a general 
contractor, Chris gained hands-on knowledge of building construction, 
particularly in interior finishes and cabinetry, which naturally transitioned into 
architecture. Chris has focused much of his career on designing renovations for 
low-income housing, while more recently contributing to industrial and complex 
medical projects. He is proficient in building information modeling (BIM) and 
specializes in Revit, using tools like Revit and Enscape to produce detailed 
renderings. Chris actively enhances his expertise by attending Autodesk 
University, teaching CAD and Revit at a local community college, and pursuing 
self-directed learning in BIM and graphic design software. His practical 
experience and technical skills make him a key contributor to project success.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
GOOD HOUSING PARTNERSHIP – MONTANA LOW-INCOME HOUSING  
This project involves the renovation of multiple properties totaling over 600 
residential units across Bozeman, Livingston, and Butte, Montana. The scope 
includes a variety of building types, ranging from duplex homes to 100-unit, 
multi-floor buildings. Chris serves as the BIM Manager and lead production 
specialist for these ongoing projects. His responsibilities include converting 
original drawings into Revit, verifying dimensions on-site, and creating 
complete documentation for buildings lacking existing plans, based solely 
on site measurements. As the primary production lead for these low-income 
housing renovations, Chris has consistently delivered high-quality, accurate 
drawings despite challenges posed by limited or poor-quality documentation. 
His work ensures compliance with building department requirements and 
provides contractors with reliable resources for construction. 

LITTLE BLESSINGS APSAALOOKE CHILDCARE CENTER (CROW CHILDCARE) – 
CROW AGENCY, MONTANA 
This project is a 9,500 SF Childcare center in Crow Agency with four childcare 
rooms, a large indoor playroom, kitchen, storage, offices, and a fenced exterior 
playground. Chris provided the main drafting and document support for this 
SIPS construction project, as well as assisting the Project Architect with 
document productions, standards, and both interior and exterior detailing. 

MONTANA LAW ENFORCEMENT ACADEMY  
This 10,800 SF SIPs construction project in Helena serves as a specialized 
training facility for Montana law enforcement trainees. Designed to replicate 
a city street, the space features faux storefronts where trainees can practice 
critical field skills in a controlled environment. By providing an indoor setting, 
the facility enables instructors and students to focus on training without the 
interference of adverse weather conditions. Chris played a key role in the 
project, serving as the primary drafting and document support. He collaborated 
closely with the project architect to produce detailed construction documents, 
ensure adherence to standards, and develop comprehensive interior and 
exterior detailing, contributing to the project’s success. 



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   1918 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

NANCYLYNN MARIS                              
INTERIOR DESIGNER                                                                   ARCHITECTS ALASKA

STATE OF RESIDENCY 
Montana  

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Business Marketing, Montana 
State University 
Associate of Applied Science in Interior 
Design, Montana State University

NancyLynn is passionate about commercial design, dedicated to crafting 
spaces that seamlessly blend functionality and aesthetics to create 
meaningful connections with users. She excels in space planning, offering 
a fresh and thoughtful approach to designing impactful and engaging 
environments. Despite being early in her career, NancyLynn’s solution-oriented 
mindset, ambition, and commitment to excellence position her as a rising 
talent in the industry. She thrives in collaborative settings, where she brings 
together diverse ideas to develop cohesive and innovative design solutions. 
In her role, NancyLynn is responsible for developing floor plans that adhere 
to ADA Accessibility Standards, creating design concepts aligned with client 
objectives, and curating high-quality finish selections and schedules. She 
works closely with architects and consultants to ensure cohesive and efficient 
designs, supporting projects through all phases to deliver impactful, on-time, 
and budget-conscious results.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
LITTLE BLESSINGS APSAALOOKE CHILDCARE CENTER (CROW CHILDCARE) – 
CROW AGENCY, MONTANA 
NancyLynn provided key support to the primary Interior Designer by assisting 
with interior finish selections and the development of the FF&E package. 
She contributed to the creation of detailed interior elevations and actively 
participated in the on-site substantial completion meeting, ensuring design 
intent was accurately executed. 

NORTHERN CHEYENNE TRIBE EDUCATION BUILDING   
NancyLynn reviewed and refined the material selections for the education 
building to ensure alignment with the project’s vision and budget. She updated 
floor plans, elevations, and schedules to accurately reflect the revised interior 
material selections, contributing to a cohesive and well-executed design.  

GOOD HOUSING PARTNERSHIP LOW-INCOME HOUSING  
NancyLynn collaborated on evaluating existing building layouts to identify 
and address ADA accessibility gaps. She contributed to drafting the site plan, 
demolition plan, and floor plans to ensure compliance with ADA standards. 
Additionally, she curated finish options aligned with the project’s needs and 
budget for client review and approval, enhancing both functionality and design 
coherence. 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY  
NancyLynn served as the Space Planner for the Department of Public Safety 
project, where she synthesized insights from site visits and stakeholder 
interviews to understand each department’s scope of work and requirements. 
She developed a comprehensive space plan, delivering a solution that 
seamlessly aligned with the project’s design objectives and functional needs.

MICHAEL MCFARLANE, PE, LS
CIVIL ENGINEER IMEG

Michael has over 33 years of experience as a civil engineer. His primary 
responsibilities and accomplishments including experience as a project 
engineer and land surveyor on various public and private improvements. 
These projects included preliminary/final design and analysis of roads, 
municipal streets, water distribution, sanitary sewer collection, sanitary 
sewer treatment (stabilization ponds), storm water drainage, storm 
water collection, storm water basins, site and utility planning, contract 
administration, and the development of a solid waste management plan.

Michael has also provided right-of-way and easement survey and documents 
for the above projects as necessary. He is experienced in CIC’s, Plats, and 
Private Boundary Surveys.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

NOTABLE PROJECTS
  Fond du Lac CAIR Center, Duluth, MN, 30,000-sf, 3-story New Clinic. Project 
included supplemental topographic survey, site design, grading/drainage 
with report and permit applications to City of Duluth, utilities (water, 
sanitary sewer, storm), erosion control, restoration, as-built survey, etc

  Fort Totten Alternative and CTE School, Fort Totten, ND, 12,000-sf 
Alternative School. Project included site design, grading/drainage, utilities 
(water, sanitary sewer, storm), erosion control, restoration, etc.

  LVD Health Center, Watersmet, MI, 32,000-sf Clinic. Project included site 
design, grading/drainage, utilities (water, sanitary sewer, storm), erosion 
control, restoration, etc.

  Red Lake Indian Reservation, MN, 20,000-sf New Chemical Dependency 
Treatment Facility. Project included site boundary and topographic survey, 
site work design, walking trail, grading/drainage, utilities (water, sewer, 
storm), erosion control, restoration, etc.

  Red Lake Indian Reservation, MN, 12,000-sf New Urgent Care Addition 
to Red Lake Hospital Complex. Project included boundary survey, 
topographical survey, site design, grading/drainage, utilities (water, sanitary 
sewer, storm), erosion control, restoration, etc. 

  Red Lake Indian Reservation, MN, 8,600-sf New Dialysis Addition including 
Site Boundary and Topographic Survey, Site Design, Grading/Drainage, 
Utilities (Water, Sanitary, Storm), Erosion Control, Restoration, etc.

  Red Lake Indian Reservation, MN, Red Lake Housing Authority. Multiple new 
housing developments from 2004-2024 including but not limited to Red 
Lake Homes #10, #11, #12, #13, #14 (2023), #15 (2024) in communities of 
Little Rock, Red Lake, Redby, and Ponemah. Also included Ponemah Rental 
Housing, RL Supportive Housing Projects #2 (2023), and #3 (2024).

STATE OF RESIDENCY 
Montana  

REGISTRATION 
Professional Engineer Alaska #11809

Minnesota #44196

Montana #18859

North Dakota #5804

Wisonsin #43740-6

Wyoming #11182

Professional Land Surveryor Minnesota 
#44196

Certified Land Surveyor #1528

EDUCATION 
University of North Dakota, BS Civil 
Engineering

AFFILIATIONS 
ASCE

CSHE 



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   2120 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

KEVIN POPE, PE, LEED AP, QCXP
LEAD MECHANICAL ENGINEER  |  FIRE PROTECTION ENGINEER IMEG

Kevin’s responsibilities include the engineering design of mechanical systems and 
project management from schematic design through construction. With expertise 
in both traditional project delivery methods and Construction Management at Risk 
(CMAR), Kevin leverages his extensive experience to develop innovative design 
solutions that reduce energy consumption and maximize system flexibility. 
 As a Senior Principal, Kevin engages directly with clients to understand their 
unique needs, define project scope requirements, and provide expert consultation 
both internally and externally. He fosters a strong team approach, ensuring 
seamless collaboration from project inception through completion. 
 In his role as Lead Mechanical and Plumbing Engineer, Kevin leads the mechanical 
design team, consults with clients, and identifies mechanical system options 
tailored to project goals. His technical responsibilities include system planning 
and design, equipment selection, system sizing, and developing control logic. 
Additionally, Kevin oversees quality control, project coordination, and provides 
construction services to ensure successful project execution.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
NOTABLE PROJECTS

  Crow Nation, Crow Reservation, MT, Crow Nation, Crow Reservation, MT, 31,000  
SF New Apsalooke Crow Cultural Center and Museum Buildings & 4,000 SF 
Renovation to the Existing Cultural Learning Lodge

  Crow Nation, Crow Reservation, MT, Plenty Doors Crow Innovation Center
  AWB Mixed-Use Development, Bozeman, MT, 93-Unit Residential Project
  Bighorn Valley Health Center, Lewistown, MT, 28,600 SF Clinic Remodel of an 
Existing Building

  Billings Housing Authority, Billings, MT, PAR for Multi-family Housing Units
  Bozeman Mixed-Use Apartment Block, Bozeman, MT, New Development
  Charles M. Bair Family Museum, Martindale, MT, New Museum/Loft Remodel
  Creekside Apartments, Bozeman, MT, Renovation
  Crowley Fleck, Transwestern Building, Billings, MT, Tenant Improvements
  Etha Hotel, Bozeman, MT, Addition/Renovation
  Montana State University, Bozeman, MT, North Hedges Residence #3; Strand 
Union Building, Lighting Retrofit; Visual Communications Building, Lighting 
Retrofit

  Montana State University, Bozeman, MT, North Hedges Residence Suites #3
  Moonlight Basin Lodge, Big Sky, MT, Remodel
  Northern Hotel, including TEN and Bernie’s Diner, Billings, MT
  Perennial Park Apartments, Bozeman, MT, Senior Living Facility Addition
  Red Alder Affordable Housing, Helena, MT
  Starner Gardens, Billings, MT, 136-unit Residential Apartments and Cottages 
over 126,000 SF Building Space

STATE OF RESIDENCY 
Montana  

REGISTRATION
Alaska AELM10495 
Idaho P-9557 
Montana #13799 
South Dakota #6897 
Washington #39609  
LEED Accredited Professional 

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Mechanical Engineering, 
University of Wyoming 
Commissioning Certification, University 
of Wisconsin 

AFFILIATIONS 
ASHRAE, Big Sky Chapter 

REFERENCES 
Randy Hafer, Architect, High Plains 
Architects, 406.896.0250,  
rhafer@highplainsarchitects.com

Paul Siderius, Architect, A&E Design, 
406.248.2633, psiderius@ae.design

Allen Rapacz, Architect, Schutz Foss 
Architects, 406.252.9218,  
allen@schutzfoss.com

NATHAN MCBRIDE, PE, SE
LEAD STRUCTURAL ENGINEER IMEG

Nathan is a Senior Structural Engineer with over 22 years of experience leading 
multi-disciplinary design teams. Since joining IMEG in 2007, he has specialized 
in planning, designing, and constructing a wide range of building types for 
institutional, office, educational, mixed-use, and multi-unit residential clients. 
A results-driven professional, Nathan is committed to delivering successful 
outcomes for his clients. 
 As the Lead Structural Engineer, Nathan’s primary responsibilities include 
schematic design, design development, oversight of structural systems, 
and design coordination across trades. He is also responsible for producing 
contract documents, managing projects, maintaining client communication, 
conducting budget reviews, ensuring quality control, reviewing shop drawings, 
and providing construction observation to ensure the integrity and success of 
each project.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
NOTABLE PROJECTS

  Crow Nation, Crow Reservation, MT, Apsaalooke Crow Cultural Center and 
Museum

  The Lark Hotel, Bozeman, MT, Remodel of Hotel and New CCT Portion
  5th & Main, Bozeman, MT, 6-story Apartment Building with Retail Space
  1201 Tennessee - Abaca, San Francisco, CA, 235,000-sf New 6-story Mixed- 

use Residential Development including 263 Units, Retail Space, Amenities, 
and Parking Garage

  1818 Ogden Summit, Burlingame, CA, 144,000-sf New 6-story Multi-family 
Residential Building Utilizing Wood-frame over 2-level Concrete Podium 
Parking Garage

  1868 Ogden Drive, Burlingame, CA, 114,000-sf New 5-story 120-unit Multi- 
family Residential Wood-frame over 55,000-sf 2-level Podium Parking Garage

  3250 Hollis Oak, Oakland, CA, 125,000-sf New 4-story Mixed-use Residential 
Development including 124 Units

  3483 Golden Gate Way Residential, Lafayette, CA, 132,000-sf New Multi-
family Wood-frame Residential Development with 71 Units over a Concrete 
Podium Parking Garage

  Locale at State Street, Fremont, CA, 280,000-sf New 5-story Mixed-use 
Residential Development including 81 Units, Retail Space, and Underground 
Parking Garage

  Pacific Front, Santa Cruz, CA, 326,000-sf New 5-story Wood Frame over 
2-level Concrete Podium Mixed-use Development, including Apartments, 
Commercial Space, and Parking Garage

  Yellowstone Club, Big Sky, MT, 65,000-sf New 22-unit Lakeside Village 
Condominiums

STATE OF RESIDENCY 
Montana  

REGISTRATION
Colorado #29840 
Utah #13714.314.2202 
Wyoming #10730 
Montana - In Progress  

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Civil Engineering,  
Utah State University 
Master of Civil Engineering,  
University of Washington 

AFFILIATIONS 
AISC  
SEAMT 

REFERENCES 
Charley Franklin, Principal/Directior, SMA 
Architecture, 406.558.2374,  
charleyf@sma.design

Casey Feeser, Architect, LDP 
Architecture, 415.777.0561,  
casey@ldparchitecture.com

Chris Jaubert,Principal, A43 Architecture, 
307.249.8650, chris@A43design.com



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   2322 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

CLINT LAFERRIERE, PE, LEED AP, LC
LEAD ELECTRICAL ENGINEER IMEG

Clint’s responsibilities encompass project management, leadership of electrical 
staff, and the engineering and design of lighting, power, and special systems. His 
expertise includes designing power distribution, specialty and general lighting, 
power generation, grounding and lightning protection, PA and intercom systems, 
security systems, fire alarm and emergency mass notification systems, and 
telephone and data systems. With extensive experience in commercial facilities, 
Clint has successfully managed a range of projects, from small remodels to 
significant additions and new construction, across sectors such as residential, 
hospitality, healthcare, education, and commercial buildings. 
 As the Lead Electrical Engineer, Clint leads the electrical design team and 
provides client consultation. His role includes offering integrated system options 
and recommendations to meet project objectives, reviewing and coordinating 
project phasing for electrical and fire alarm systems, and collaborating 
with the MEQ consultant. Additional responsibilities include quality control, 
interdisciplinary coordination, and construction services to ensure seamless 
project execution.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
NOTABLE PROJECTS

  Crow Nation, Crow Reservation, MT, Crow Nation, Crow Reservation, MT, 31,000- 
SF New Apsalooke Crow Cultural Center and Museum Buildings & 4,000 SF 
Renovation to the Existing Cultural Learning Lodge

  Crow Nation, Crow Reservation, MT, Plenty Doors Crow Innovation Center
  AWB Mixed-Use Development, Bozeman, MT, 93-Unit Residential Project
  Bozeman Mixed-Use Apartment Block, Bozeman, MT, New Development
  Charles M. Bair Family Museum, Martinsdale, MT, New Museum/Loft Remodel
  Creekside Apartments, Bozeman, MT, Renovation
  Crowley Fleck, Transwestern Building, Billings, MT, Tenant Improvements
  Eglise Condominiums, Big Sky, MT
  Etha Armory Hotel, Bozeman, MT, Two Restaurants and Rooftop Lounge 

Addition/Renovation
  Firelight Meadows Condominiums, Big Sky, MT
  Montana State University, Bozeman, MT, North Hedges Residence #3; Strand 

Union Building, Lighting Retrofit; Visual Communications Building, Lighting 
Retrofit

  Montana State University, Bozeman, MT, North Hedges Residence Suites #3
  Perennial Park Apartments, Bozeman, MT, Senior Living Facility Addition
  Red Alder Affordable Housing, Helena, MT
  Starner Gardens, Billings, MT, 136-unit Residential Apartments and Cottages 

over 126,000-sf Building Space

STATE OF RESIDENCY 
Montana  

REGISTRATION
Alaska EE206013  
Montana #30608 
North Dakota #29692 
Colorado #0061068 
Wyoming #19183  
LEED Accredited Professional 
Lighting Certified Professional 

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Electrical Engineering, 
Montana State University 

REFERENCES 
Randy Hafer, Architect, High Plains 
Architects, 406.896.0250,  
rhafer@highplainsarchitects.com

Paul Siderius, Architect, A&E Design, 
406.248.2633, psiderius@ae.design

Allen Rapacz, Architect, Schutz Foss 
Architects, 406.252.9218,  
allen@schutzfoss.com

ZAC BIRDINGROUND
FOUNDER  |  PRINCIPAL COST ESTIMATOR ZAC BIRDINGROUND

Zac Birdinground, a proud member of the Apsáalooke Tribe, carries the Indian 
name Awe Ihaate Baaat Chileesh, meaning “Fortunate in Different Lands,” given to 
him by his Kaale, Inez Birdinground. He is from the Big Lodge Clan and is a child of 
the Whistling Water Clan. Growing up on the Crow Reservation, Zac experienced 
the challenges faced by his community, which inspired his dream of pursuing 
higher education and returning to help his people. He achieved this dream by 
earning a Bachelor of Science in Construction Engineering Technology with a 
minor in Business Administration from Montana State University-Bozeman. 
Over the past six years, Zac has gained extensive experience working as a Project 
Engineer, Estimator, Project Manager, and Owner Representative/Consultant 
for general contractors and non-profits. His work has spanned residential, 
commercial, and industrial construction projects, where he has estimated and 
managed approximately $30 million in contracts. 
 Recently, Zac has been able to apply his education and expertise directly to 
benefit his community. He serves as an Owner Representative/Consultant for 
a non-profit organization and the Tribal College in Crow Agency, assisting in 
designing and constructing their facilities. This role allows him to contribute to the 
development of his hometown and work closely with his tribe in the place where he 
graduated high school. This meaningful opportunity aligns with his lifelong goal of 
giving back to his community.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
APSÁALOOKE NATION HOUSING AUTHORITY LOW INCOME HOUSING TAX 
CREDIT #2 
This low-income housing project is currently in the bidding process, and 
construction is expected to begin Winter/Spring 2025. Zac is bidding on the 
project as a General Contractor and submitted the initial bid on October 18, 2024 
(it is going out to bid again). This includes estimating and bidding on the project 
in its entirety. The project consists of renovating 23 residential units on the 
Crow Renovation. The scope of work included (but not limited to) - Div 1: General 
Requirements; Div 2: Demo; Div 3: Concrete Stoops; Div 5: Metal Railings; Div 
6: Rough Carpentry and Finish Carpentry; Div 7: Thermal and Moisture Barriers, 
Roofing, Siding; Div 8: Windows and Doors; Div 9: Gypsum Board, Painting, 
Flooring; Div 10: Toilet and Bathroom Accessories; Div 12: Cabinets, Countertops; 
Div 22: Plumbing; Div 23: HVAC; Div 26: Electrical. 

NORTH 3RD APARTMENTS, BOZEMAN MT 
This project comprises 216 units (six 32-plex buildings, one 24-plex building, and a 
2,260 SF clubhouse) for 232,559 SF of apartment space. Zac’s role in this project 
was to bid on the gypsum board and the scope of work for the paint job.

STEVENS HOUSING REMODEL BID
  Div 1 General Requirements
  Div 2 Demo
  Div 3 Concrete
  Div 4 Masonry
  Div 6 Rough Carpentry, Finish Carpentry
  Div 7 Thermal and Moisture
  Div 8 Windows and Doors
  Div 9 Finishes
  Div 22 Plumbing
  Div 23 HVAC
  Div 26 Electrical

STATE OF RESIDENCY 
Montana  

REGISTRATION
Montana #278119 

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Construction Engineering 
Technology, Montana State University 
OSHA 30hr 

REFERENCES 
Charlene Johnson, Executive Director, 
Plenty Doors Community Development 
Corporation, 406.670.8832,  
charlene@plentydoorscdc.org

Scott Ugrin, Owner, Ugrin Drywall, 
406.671.8069

Tim Bernardis, Library Director, Little Big 
Horn College, 406.208.7122,  
tim@lbhc.edu



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   2524 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

4 | CAPACITY TO ASSUME NEW BUSINESS 
AVAILABILITY
Although our team members are currently involved in other projects, 
many assignments are completing soon. Our team members will be 
available and committed to the success and timely submittal of both 
PAR Reports. 

Our team has immediate capacity to begin this project. We are ready 
to mobilize and can begin working immediately upon selection. 
There are no potential projects or conflicts that would impact our 
ability to perform.

AVAILABILITY MATRIX 
With extensive experience in affordable housing design and 
familiarity with permitting and grant funding for similar mixed-
use/low-income housing projects, we anticipate a smooth project 
design process and construction efforts to implement services to 
the community as quickly as possible. The availability of each team 
member allows dedication to the Hardin Motel Renovation project 
needs to design and prepare documents for each phase of the work 
effectively.

To ensure efficient resource allocation and effective scheduling, the 
following matrix graphic clearly illustrates other projects that key 
personnel are involved with concurrently, along with the percentage 
of their time committed for the 
following four quarters. 

 Q1   Q2 Q3 Q4
TIME COMMITMENTS 2025  2025  2025  2025

ARCHITECTS ALASKA 
Melanie Mangione 50% 50%  60%  60%
Chris Berryhill 60% 80%  80%  80% 
NancyLynn Maris 60% 80%  80%  80%
IMEG 
Michael McFarlane 25% 25%  25%  25%
Kevin Pope 20% 20%  20%  20%  
Clint Laferriere 20% 20%  20%  20%  
Nathan McBride 20% 20%  20%  20%  
ZBC 
Zac Birdinground 50% 50%  50%  50%

5 | PROPOSED SCOPE OF WORK 
PRELIMINARY REPORT GOALS
The Hotel Becker is an important historic landmark in Hardin. The 
community has made it clear that revitalizing the Hotel and seeing 
it become a destination on Main Street is important to the vibrancy 
and resilience of Downtown Hardin. This Preliminary Architectural 
and Feasibility Report will provide key elements to reach the goals 
outlined in the 2021 Growth Policy & Downtown Revitalization Plan 
for the City of Hardin.

This Feasibility Report will include the following:

• Analysis of the existing Hardin Hotel’s current condition, including 
its structural integrity and suitability for continued use. 

• Identify and evaluate challenges related to Site, zoning and code 
regulation as it relates to rehabilitation of a historic structure. 

• Feasibility evaluation of design, zoning regulations and budget 
constraints.

• Strategies for future use as lodging, retail, housing or mixed-use 
occupancy of the building. 

• Cost Estimates for proposed rehabilitation requirements and 
alternative design strategies. 

• List of financial resources, including possible tax credits, that can 
help with the rehabilitation and proposed future use. 

• Facilitation of communication and coordination between City, 
property owner, Department of Commerce, authority having 
jurisdiction and other stakeholders. 



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   2726 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

The Work Plan below shows our detailed 
understanding of the requirements for the 
Hotel Becker Preliminary Architectural Report. 
It highlights what we feel are the significant 
milestones, activities and deliverables for your 
project while being mindful of your timeline.

Project and site specific scheduling and additional 
information will be added to this work plan during 
the initial Investigation Service phases as needed. 
This will provide a baseline for the creation of a 
more detailed Management Plan for the historic 
property.

INVOLVEMENT LEGEND  

🇩 Design Team 
🔵 City of Hardin (CoH) 
🔴 Owner 
⏺ Authority Having Jurisdiction - Local and State 
       Code agencies (AHJ) 
🔶 Grant Authorities (CDBG and others)

DESIGN TEAM MEMBERS
Architects Alaska
IMEG
Zac Birdinground (Cost Estimator)

PHASE TWOPHASE ONE PHASE THREE PHASE FOUR PHASE FIVE PHASE SIX

CITY OF HARDIN HOTEL BECKER PAR WORK PLAN

DOCUMENT 
PROCUREMENT AND 
SITE INVESTIGATION
During the initial phase our 
design team will work with the 
City of Harding and the Owner 
to procure all existing site and 
building drawings, plans and 
reports to review before the Site 
Investigation.  
🇩 Design Team 
🔵 CoH 
🔴 Owner/Stakeholders 

TIME

5 DAYS (FROM NTP) 

ACTIVITIES 
  Kick-off Meetings with City of 

Hardin and Stakeholders
• Develop Complete Scope
• Review Project Schedule
• Review PAR Requirements

  Compile a List of Required 
Spaces

  Coordinate Schedule for site 
Review

  Confirm Project Milestone 
Dates

DELIVERABLES
  Prints/Electronic Files of 

Documents
  Proposed Site Visit Schedule

FINAL PAR REPORT

This final phase will bring all 
information gathered from 
the initial site visit, draft 
reports, comments from the 
City of Harding and the owner/
stakeholders into one final file 
with a final cost estimate for 
each proposed solution. 

These design solutions will 
provide guidance and a base 
for design work on funding  
options and implementation 
of the chosen solutions for 
the City of Hardin and Hotel 
Becker.
🇩 Design Team 
🔵 CoH 
🔶 CDBG and others

TIME

20 DAYS (DELIVERD BY APRIL 15 2025)

ACTIVITIES 
  Meeting to Finalize Design 

choices
  Finalize Preliminary Design
  Probable list of grant and 

other funding oportunites
  Finalize cost estimate

DELIVERABLES
  Final PAR Report with cost 

estimate

SITE INVESTIGATION
During the site investigation 
phase, all design team members 
and appropriate parties from 
City of Hardin and owners 
representative will tour and 
document the existing Hotel and 
site.
🇩  Design Team 
🔵  CoH
🔴 Owner/Stakeholders 
⏺ AHJ 

TIME

5-10 DAYS (FROM DOC PROCUREMENT)

ACTIVITIES 
  Visit Hotel Becker and site
  Compare Existing Documents 

for Construction for 
Accuracy

  Document existing 
conditions

 • Mechanical Systems
 • Plumbing Systems
 • Electrical Systems
 • Site Conditions
 • Code Compliance
 • Building Envelope 
 • Interior Conditions

DELIVERABLES
  preliminary list of code 

deficient items that impact the 
proposed solutions (30 days 
after site visit)

REVIEW AND PROPERTY 
EVALUATIONS
This phase is internalized as 
the design team compiles 
and reviews findings for code 
and safety compliance. We 
will begin work on Preliminary 
Architectural Reports and draft 
solutions for the property. 
🇩  Design Team 
⏺  AHJ

TIME 

45 DAYS (FROM SITE VISIT)

ACTIVITIES 
  Compile Information and 

photos Gathered at Site
  Compile List of Deficiencies
  List of probable solutions

DELIVERABLES
  initial draft of preliminary PAR 

reports with solutions
  Final list of code deficient 

items and proposed soultions

DRAFT REPORTS
Review with City of Hardin 
on preliminary reports 
and proposed solutions. A 
preliminary cost estimate will be 
provided at this stage. 
Revisions  and delivery of Draft 
reports based on cost and City of 
Hardin and Owner/Stakeholder 
review.

🇩 Design Team 
🔵 CoH 
⏺ AHJ 

TIME 

40 DAYS (FROM DRAFT REPORT REVIEW)

ACTIVITIES 
  Review initial solutions with 

CoH
  Code review of proposed 

solutions
  Initial Cost Estimate on 

proposed solutions

DELIVERABLES
  Preliminary Cost estimate 
  photos of code deficient items
  meeting minutes
  Preliminary Report delivered

REVIEW  MEETINGS
This phase will utilize the 
preliminary report for review and 
comment from Stakeholders. 
Once comments are received 
they will be evaluated and 
considered by appropriate 
involved parties to determine 
the final solution to identified 
deficienies and preliminary 
designs.

🇩 Design Team 
🔵 CoH 
🔴 Owner/Stakeholders 
⏺ AHJ 
🔶 CDBG and others

TIME

20 DAYS (FROM REPORT REVIEW)

ACTIVITIES 
  Review proposed solutions for 

the renovation and  use of Hotel 
Becker

  Revise draft report based on 
comments

  Meet with involved parties for 
final proposed solutions

DELIVERABLES
  Meeting/Presentation Minutes



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   2928 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

Hourly Rates

ARCHITECTURE

$290
$275
$260
$230
$210
$200
$190
$180
$170
$160
$150
$140
$130
$120
$110
$100
$90
$80
$70
$60

$100
$75

MARK-UP ON CONSULTANTS 10%
MARK-UP ON REIMBURSABLES 10%

Invoice terms are net 30.

Design Professional Level X

Design Professional Level B

STANDARD
HOURLY BILLING SCHEDULE

Design Professional Level XI
Associate/Project Manager I
Associate/Project Manager II
Associate/Project Manager III

Senior Principal
Principal/Senior Project Manager
Principal/Project Manager

Design Professional Level I

Design Professional Level VII
Design Professional Level VI

Design Professional Level IV

Design Professional Level II

Design Professional Level A

Design Professional Level IX

January 1, 2025

Administrative Support

Design Professional Level C

Information Technology Services

Design Professional Level V

Design Professional Level III

Design Professional Level VIII

Page 1 of 1

Professional Services Agreement
Fee Summary

01/04/25

TBD
City of Hardin

Design Services
ARCH CIVIL STRUCT MECH ELECT COST TOTALS

Hotel Becker PAR - Fixed Fee 20,160.00$     3,300.00$      5,500.00$      3,300.00$      3,300.00$      4,400.00$      39,960.00$               
Subtotal Design Services 20,160.00$     3,300.00$      5,500.00$      3,300.00$      3,300.00$      4,400.00$      39,960.00$               

Total Professional Services Fee Exluding Allowances and Direct Costs 39,960.00$         

Total Contract Amount 39,960.00$         

Direct Costs (costs not attributable to personnel. Includes Travel, printing and incidentals)
ARCH CIVIL STRUCT MECH ELECT COST

Direct Costs - Time+Expenses NTE 3,110.00$      110.00$         1,320.00$      110.00$         110.00$         275.00$         5,035.00$                
Subtotal Direct Costs 3,110.00$      110.00$         1,320.00$      110.00$         110.00$         275.00$         5,035.00$           

Total Contract Amount Including Direct Costs 44,995$              

Design Team
ARCH Architects Alaska, Inc.
CIVIL IMEG
STRUCT IMEG
MECH IMEG
ELECT IMEG
COST Zac Birdinground
SPC 1 Specialist 1
SPC 2 Specialist 2

By:  Architects Alaska Accepted By: City of Hardin

Signature Signature

Printed Name Printed Name

Date

Hotel Becker PAR Fee Proposal

Page 1 of 1

ZAC BIRDINGROUND CONSTRUCTION 
 

Senior Cost Estimator - $150/hour 
 
 
 



ARCHITECTS ALASKA     RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana   3130 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

IMEG 

Hourly Rates  2025

IMEG STANDARD HOURLY RATES

Discipline/Service: Civil, Land Survey, Landscape Architecture

Role Rate 

Senior Client Exec/Senior Market Director/VP $260

Client Executive/Market Director $245

Project Executive $205

Senior Project Manager 2 $200

Senior Project Manager I $185

Engineer of Distinction/Landscape Architect of Distinction/
Planner of Distinction

$210

Senior (Engineer/Landscape Architect/Planner) 3 $195

Senior (Engineer/Landscape Architect/Planner) 2 $175

Senior (Engineer/Landscape Architect/Planner) 1 $165

Project (Engineer/Landscape Architect/Planner) 2 $155

Project (Engineer/Landscape Architect/Planner) 1 $145

Graduate (Designer/Survey) 2 $125

Graduate (Designer/Survey) 1 $115

Senior Land Surveyor 3 $165

Senior Land Surveyor 2 $150

Senior Land Surveyor 1 $140

Project Surveyor 2 $135

Project Surveyor 1 $130

Designer of Distinction $175

Senior (Designer/Crew Chief) 3 $160

Senior (Designer/Coordinator/ Crew Chief) 2 $150

Senior (Designer/Coordinator/ Crew Chief) 1 $140

Project (Designer/Senior Technical Crew Chief )2 $130

Project (Designer/Senior Technical Crew Chief) 1 $125

Designer 2/Planner 2/Technician 4 $115

Designer 1/Planner 1/Technician 3 $105

Design Technician 2/Technician 2 $95

Design Technician 1/Technician 1/Intern $85

Senior Construction Administrator $145

Construction Administrator $135

GIS System Architect $135

GIS Analyst $125

Graduate (GIS Analyst) 2 $120

Graduate (GIS Analyst) 1 $110

Administrative Assistant $85

Note: 
1. These rates are for staff located in the 

office providing the service. Staff based 
in one of IMEG’s other offices may have 
different billing rates. These rates can be 
provided as requested

2. Rates are adjusted annually.

Reimbursables: 
• Postage and delivery charges
• Travel Expense: Automobile mileage will be 

invoiced at the IRS rate in effect at the time 
of travel. Travel expenses include mileage, 
tolls, parking fees, taxi, train, airfare, rental 
car, fuel, and other out of pocket travel 
related expenses

• Meals and lodging, when required to travel 
overnight

• Project-specific insurance coverage riders 
or amendments necessary to comply with 
required insurance requirements above 
current IMEG limits and conditions

• Reproduction costs for existing facility doc-
uments, and for one record set of contract 
document deliverables at each project 
phase/milestone when not provided to 
IMEG by the Client

• Reproduction and distribution costs associ-
ated with issuing contract documents 

• Payment of plan review fees or other im-
posed governmental agency fees

• State filing and/or permit fees
• Necessary consultants as approved by 

Client

IMEG 

Reimbursables: 
• Postage and delivery charges
• Travel Expense: Automobile mileage will be 

invoiced at the IRS rate in effect at the time 
of travel. Travel expenses include mileage, 
tolls, parking fees, taxi, train, airfare, rental 
car, fuel, and other out of pocket travel 
related expenses

• Meals and lodging, when required to travel 
overnight

• Project-specific insurance coverage riders 
or amendments necessary to comply with 
required insurance requirements above 
current IMEG limits and conditions

• Reproduction costs for existing facility doc-
uments, and for one record set of contract 
document deliverables at each project 
phase/milestone when not provided to 
IMEG by the Architect

• Reproduction and distribution costs associ-
ated with issuing contract documents 

• Payment of plan review fees or other im-
posed governmental agency fees

• State filing and/or permit fees
• Necessary consultants as approved by 

Client

IMEG STANDARD HOURLY RATES - 2025

Discipline/Service: 
Structural, MEP, Technology, Medical Equipment Planning, Commissioning

Role Rate 
Senior Client Exec/Senior Market Director/VP $280

Client Executive/Market Director $260

Project Executive $240

Senior Project Manager 2 $220

Senior Project Manager I $200

Engineer of Distinction $225

Senior (Engineer/Planner/Consultant) 3 $215

Senior (Engineer/Planner/Consultant) 2 $185

Senior (Engineer/Planner/Consultant) 1 $175

Project (Engineer/Consultant) 2 $155

Project (Engineer/Consultant) 1 $140

Graduate (Designer/Consultant/Planner/Authority/Analyst) 2 $125

Graduate (Designer/Consultant/Planner/Authority/Analyst) 1 $110

Designer of Distinction $195

Senior (Designer/Authority) 3 $180

Senior (Designer/Authority) 2 $175

Senior (Designer/Authority) 1 $155

Project (Designer/Authority) 2 $140

Project  (Designer/Authority) 1 $130

Designer (Authority/Analyst) 2 $115

Designer (Authority/Analyst) 1 $105

Design Technician 2 $90

Design Technician 1/Intern $85

Senior Construction Administrator $175

Construction Administrator $140

Senior Procurement Manager $240

Senior Procurement Specialist $220

Project Coordinator $120

Senior Virtual Design Coordinator 2 $135

Senior Virtual Design Coordinator 1 $125

Virtual Design Coordinator 2 $120

Virtual Design Coordinator 1 $105

Virtual Design Technician $90

Administrative Assistant $85

Note: 
1. These rates are for staff located in the 

office providing the service. Staff based 
in one of IMEG’s other offices may have 
different billing rates. These rates can be 
provided as requested

2. Rates are adjusted annually



32 ARCHITECTS ALASKA    RFP Professional Services PAR City of Hardin, Montana  

MELANIE MANGIONE, AIA, ASID, CHID, WELL AP    Principal Architect
406.404.1588  |  mmangione@architectsalaska.com

CONTACT


